

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

# Response of microbial communities to synthetic winery wastewater in biological sand filters

Zaida Palmer



March 2017

VESTERN CAP

**Keywords:** biological sand filters, winery wastewater, constructed wetlands, terminal restriction length polymorphism

#### ABSTRACT

# Response of microbial communities to synthetic winery wastewater in biological sand filters

Z Palmer MSc Biotechnology Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape

March 2017

There has been a significant increase in the use of constructed wetlands globally for the bioremediation of wastewater (Welz *et al.*, 2011). In South Africa, the wine industry generates more than one billion litres of wastewater annually and this is disposed of by irrigation (Burton *et al.*, 2007). A more cost effective and simple system need to be employed for the treatment of winery effluent and a possible solution would be the use of biological sand filters (BSFs). The microbial communities present in these BSFs play an important role in the biodegradation of the organic wastewater pollutants. Physicochemical and microbiological studies have been used to determine the performance of BSFs for the remediation of winery effluent since 2009.

In this study, changes in the bacterial and fungal communities in different spatial niches was analysed through the use of molecular fingerprinting techniques [terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP)] of the 16S rRNA gene and fungal ITS gene as a response to the exposure to synthetic winery wastewater and to perform functional studies using q-PCR on selected genes. Changes in the bacterial and fungal community profiles were observed at the different niches after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. This result was confirmed by performing the phylogenetic analysis on the bacterial population present within the BSF systems. Sand organisms including Clostridium, Sarcina, Streptomyces, Actinobacteria were among the expected species present in the sand samples at the deep inlet of the BSFs. Through the study by Burton et al, (2007), one could hypothesise which organisms mentioned above were able to metabolise the components of the synthetic winery wastewater to secondary metabolites. Amplification of the functional gene through the use of gPCR of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase was successful. Increase in the amount of copy numbers between the samples showed that the increase in expression of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase meant that there was an increase in the amount of organisms degrading the catehol build-up in the BSF systems.

The outcome of this study, provided insight that amendment with synthetic winery wastewater indeed had an effect on the bacterial and fungal population present in the BSFs and that the expression of functional genes by the microbial communities present in the BSFs also aid in the degradation or build-up of components of the synthetic winery wastewater, confirmed by the metabolite profile of sugars, phenolics and alcohols of each BSF system. The results obtained in this study will aid in the implementation of a full scale system being placed at a small winery for the treatment of winery wastewater.



# DECLARATION

I declare that response of microbial communities to synthetic winery wastewater in biological sand filters is my own work, that it has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.

Name Zaida Palmer\_\_\_\_\_

Date \_\_\_\_\_20 March 2017\_\_\_\_\_\_

Signed \_\_\_\_\_Z.Palmer\_\_\_\_\_



WESTERN CAPE

iii

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My experiences over the past three years and the write up of this thesis would not have been made possible without the help of my support system. Many individuals have contributed to keeping me "sane" during this time period.

First and foremost Shukran to my creator Allah for guiding me and providing me with the knowledge that I have gained and experienced through this time. Sabr (patience) was the biggest life lesson I learnt. Shukr for providing me with the people that I hold close in my life, new people that I met and that have helped me.

To my supervisors: Marilize Le Roes-Hill, Pamela Welz and Bronwyn Kirby- thanks so much for advice, the motivation, the help with regards to lab work and the editing of all the chapters. I really do appreciate it all.

To my family: although we have had our days I do appreciate everything that my family especially my mother and brother have done for me. The evenings where you allowed me to vent and just lose it, made persevering in the lab so worthwhile.

To my friends: Ni-shaat one of my biggest supporters and voice in my head saying YOU CAN DO IT!!! Shukran to you for all that you do and I keep making duah that Allah grant you all the best Insha Allah Ameen.

Shafieka Isaacs, I met you in 2013 and in more ways than one you became a good influence and help to me. Had I met you before this and you told me that Masters would have caused so much chaos in my life I might have taken your advice. Shafieka shukran for all the hours of trying to figure out peak scanner, T-REX and primer 6. Both the buckets and the BSFs got the better of us but the results we got at the end of the day. Weeks of struggling with you sitting on the ottoman next to me and shukran for always being the extra pair of hands that we needed. You are an amazing person and a very warm hearted person. My duah for you will be that you prosper further in life Insha Allah Ameen and be given all that your heart desires.

Dr Jean Baptiste Ramond, Gerda, Mapula: thanks so much for all the assistance with the T-RFLP analysis.

Prof Laurenz and Mrs Corrie Eys: thank so much for taking out the time to assist with the statistics and Primer 6.

Mrs Anne Swenchgnewaan and Ms Levanya Reddy: thank you for the assistance with the reagents for qPCR and helping with the use of the LC480 and all the days of optimization during the analysis

Last but certainly not least, to my husband Nadeem Anthony. As I sit here typing this, the tears can't help from falling. Words cannot describe how much I appreciate all the things you have done for me. You have been my biggest fan since I have met you. The countless days I came home crying telling you I can't anymore baby, your words still linger in my head; "Zaida you are almost there, keep focused......Im proud of you, Im here to support you and hold your hand through all of this". All the saturdays we spent in the lab with you making media or filling tips while I explain all the science and geeky terms to you. Shukran for taking off your weekends to help me complete my experiments. This has been one long adventure for the both of us but Alghamdulillah each day a new life lesson has been learnt and brought us closer together. Shukran for your patience, your love, all your motivation and support. I make duah, that Allah provide you with all that your heart desires, keep you in good health and make sure that our bond and love for each other grows more and more each day. Let our future be bright and let the new adventure begin!!

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

# PUBLICATIONS AND CONFERENCES

# **List of Publications**

- Welz PJ, Ramond, J-B., Palmer, Z., Isaacs, S., Kirby, B., Le Roes-Hill, M. (2014) The effect of redox status on the bacterial community structure and biodegradation rate of organic fractions of agri-industrial effluent in sand bioreactors. Proceedings of the 9th IWA International Symposium on Waste Management Problems in Agro Industries, Volume II.
- Welz, P.J., Palmer, Z., Isaacs, S., Kirby, B., Le Roes-Hill, M. (2014) Analysis of substrate degradation, metabolite formation and microbial community responses in sand bioreactors: a comparative study. Journal of Environmental Management 145:147-156.

# **Conference Proceedings**

**Oral Presentation** 

 Palmer, Z., Le Roes-Hill, M., Isaacs, S., Kirby, B., Welz, P.J. Response of microbial communities to synthetic winery wastewater in sand bioreactors (SASEV, Somerset West, 2014).



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

# CONTENTS

Abstract	i-ii
Declaration	iii
Acknowledgements	vii-ix
Publications and Conferences	vi
Contents	vii-ix
List of abbreviations	х
List of figures	xi-xiv
List of tables	xv-xvi

# CHAPTER ONE: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 General introduction	1
1.1.1 Current state of the art	1-5
1.2 Constructed wetlands (CWs) biological sand filters (BSFs)	6
1.2.1 Hydraulic flow regime of CWs and BSFs	7-8
1.2.2 Substrate composition of CWs and BSFs	9
1.2.3 Treatment of industrial wastewater in CWs and BSFs	9-11
1.2.4 Treatment of agricultural wastewater in CWs and BSFs	11
1.2.4.1 Winery wastewater	11-13
1.2.4.2 The fate of organics and inorganics in CWs and BSFs	14
1.2.5 Role of microbial populations in CWs and BSFs	15-16
1.3 Molecular fingerprinting techniques	16
1.3.1 Detection of microbial communities in environmental samples	16
1.3.2 T-RFLP analysis of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene and fungal ITS gene	17-19
1.3.3 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)	19-20
1.3.4 Quantitative PCR	20-21
1.4 Functional bacterial genes	21-22
1.4.1 Bacterial alcohol dehydrogenase	22-24
1.4.2 Bacterial catechol dioxygenase	24-26
1.5 Next Generation Sequencing	26-27
1.6 Aims and objectives of study	28
1.7 Outline of thesis	28

# CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Biological sand filters (BSFs)	29
2.1.1 Set-up and mode of operation of BSFs	29-30
2.1.2 Analyses of sand samples	30

2.1.3 Feeding/amendment and loading regime	30-32	
2.1.4 System hydraulic conductivity (SHC)	32	
2.2 Sampling	32	
2.2.1 Core sand samples	32-34	
2.3 Molecular studies	34	
2.3.1 Metagenomic nucleic acid extraction	34	
2.3.1.1 DNA extraction	34	
2.3.1.2 RNA extraction	35	
2.3.2 Quantification and visualization of nucleic acids	35	
2.3.3 Microbial community fingerprinting	35	
2.3.3.1 PCR amplification of bacterial and fungal genes	35-36	
2.3.3.2 Restriction digests and T-RFLP protocol	37	
2.3.3.3 T-RFLP analysis using Peak Scanner and T-REX	37-38	
2.3.3.4 Statistical analysis of the terminal restriction fragment length	38	
polymorphism data		
2.3.3.5 Phylogenetic analysis of bacterial T-RFLP	38	
2.3.4 Reverse Transcription for quantitative PCR (qPCR)	38	
2.3.4.1 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis	38-39	
2.3.4.2 Selection on primers and standards for qPCR	39	
2.3.4.3 Optimization of qPCR standard	40	
2.3.4.4 Amplification of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes using real time PCR	40	
2.3.4.5 Amplification of the <i>rpoB</i> gene using real-time PCR	41	
2.3.4.6 Cloning of C23O PCR product	41	
2.3.4.7 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the amplified catechol 2,3-		
dioxygenase genes from the metagenomic sample		
2.3.5 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)	42	
2.3.5.1 Optimization of nested PCR using DGGE primers	42-43	
2.3.5.2 Optimization and setup of DGGE	44	
2.3.6 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase	44-45	
amplicons from the BSFs samples for phylogenetic analysis		

# CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Introduction	46
3.2 Biological sand filters set up and mode of operation	46-47
3.3 Sand sample analyses	47
3.4 PCR amplification of 16S rRNA bacterial gene and ITS fungal gene	48
3.4.1 Optimization of PCR conditions: bacterial primers	48-50
3.4.2 Optimization of PCR conditions: fungal primers	51

	3.5 Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP) analysis	51			
3.5.1 Peak Scanner data					
3.5.2 Non-metric dimensional scaling (N-MDS) plots using Primer 6					
3.5.2.1 Assessing the effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial					
	population at the superficial sediments of the BSFs through T-RFLP and				
	phylogenetic analysis				
	3.5.2.2 Assessing the effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial	68-78			
	population at the deep sediments of the BSFs through T-RFLP and				
	phylogenetic analysis				
	3.5.3 Metabolic pathways that bacterial populations could be involved in	79-80			
	3.5.4 Effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the fungal population at the	81-82			
	superficial sediments of the BSFs				
	3.5.4.1 Effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the fungal population at the	82-84			
	deep sediments of the BSFs				
	3.6 Optimization of standard using real time PCR and the primer sets	84-85			
	3.6.1 qPCR and amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene	86-87			
	3.6.1.1 Amplification of the <i>rpoB</i> gene using qPCR	88-91			
	3.7 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)	91			
	3.7.1 Optimization of nested PCR and method of DGGE	91-93			
	3.8 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase	93-94			
	genes from the samples at the deep sediments of the BSFs for phylogenetic	1 1			
	analysis UNIVERSITY of the				
	3.9 Conclusions	94-95			
	WESTERN CAFE				
	CHAPTER FOUR: GENERAL DISCUSSION	96-101			
	REFERENCES	102-120			
	Appendix A: Metabolite profiles of BSFs	121-124			
	Appendix B: Theoretical COD calculations	125-127			
Appendix C: Amplification and melting curves 1					
,	Standard Curve and qPCR Cp values and copy numbers for C23O gene				
	Appendix D: Standard curve for <i>rpoB</i> gene	32-133			

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AS	Activated Sludge
BOD	Biological Oxygen Demand
BSFs	Biological sand filters
C23O	Catechol 2,3-dioxygenase
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
CWs	Constructed wetlands
DO	Dissolved Oxygen
DGGE	Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
FWSF	Free water surface flow
HSSF	Horizontal sub-surface flow
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer
LB	Luria Bertani
LB-amp	LB-ampicillin
mDNA	Metagenomic DNA
NGS	Next Generation Sequencing
q-PCR	Quantitative PCR/ real time PCR
<i>rpoB</i> gene	Ribosomal RNA polymerase $\beta$ subunit gene
тос	Total organic carbon
T-RFLP	Terminal-restriction fragment length polymorphism
T-RFs	Terminal-restriction fragments
SWW	Synthetic winery wastewater
VFA	Volatile Fatty Acid
VSSF	Vertical subsurface flow

#### LIST OF FIGURES

**Figure 1.1:** Examples of Aerobic treatment systems for winery wastewater. 2 Abbreviations: Fixed bed biofilm reactor (FBBR), Membrane bioreactors (MBR), Moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR), Rotating biological contactor (RBC), Sequencing batch reactor (SBR), Sequencing batch biofilm reactors (SBBR) (Lofrano and Meric, 2016).

**Figure 1.2:** Schematic diagram of the FWSF (A), HSSF (B) and VSSF (C) 8 operated in batch mode. A "fill" period (left) is followed by a "drain" period (right) (Welz, 2010).

**Figure 1.3:** Schematic representation of fungal ribosomal genes bridged by 19 ITS regions targeted by the two primer sets that were assessed by Vancov and Keen, (2009).

**Figure 1.4:** The Citric acid cycle (Krebs cycle) involving the use of alcohol 23 dehydrogenase in the oxidation of ethanol (Campbell and Farrell, 2006)

Figure 1.5: The mechanism of alcohol dehydrogenase (Metzler, 1977)24Figure 1.6: Schematic of the modes of ring cleavage by the catechol25dioxygenases (Broderick, 1999; Bugg, 2003)

**Figure 2.1:** Schematic of BSFs (A) (Ramond et al., 2013) and actual set-up 29 of BSFs on site at CPUT (B) (Welz et al., 2011)

Figure 2.2: Core sample of sediment collected with the Perspex pipe33(sealed with a rubber stopper) used to collect surface and depth samples.

**Figure 2.3:** Template used for the determination of composite sampling 33 order used in this study. Samples were taken at point 'a' (designated baseline samples), 'b' (designated samples after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, 'c' (designated samples after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose-end of experiment).

**Figure 3.1:** PCR products generated using two different DNA Taq 49 polymerases. Gel A represents amplicons generated with KapaTaq ReadyMIx DNA polymerase and Gel B represents amplicons generated with DreamTaq Green PCR MasterMix. Lane 1: marker, lane 2 and 3: P1 superficial inlet, lane 4 and 5: P1 deep inlet, lane 6 and 7: P1 superficial outlet, lane 8 and 9: P1 deep outlet, lane 10 and 11: P2 superficial inlet, lane 12 and 13: positive control Streptomyces sp. GSIII #1 and lane 14 and 15: negative control

microbial community structure at the deep sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control

Figure 3.8: 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the 69

(stress value =0.13). Deep Inlet and Deep Outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

**Figure 3.9:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial 75-76 community structure at the deep inlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

**Figure 3.4:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis 54 similarity of the microbial community structures in the superficial sediments of the BSFs. P1 and P2 denote the experimental systems and PC the control

(stress value =0.08). Sup In: superficial inlet and Sup Out: superficial outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

**Figure 3.5:** Set-up of BSFs: Phillipi control (PC), replicate pairs P1/P2 and 54 P3/P4. Three BSFs used in study P1, P2 and PC (Welz et al., 2011)

**Figure 3.6:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial 63-64 community structure at the superficial inlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

**Figure 3.7:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial 65-67 community structure at the superficial outlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

**Figure 3.2:** 2% agarose gels showing samples for BSFs P1 and PC. Gel A 50 contains samples from BSF P1 and Gel B samples from BSF PC and the positive control used in the study, Trametes pubescens.

Figure 3.3: T-RFLP profile of a P1 bacterial sample using PeakScanner with 51

each peak being characterised by height and area.

**Figure 3.10:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial 77-78 community structure at the deep outlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

**Figure 3.11:** Schematic diagram of the trophic interactions likely to contribute 80 to the anaerobic degradation of components of winery wastewater in CWs or BSFs. The following microorganisms that have been identified in the study by Burton et al. (2007) might be involved in the following steps: 1,Clostridium,;2,Citobater,Acinetobacter;3,Citrobacter;4and5,Clostridium;6,Sy ntrophus,Acinetobacter,Rhodocyclus;7,Syntrophus;8,Clostridium,Frateuria;9, Clostridium;10,Propionibacterium;11,Citrobacter;12,Pelobacter,Frateuria;13, Clostridium,Pelobacter;14,Syntrophobacter;15and16,Methanosarcinales;17, Methanomicrobiales. Indicated by the red arrows are Clostridium, Acinetobacter and Propionibacterium which could potentially be involved in acetic acid, butyric acid and propionic production.

**Figure 3.12:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the 82 fungal community structure at the superficial sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0.05). Sup In: superficial inlet and Sup Out: superficial outlet of the BSF where core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

**Figure 3.13:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the 84 fungal community structure at the deep sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0). Deep Inlet and Deep Outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken.Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

**Figure 3.14:** Graph depicting the copy numbers and Cp values of the BSF 87 samples at 100 ng DNA.

**Figure 3.15:** Amplification curves of synthesised cDNA samples at 100 ng with 89 the *rpoB* gene using real time qPCR of the samples taken at the start of the experiment (baseline) and end of experiment

**Figure 3.16:** The principle of DGGE demonstrating the migration of samples 92 through a DGGE gel and that each and represents different microbial communities.

**Figure A.1:** The chemical oxygen demand/ metabolite profiles of the sugars, 123 acids and alcohols of pore water samples taken from the superficial inlet (A) deep inlet (B), superficial outlet (C) and the deep outlet (D) of BSF P1 and P2 after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater over the 31-week study period.

**Figure A.2:** The temporal changes in the average concentration of total 124 phenolics in the superficial (A) and deep (B) niches during amendment with synthetic winery with an influent phenolic concentration of 62.5 mg GAE/L (weeks 26-28), and 250.0 mg GAE/L (weeks 29-31).

**Figure C.1:** Melting curve analysis (A) and Amplification curves (B) of 129 CZA14<sup>T</sup>gDNA, synthesised cDNA samples with the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene using real time qPCR of the samples taken at the start of the experiment (baseline).

**Figure C.2:** Standard curve of CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA at different concentrations using 130 the Cp values of after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater values.

**Figure D.1:** Standard curve of CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA at different concentrations using 133 the online calculator (copy number calculator for real time PCR – Science Primer, 2015) for the *rpoB* gene.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

# LIST OF TABLES

**Table 1.1:** Advantages and disadvantages of biological treatment systems for4-5winery wastewater (Lofrano and Meric, 2016) (modified from Andreottola *et al.*,2005)

**Table 1.2:** Performance characteristics of 292 horizontal flow constructed10wetlands (Vymazal and Kröpfelova, 2009)

**Table 1.3:** Performance characteristics of CWs for the treatment of winery13wastewater (Wu *et al.*, 2015)

**Table 2.1:** Composition in COD terms and final COD concentration of synthetic
 31

 winery wastewater
 31

**Table 2.2:** Operational parameters applied during the experimental period
 32

**Table 2.3:** PCR parameters and conditions for amplification of target genes
 36

Table 2.4: Primer sets used in the amplification of the genes for qPCR39Table 2.5: Optimization of nested PCR with GC clamped catechol 2,3-43dioxygenase specific primers47Table 3.1: Phillipi sand sample composition47

**Table 3.2:** TRFs detected before and after the amendment with synthetic winery56wastewater. Values represented after normalisation of data.

**Table 3.3:** Phylogenetic profiles of the possible organisms present at the 58-62superficial sediments of the BSFs

**Table 3.4:** Phylogenetic profiles of the possible organisms present at the deep72-74sediments of the BSFs

**Table 3.5:** Cp values and copy numbers of the C23O genes of the samples of87100 ng DNA at the start and end of the experiment. Copy numbersrepresented as log values of the C23O gene of CZA14T gDNA as indicated onstandard curve (Appendix D). Copy numbers represented beforenormalisation.

**Table 3.6:** Values and copy numbers of the rpoB genes of the samples of 10089ng DNA at the start and end of the experiment. Copy numbers represented aslog values of the rpoB gene of CZA14T gDNA as indicated on standard curve(Appendix E)

**Table 3.7:** Copy numbers of theC23O and rpoB genes of the samples of 10091ng DNA at the start and end of the experiment to normalise the data91

**Table C.1:** Copy numbers of the C23O genes at the start and end of the130-131experiment



#### CHAPTER ONE

# LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **1.1 General introduction**

Natural wetlands have been found to purify wastewater. In an attempt to mimic this, researchers have designed and created constructed wetlands to treat wastewater. Some of these systems are planted (traditional) while others are unplanted. Among the unplanted constructed wetlands (CWs), those that are filled with sand are termed biological sand filters (BSFs). Wineries and other grape processing industries generate variable volumes of wastewater (Petruccioli et al., 2000) and the various systems for the treatment of wastewater effluent have their own advantages/disadvantages in relation to cost, efficacy and reliability (Andreottola et al., 2011; Mosse et al., 2011). This thesis reports on the use of molecular fingerprinting techniques to monitor changes in microbial communities present in BSFs after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. The presence of functional genes in the microbial populations was assessed through quantitative PCR (qPCR). This work formed part of the Water Research Commission (WRC) funded Project entitled "Treatment of winery wastewater in unplanted constructed wetlands" (Welz et al., 2015). Previous studies by Ramond et al. (2010) and Welz et al. (2011) have shown that amendment with synthetic winery wastewater has an impact on the bacterial community structure in BSFs. However, at present, little is known of the role that the fungal communities play in bioremediation or the expression of functional genes (both aspects are covered in this thesis). The following literature review has been divided into two sections. Firstly, CWs and BSFs will be discussed, while the second section relates to the molecular fingerprinting techniques used in this study and the importance of assessing the expression of functional genes in these systems.

#### 1.1.1 Current state of the art

The production of wine results in the generation of large volumes of wastewater. With increasing environmental restrictions for the disposal of this effluent, a manageable wastewater treatment system is required (Mosse *et al.*, 2011). Several systems for the treatment of winery wastewater e.g. biological treatment systems, activated sludge systems, membrane based reactors; are currently available and ongoing advancements offers access to promising new technologies (Andreottola *et al.*, 2011).

Biological systems used for the treatment of wastewater provide eco-engineered systems containing different micro-environments where numerous physical, chemical, and biological processes can take place. The biological processes assist in the recycling, removal, transformation or immobilization of nutrients and other wastewater pollutants through aerobic or anaerobic systems using suspended biomass or biofilms attached to inert media/supports (Andreottola *et al.*, 2011; Imfeld *et al.*, 2009; White *et al.*, 2006).

With the variability in amounts of winery wastewater generated depending on season, the choice of treatment system is not simple. Many factors need to be taken into account such as retention time and pollutant removal efficiency (Jourjon *et al.*, 2005). Several biological treatment systems are available such as aerobic, anaerobic and a combination of the two systems. Examples of aerobic systems include activated sludge, jet-loop reactor (JLR), sequential batch reactor (SBR), fixed bed biofilm reactor (FBBR) system, air micro-bubble bioreactor (AMBB), aerated submerged biofilters (ASBs), rotating biological contactor (RBC), aerated lagoons, biological sand filter (BSF), membrane bioreactor (MBR), anaerobic digestion, upflow anaerobic sludge blankets (UASB), anaerobic fluidized bed reactor (AFBR), upflow anaerobic filter (UAF), and anaerobic moving bed biofilm reactor (AMBBR) (lannou *et al.*,2015). For the purpose of the study Figure 1.1 shows the examples of aerobic systems for the treatment of winery wastewater (Lofrano and Meric, 2016).



**Figure 1.1:** Examples of Aerobic treatment systems for winery wastewater. Systems can either be based on suspended microorganism technologies or biofilm technologies. Abbreviations: Fixed bed biofilm reactor (FBBR), Membrane bioreactors (MBR), Moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR), Rotating biological contactor (RBC), Sequencing batch reactor (SBR), Sequencing batch biofilm reactors (SBBR) (Lofrano and Meric, 2016).

Aerobic treatment systems are the most commonly used systems for the treatment of winery wastewater, due to their high efficacy and ease of use. For the biological treatment of winery wastewater the most conventional method is activated sludge which provides a simple, flexible and economical treatment system amounting for the high variability levels of winery effluents (loannou *et al.*, 2015). The advantages and disadvantages of the biological system highlighted in Figure 1.1 is summarised in Table 1.1.

Anaerobic digestion systems for the treatment of winery wastewater have potential benefits such as low sludge production and can be profitable by the generation of biogas (Andreottola et al., 2009, Keyser et al., 2003, Satyawali and Balakrishnan, 2008). Examples of anaerobic systems include: continuous stirred tank reactors, anaerobic lagoons, upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor, anaerobic filters, upflow sludge blanket filtration, fluidized bed and anaerobic sequencing batch reactors. However, the disadvantage of using such systems is the production of volatile fatty acids (VFAs) which can accumulate in the reactors resulting in a decrease in pH. In addition, in many anaerobic digestion systems the anaerobic processes need to be followed by an aerobic treatment step. The most promising anaerobic process resulted in the study by Moletta, (2005) that demonstrated the use of a granular up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor (UASB) for the treatment of winery wastewater. The success of the system depended on the formation of active granules which were further innoculated with selected bacterial strains. One reactor was seeded with granular sludge enriched with Enterobacter sakazakii and this system resulted in a 90% COD removal (Keyser et al., 2003). Literature has stated that common drawbacks with anaerobic systems are problems associated with clogging and channelling (Moletta, 2005).

A review by loannou *et al.*, 2015 assessed that constructed wetlands (CWs) with plants can tolerate and detoxify wastewater, and these systems have also been used for the treatment of agro-industrial waste. This method of remediation combines physical, chemical and biological process to remove contaminants. Iannou *et al.*, 2015 discussed the categories of COD, biological oxygen demand (BOD), total nitrogen, as the most frequent parameters for the determination of the efficiency of the biological processes for the treatment of winery wastewater. Biological sand filters treatment systems are considered environmentally friendly and cost effective. However, these systems are not able to adequately remove the organic matter that exists in high concentration levels in winery wastewater, which may later result in the buildup of toxic compounds which may degrade slowly or become recalcitrant. Winery effluents contain phenolic compounds, which have a high COD and generally are acidic, and thus care needs to be taken when selecting the microorganisms employed in the adaptation of treating these effluents in BSFs (Strong and Burgees, 2008).

**Table 1.1:** Advantages and disadvantages of biological treatment systems for winery wastewater(Lofrano and Meric, 2016) (modified from Andreottola *et al.*, 2005)

Biological Aerobic treatment system	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Activated sludge (AS)	<ul> <li>High COD and BOD removal efficiency</li> <li>Short retention time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Floc disintegration, bulking</li> <li>High operational costs</li> <li>Inhibition of biomass due to polyphenolic compounds</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Jet loop reactor	<ul> <li>Absence of mechanical devices for aeration</li> <li>Reduced energy consumption</li> <li>No bulking problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Poor sludge settlement can occur</li> <li>Limited implementation at different scales and especially at full-scale</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Membrane bioreactor (MBR)	<ul> <li>Great improvements in treated water quality</li> <li>Effluents free of suspended solids and bacteria (with UF)</li> <li>Possibility of direct reuse on site</li> <li>No sedimentation tanks</li> <li>Small amount of wasted sludge</li> <li>Quick start-up</li> <li>Low footprint</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Fouling</li> <li>High capital and managing costs</li> <li>Inhibition of biomass due to polyphenolic compounds</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Sequencing biofilm reactors (SBR)	<ul> <li>Operational flexibility</li> <li>Less land required than AS</li> <li>Lower cost than AS</li> <li>Biomass cannot be washed out</li> <li>Low maintenance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Storage basin to reduce shock loading</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Fixed bed film bioreactor (FBBR)	<ul> <li>Reduction of the required volume with respect to the conventional AS system</li> <li>Reduction in bulking problems</li> <li>Absence of return flow and backwashing</li> <li>Easier management with respect to AS</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Plastic media costs</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR)	<ul> <li>High empty space of plastic media</li> <li>Backwashing not required</li> <li>Simple management</li> <li>No bulking problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Additional cost of plastic media compared to activated sludge</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>	
Sequencing batch biofilm reactors (SBBR)	<ul> <li>High empty space of plastic media</li> <li>Backwashing not required</li> <li>Simple management</li> <li>No bulking problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Additional cost of plastic media compared to activated sludge</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be</li> </ul>	

		required
Rotating biological contactors (RBC)	<ul> <li>Easy to operate</li> <li>Short start-up</li> <li>Little maintenance</li> <li>Effectively oxygenated</li> <li>Little sloughing of biomass</li> <li>No bulking problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>pH control</li> <li>Low rate of treatment</li> <li>Nutrient addition may be required</li> </ul>
Constructed wetlands (CWs)	<ul> <li>Low-energy consumption and costs</li> <li>Capacity to treat record high organic loads</li> <li>High rate of treatment in relatively short adaptation time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High retention time</li> <li>Large area</li> <li>pH and TSS influence</li> <li>Odour problem</li> <li>Feasible only in low population density areas</li> </ul>

Currently, numerous winery wastewater treatments are available but the development of alternative process combinations is required in order to increase the efficiency of removal of both recalcitrant organic compounds, as well as ecotoxicity. These systems could also simultaneously reduce operational costs. Literature has also stated that physicochemical processes (e.g. Coagulation/ flocculation) have been found to be effective for the pre-treatment of winery wastewater, and more specifically, lowering the total suspended solids for further treatment by other biological, membrane filtration or separation processes (loannou *et al.*, 2014; loannou *et al.*, 2015).

Biological treatment is particularly appropriate for the treatment of winery wastewater showing high removal rates of organic compounds. For the residual removal of organics, a further pre- or post-treatment system is needed for the safe disposal of the effluent into the environment.

#### 1.2 Constructed wetlands (CWs) and biological sand filters (BSFs)

Natural wetlands are present worldwide and in a range of different settings. These environments are described as being in- between a terrestrial and aquatic system (Haberl *et al.*, 2003), and are the most biologically diverse of all ecosystems (Ramsar Convention Secretariat, 2013). Inadvertently, they have been used for the treatment of various types of wastewaters. CWs and BSFs are also known as treatment wetlands and are engineered wastewater treatment systems that mimic the bioremediation processes associated with a natural wetland (Vymazal, 2005).

According to Juwarkar *et al.* (2012) and Semple *et al.* (2007) in order to establish a functional microbial consortium and the successful bioremediation of effluent/organic compounds, the environmental conditions should be favourable for growth of microorganisms and their metabolic activities. With this being said, conventional reactor-type biological treatment systems generally fit these given criteria. Reactor based technologies are usually expensive to install, require lots of energy and skill for operation, making this type of technology unsuitable in small wineries (Christen *et al.*, 2010). CWs are reactor-type biological treatment systems that have been shown to be suitable for the treatment of winery wastewater as reports have shown that wine producing countries use these systems for the reduction of the chemical oxygen demand (COD) in winery wastewater (De la Varga *et al.*, 2013, Mulidzi, 2010).

CWs generally consist of a physical substrate (usually sand or gravel) that serves as a support for plants and microbial communities that work synergistically to treat wastewaters (Kiviasi, 2001; Glick, 2010; Vymazal, 2005). Plants metabolize available nutrients and are able to accumulate heavy metals or directly degrade certain organic contaminants (Glick, 2010). While BSF systems are similar to CWs in configuration, they do not contain any plants. Research has shown that despite CWs being slow filtration systems for the treatment of winery wastewater, the resulting effluent has shown to be toxic to the plants used in CWs (Arienzo *et al.*, 2009; Christen *et al.*, 2010). As BSF do not contain plants, they rely solely on the substrate and microorganisms for the treatment of effluent. The engineering and design of these systems allows for the structural and flow mechanisms to be tailored to the requirements of the treatment of specific target waste streams. CWs and BSFs are of particular interest as they represent a cost-effective, ecologically-friendly and aesthetically attractive option for wastewater treatment (Welz *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.2.1 Hydraulic flow regime of CWs and BSFs

There are three basic hydraulic regimes employed in the design of CWs; free water surface flow (FWSF), horizontal sub-surface flow (HSSF), and vertical subsurface flow (VSSF) (Figure 1.2) (Vymazal, 2007). In CWs and BSFs, the flow of wastewater may take place predominantly over the surface (surface flow) or within the substratum (subsurface flow). Subsurface flow may be from the top of the CWs and BSFs to the bottom (vertical subsurface flow) or from the inlet to the outlet (horizontal subsurface flow) (Vymazal, 2005). The combination of different hydraulic regimes, however, have become more popular, either by using a series of CWs each with a different mode of operation or by combining more than one hydraulic flow regime in the same CW setup (Burton *et al.*, 2011; Toscano, 2009).

Faulwetter *et al.*, (2009) describes the use of treatment systems stating that VSSF systems will typically favour aerobic microbial populations and pollutant removal while HSSF systems will favour anaerobic populations. The Feeding mode (batch, intermittent or continuous) appears to have a secondary influence on the performance of the systems, with batch mode favouring more aerobic processes and continuous mode favouring more anaerobic processes. More research into microbial population density and diversity heterogeneity, both spatially and temporally, between feeding modes will help to further optimize design of HSSF systems.

The BSFs used in this study have been identified as being suitable for the efficient treatment of winery effluent (Ramond *et al.*, 2013; Welz *et al.*, 2014). Through the study by Ramond *et al.*, (2013), showed that through the use of BSFs for the treatment of winery effluent the microbial communities were responsive to the impact of the winery effluent and that as the community structure changed over time the remediation capacity remained high with a COD and phenolic removal rates of >98% throughout the experimental period. The study by Welz *et al.*, (2014) found that when the COD influent was at 2027 mg/L the COD removal rate was at 76% with an excellent removal of organics being achieved. These studies became the basis for the work in the thesis. These were designed in the configuration of a subsurface flow system with both vertical and horizontal flow. Subsurface flow CWs are either operated in batch or continuous mode. Batch mode applies to VSSF CWs, where the surface is flooded and followed by a period of drainage. If the period of drainage is more than 24 hours it is termed 'tidal' and if it is a shorter time period it is termed 'pulsed' (Austin, 2009).



**Figure 1.2:** Schematic diagram of the FWSF (A), HSSF (B) and VSSF (C) operated in batch mode. A "fill" period (left) is followed by a "drain" period (right) (Welz, 2010).

#### 1.2.2 Substrate composition of CWs and BSFs

Removal rates of carbon (C), nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are closely related to the chemical and physical properties of the substrate medium in CWs (Zhang, 2007). Examples of substrate media which have been employed include sand, soil, gravel, zeolite, slag, compost, and alum sludge. Sand and gravel are the most common substrates used in CWs (Aslam, 2007; Li, 2008, Babatunde, 2011).

Sand particles provide a large surface area for biofilm attachment. The shape and size of the sand particles plays a role in biofilm formation and subsequent removal performance. It has been demonstrated that natural sand presents a superior biofilm attachment surface to crushed sand, resulting in enhanced removal of C and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) (Torrens, 2009). One of the major disadvantages of sand-filled CWs and BSFs is that the small grain size can result in clogging of the matrix pores by suspended solids and/or biofilm. Clogging can be prevented by the use of pre-filters or clarifiers to remove suspended solids. The use of filters in conjunction with batch mode could ensure complete substrate degradation between treatments (Knowles, 2010). A study by Girvan *et al.* (2003) indicated that the chemical composition of the support matrix is a determining factor in shaping the microbial communities present within sand samples. Similarly, in BSFs, the composition of the sand has been shown to be the most important factor for the selection of bacterial species (Welz *et al.*, 2014).

# **UNIVERSITY** of the

# 1.2.3 Treatment of industrial wastewater in CWs and BSFs

In many developing countries, waste streams such as untreated sewage, industrial and domestic wastewater, as well as agricultural run-off may contaminate aquatic environments. The water being released into the environment could be seen as unsuitable for human consumption, fish production or recreation (Haberl *et al.*, 2003). It is important to treat contaminated water before discharge either via irrigation or directly into the environment. CWs and BSFs have been used to treat municipal wastewater, landfill leachate, agricultural wastewater and industrial wastewater (Poach, 2003; Vymazal, 2005).

The environmental impact of winery wastewater is notable and this can cause eutrophication (nutrient enrichment) of water resources (e.g. natural streams, rivers, dams and wetlands). If untreated winery wastewater with high levels of BOD are allowed to flow into water streams the dissolved oxygen (DO) in the water streams may quickly be consumed, leading to the suffocation of aquatic and amphibious life (Chapman *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, the adequate

treatment of the winery effluent is essential as it could cause significant environmental damage if released untreated (Strong and Burgees, 2008).

Chemical oxygen demand (COD) refers to the measurement of organic compounds within wastewater. In a literature survey Vymazal and Kröpfelova (2009) investigated the removal of organics in 292 horizontal flow CWs situated in 36 countries. The study concluded that municipal wastewater had the lowest COD inflow concentrations, while the highest COD concentration was observed for industrial wastewater (Table 1.2). The authors deduced that CWs could be utilised for the treatment of several waste streams. It has been reported that high COD removal rates can be achieved in VSSF CWs treating domestic wastewater by applying low loading rates and loading frequencies (Prochaska, 2007).

Type of	Number of CWs	Average Influent	Average effluent	Average COD
wastewater		COD (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	COD (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	removal (%)
Agricultural <sup>a</sup>	17 🧲	871	327	63.0
Industrial <sup>b</sup>	25	1865	789	63.1
Landfill leachate	6	933	698	24.9
Municipal	244	287	76	63.2

Table 1.2: Performance characteristics of 292 horizontal flow CWs (Vymazal and Kröpfelova, 2009)

<sup>a</sup>Farm effluent, chicken manure, shrimp aquaculture effluent, trout farm effluent and dairy parlour effluent

<sup>b</sup> Abbatoir and meat processing effluent, food processing effluent, distillery effluent, winery effluent, petrochemical effluent, lignite pyrolysis effluent, mixed industrial effluent

# WESTERN CAPE

Welz *et al.* (2011) reported the use of BSFs for the treatment of winery effluent with a biweekly loading frequency, a hydraulic loading rate of 1.95 L.m<sup>3</sup>.day<sup>-1</sup> and a high influent COD (ethanol) of 15 800 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. During this study >98% COD removal was consistently achieved. These results strongly suggest that the presence of plants is not a prerequisite for effective organic removal. This was further supported by the findings of Tietz *et al.* (2008) and Melian (2010) who reported that plants had no significant influence on CW productivity, microbial biomass or total organic carbon (TOC) removal from pre-settled municipal wastewater, but rather that the type of substrate medium significantly affected COD and TOC removal. Additional research is needed to clarify which parameters (chemical (e.g. COD, BOD), and operational parameters would be HRT, OLR etc) are more important for the removal of specific organic wastes. A study by Welz *et al.* (2016) suggested the use of stabilisation ponds as a pre-treatment step for the treatment of winery wastewater prior to the use of a BSF. According to the review by Wu *et al.* (2015) for the treatment of effluents from various industries (food, textile, tannery, oil and gas, cooking) through the use of CWs has been investigated. The use of CWs for the treatment of these various effluents has been shown to be cost effective and require little maintenance. Each kind of industrial effluent has a specific character which must be taken into consideration when designing and planning the CW. Wu *et al.* (2015) summarises each industrial effluent and as an example explains that food industry waste is often rich in organic compounds and salt, in contrast to the mining industry that might have little or no organic content, but would be high in metals and dissolved solids.

#### 1.2.4 Treatment of agricultural wastewater in CWs and BSFs

#### 1.2.4.1 Winery wastewater

The South African Wine Industry consists of about 600 independent wineries located mostly in the Western Cape region. The industry is said to generate more than one billion litres of winery effluent per annum (Mosse *et al.*, 2011; Sheridan *et al.*, 2011) which needs to be treated before being discharged. Although wastewater is regarded as a significant environmental risk, it is used by most of the wineries to irrigate their land (Van Schoor, 2004).

### UNIVERSITY of the

Treated winey wastewater needs to be compliant with South African legislation (South Africa Water Act 96, 1998), which states that discharging biodegradable industrial waste into the environment should meet the maximum COD limits ranging between 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> to 5000 mg L<sup>-1</sup> depending on the daily amount of wastewater being generated. Remediation is problematic for smaller wine cellars due to the fact that the composition and volume fluctuates depending on the season (Malandra *et al.*, 2003; Saadi *et al.*, 2007; Sheridan, 2007; Arienzo *et al.*, 2009; Bolzonella and Rosso, 2013;). In addition, there is an increase in organic chemicals observed over the vinification period. Vinification refers to the process of making wines from grapes (Chambers and Pretorius, 2010). Acetic acid, ethanol, fructose, glucose, and sucrose are significant contributors to COD levels in winery wastewater (Malandra *et al.*, 2003; Sheridan, 2007). Small to medium sized wineries in rural areas are not equipped to treat winery effluent and cannot afford sophisticated systems (Christen *et al.*, 2010). In these wineries, a more cost effective, simple system such as CWs or BSFs would be ideal for the treatment of wastewater. Ideally these systems should be tolerant to seasonal input flux, and not require lengthy start up and shut down periods (Christen *et al.*, 2010).

There has been an increase in successfully using CWs for the treatment of various industrial effluents (Wu *et al.*, 2015) and the use of CWs for the treatment of winery wastewater have been highlighted in Table 1.2. A study by Welz *et al.* (2014) demonstrated the tolerance of BSFs to season input fluxes. In BSF systems, the substratum provides a large surface area for biofilm attachment and may contain co-factors required for microbial metabolism (Calvo-Bado, *et al.*, 2003; Hunter *et al.*, 2013; Welz *et al.*, 2014). Given the benefits of BSFs (low cost and ease of operation) these systems have the potential to treat wastewater at small to medium size wineries.

From Table 1.3 it shows that laboratory scale and full scale CWs are quite different in size, exhibit different hydraulic flow and require different pre-treatment steps. However, no performance characteristics was shown the Table was just used to illustrate the use of CWs and BSFs currently being employed. CWs are directly used for the treatment of raw winery wastewater effluent, which has been generated by small rural wineries as indicated by in Table 1.3. One of the major limitations of CWs, is the clogging of the system by biofilm formation and clogging of substrates due to the accumulation of solids (Mosse et al., 2011). The solution to this problem is some sort of pre-treatment step that is outlined in Table 1.3. Therefore, it has been estimated that when the productivity levels of winery wastewater is lower than 2000 hL of wine per year the treatment scheme usually consists of a pretreatment by septic or Imhoff tanks. This Imhoff tank serves as an equalization role and the winery wastewater is can then be treated by a single stage of vertical flow subsurface wetlands. For larger sized wineries, more robust models is set in place are required, such technologies being as anaerobic digestion systems or aerobic biological systems (Masi et al., 2014). The A study by Welz et al. (2016) suggested the use of continuous flow settling basins and waste stabilization ponds as a pre-treatment step for the treatment of winery effluent.

 Table 1.3: Performance characteristics of CWs for the treatment of winery wastewater (Wu *et al.*, 2015)

Location	Scale	HLR	Pre-	Wetland type	References
			treatments	and area (m <sup>2</sup> )	
Hopland,	Pilot	500 L/d	Upflow	HF, 14.9	(Shepherd et
California			coarse-sand		<i>al</i> ., 2001)
			filter		
Bordeaux	Pilot		Upflow	2 VF in series,	(Rochard et
region, France			coarse-sand	157 + 174	<i>al</i> ., 2002)
			filter +		
			intensive		
			aeration in a		
			first		
			equalization		
			basin		
Bordeaux	Pilot		Straw	2 VF in series,	(Rochard et
region, France			screening	35.6 in total	<i>al.</i> , 2002)
La Croce,	Full	<8 m³/d	Imhoff tank	A single HF,	(Masi <i>et al</i> .,
Siena, italy	E.J.	40 m 3/d	Cantia tank		2014) (Maai at al
Boigneri	Full	42 m³/d	Septic tank		
					2014)
province), nary					
				Ponde 1216	
				in total	
Castellina in	Full	35 m <sup>3</sup> /d	Imboff tank	$HE (180) \pm$	(Masi at al
Chianti-Siena		55 m /u		FW/S (850)	2014)
Italy				1 1 1 0 (000)	2014)
Hopland,	Full	137 m <sup>3</sup> /d	Facultative	HF, 4400	(Grismer et al.,
California			lagoons and		2003)
		UNIVER	screening		,
GlenEllen,	Full	21 m <sup>3</sup> /d	Facultative	HF, 304	(Grismer et al.,
California		WESTEL	lagoons and		2003)
		W LO I LI	screening		
Stellenbosch,	Full			HF, 160	(Sheridan et
South Africa					<i>al</i> ., 2014)
Goudini, South	Full	4 m³/d		HF, 180	(Mulidzi, 2007)
Africa					
California	Full	6 m³/d		2 HF in	(Grismer and
				parallel, each	Shepherd,
				58	2011)
California	Full	22 m³/d		2 HF in	(Grismer and
				parallel, 72 +	Shepherd,
				49	2011)
Galiza,	Full	6.8 m³/d	HUSB	A VF (50) and	(Serrano et al.,
(Northwest			anaerobic	3 parallel HF	2011)
Spain), Spain			digester,6 m <sup>3</sup>	(100 each)	

#### 1.2.4.2 The fate of organics and inorganics in CWs and BSFs

During the bioremediation of various waste streams, the substrata can become saturated with inorganic, non-volatile compounds which may require mechanical removal. One of the major advantages of using BSFs or CWs for the treatment of organic waste streams is that complete mineralization of many hydrocarbon pollutants may be achieved (Welz *et al.*, 2011). However, with non-domestic wastewaters there is a risk of toxic metabolites and pollutants being formed in the CWs. The biodegradability of organic compounds also needs to be considered during CW and BSF design (David, 1999; Welz *et al.*, 2011).

The microbial communities functioning in CWs are involved in many biological processes including hydrocarbon degradation, transformation, and mineralisation (Knowles, 2010). The results of these studies obtained are on the basis of the wastewater composition, microbial acclimation, and CW substrate type and plant species (Li, 2008; Burton *et al.*, 2011; Welz *et al.*, 2011; Rodriguez-Caballero *et al.*, 2012).

With each litre of wastewater generated from wine cellars the effluent COD values typically range from 800-12 800mg/L, however some studies have reported peaks of 25 000 mg/L (Malandra *et al.*, 2003; Saadi *et al.*, 2007). Inorganics (sodium and potassium) are often found in these samples, due to the high acidity and high percentage of organics present in winery wastewater. These inorganics can sometimes become problematic to remove (Strong and Burgees, 2008).

# UNIVERSITY of the

Previous studies for the WRC Project K5/2104 demonstrated the excellent removal of sugars, ethanol and phenolics that can be achieved with the use of BSFs, however the removal of volatile fatty acids (VFA) is very poor. Irrespective of whether VFAs were present in the original influent, VFAs would be formed from other organic substrates and accumulate within the BSFs (Welz and Le Roes-Hill, 2014). Based on this study, it was concluded that a downstream process would be more suitable and the use of trickling filters was suggested. In inclusion of trickling filters would enhance aerobic processes such as nitrification and aerobic degradation pathways (Matthews *et al.*, 2009). They have successfully been applied in the removal of organics present in anaerobic secondary biological treatment of domestic wastewater and municipal landfill leachate (Matthews *et al.*, 2009; Pontes and De Lemos Chernicharon, 2011).

#### 1.2.5 Role of microbial populations in CWs and BSFs

The presence of microorganisms in CWs is the most important factor that allows for many biotic processes to proceed; these include microbial degradation, transformation, and mineralization. Microbial communities are essential in the mineralization of organic matter and in nitrogen and phosphorous removal (Faulwetter et al., 2009; Truu et al., 2009; Glick, 2010). CWs become colonized over time by populations of organisms that adapt to specific wastewater environments. Colonization of CWs by microorganisms allows for biofilm formation and leads to a reduction of hydraulic conductivity (Knowles, 2010; Burton et al., 2011). Colonisation of CWs is dependent on how microorganisms adapt to the changing environment, a process called acclimation. Previous studies have shown that microbial communities acclimatize to grow in the presence of toxic chemicals such as p-nitrophenol and acrylonitrile (Zaida, 1996; Hu, 1997), cellulose substrates (Cheng, 2010), as well as harsh physical parameters (e.g. cold) (Koda, 2002). The concentration and toxicity of the chemicals, as well as the period of acclimation all influence the ultimate success of the acclimation process. Studies have shown that longer acclimation periods lead to higher substrate degradation rates (Zaida, 1996). TI II

Ramond *et al.*, (2013) demonstrated the use of BSFs that were operated in mixed vertical (VSSF) and horizontal (HSSF) subsurface flow mode (Stottmeister *et al.* 2003) and subjected to bi-weekly feeding followed by gradient-directed drainage. This type pf BSF is considered to favor aerobic microbial processes and thus increase COD and/or BOD removal potential (Faulwetter *et al.* 2009). Micro-organisms as we know, play an important role in any bioremediatory processes (Gadd, 2010), and when BSF systems are impacted by contaminants, the microbial communities either become resistant (i.e. the community structure remains unaltered) to the contaminant, or resilient (i.e. the community changes initially but restores at a later stage), or sensitive (i.e. the community structure is permanently changed) to the contaminant (Allison and Martiny, 2008).

For the study by Ramond *et al.*, (2013), they hypothesized that for reliable organic removal efficiencies to be achieved, the microbial communities should be able to conserve the basic biogeochemical processes necessary for the bioremediation of the winery wastewater used (Yagi *et al.* 2010). Low pH and high organic (including ethanol and phenolic compounds) and salt contents, which characterize the winery wastewater used in the study, have all been shown to induce structural changes in environmental microbial communities (Lucassen *et al.* 2002; Moussa *et al.* 2006; Feris *et al.* 2008).

A study by Welz *et al.*, (2012) demonstrated whether organisms would be able to utilize vanillin and gallic acid using microcosms. Kunc, (1970) showed that the incubation of soil samples with vanillin can increase the number of bacteria capable of utilizing this phenolic as a sole carbon source. Welz *et al.*, (2012), clearly showed that a 9-week period was sufficient for the microbial population to acclimate to the presence of gallic acid and vanillin, resulting in significantly enhanced biotic degradation rates when compared to a non-acclimated population. These results support previous literature findings that low concentrations of phenolic acid mixtures stimulate the growth of phenolic acid-utilizing bacteria within the bulk soil, and that competitive selection of these bacteria enhances biodegradation of phenolic acids (Blum *et al.*, 2000; Vaughan *et al.*, 1983).

Ramond *et al.*, (2013) previously showed that BSF microbial communities that were exposed to incremental concentrations of ethanol become more tolerant to the ethanol contaminant than communities that are exposed to higher concentrations of ethanol from the onset of study and that phenomenon is referred to as microbial acclimation. Rodriguez-Caballero *et al.*, (2012) demonstrated that the addition of bioavailable nutrients to organic rich effluents (particularly nitrogen) enhanced the remediatory performances of treatment BSFs and that the nitrogen fixing bacteria are selected in organic contaminated environments suggesting that bioavailable nitrogen and /or diazotrophic communities are crucial in such environment.

Incremental priming refers to the exposure of CWs and BSFs systems to increasing concentrations of pollutants (Jacobs et al., 1995). It has been determined that "incremental priming" during the start-up period of BSFs enhances the acclimation of the microbial communities already present on the substrate (sand), and results in significantly superior degradative rates and capacities when compared to unprimed systems containing nonacclimated microbial populations (Burton et al., 2011; Welz et al., 2011). There are a wide of techniques available to assess the range presence of microorganisms, changes/fluctuations in response to the outside stress of these microbial communities and examples of these methods are discussed in section 1.3.

#### 1.3 Molecular fingerprinting techniques

#### 1.3.1 Detection of microbial communities in environmental samples

A number of molecular methods, such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based cultureindependent techniques, have been employed to discover and characterise microorganisms that are found in diverse ecosystems (Singh *et al.*, 2004). One promising approach in the detection of microorganisms is molecular fingerprinting which allows for the possibility of characterising and comparing microbial community structures to assess their similarity or differences (Edberg and Melson, 2001). The amplification of the 16S rRNA gene from sand DNA samples combined with molecular fingerprinting techniques such as denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and T-RFLP provide detailed information about the bacterial community structures (Torsvik and Ovreas, 2002).

Over the years, several culture-independent techniques targeting the 16S rRNA gene to analyse microbial communities haves been established. Fingerprinting techniques such as DGGE (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993), automated ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis (ARISA) (Fisher and Triplett, 1999), and T-RFLP analysis (Liu *et al.*, 1997) have been developed. These techniques have been successfully employed in numerous studies to explore the bacterial diversity of the populations present in various habitats. The advantage of using these techniques is that they are high throughput compared to culture dependent methods (Rappe and Giovannoni, 2003; Weng *et al.*, 2006).

WESTERN CAPE

### 1.3.2 T-RFLP analysis of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene and fungal ITS region

T-RFLP is a popular high-throughput fingerprinting technique used to monitor changes in the structure and composition of microbial communities. Most frequently the technique includes steps used to amplify the small subunit (16S or 18S) rRNA genes from total community DNA using PCR wherein one or both primers are labelled with a fluorescent dye. The resulting mixture amplicons is digested with restriction endonucleases, and the sizes and relative abundance of the fluorescent labelled terminal restriction-fragments (T-RFs) is determined by an automated DNA sequencer. A different length T-RFs reflects differences in the sequences of the 16S rRNA genes (due to the presence/absence and location of restriction enzyme recognition sites), which ultimately correlates to distinct populations of organisms. Therefore, the patterns of the T-RFs are a composite of the DNA fragments with unique lengths that reflect the dominant populations in the community (Shütte *et al.*, 2008). T-RFLP

has been used for the analysis of functional genes (Horz *et al.*, 2000; Lueders and Friedrich, 2003) including the detection of genes involved in nitrogen fixation (Tan *et al.*, 2003; Rösch and Bothe, 2004) and methane oxidation (Horz *et al.*, 2001; Mohanty *et al.*, 2006). Although like any PCR-based technique, problems may occur (e.g. poor primer specificity, mispriming, incorrect annealing temperature). Primer design is limited by the number of sequences found on the database and this becomes a disadvantage as to whether the sequences reflect the actual gene diversity found in nature. This would affect the overall T-RFLP profile for each sample. T-RFLP has been shown to provide a means to assess changes in microbial community structure on both a temporal and spatial scale by monitoring the appearance or disappearance of specific fragments in microbial profiles (Franklin and Mills, 2003; Mummey and Stahl, 2003). When T-RFLP analysis of the 16S rRNA gene is coupled with clone library construction and sequencing, a more detailed composition of the microbial communities can be obtained (Shütte *et al.*, 2008).

A determining factor for the success of PCR relies greatly on the quality and purity of the nucleic acid extracted (Anderson and Cairney, 2004). In contrast to bacteria, taxonomic identification of fungi, based on sequences of the eukaryotic ribosomal small subunit (18S rRNA), is more problematic with identification commonly limited to the genus or family level. This is primarily due to the relative lack of variation within 18S rRNA genes between closely related fungal species as a result of the relatively short period of evolution of fungi compared to bacterial evolution (Hugenholtz and Pace, 1996). Given the limitations of the 18S, the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region located between the 18S rRNA and 28S rRNA genes incorporating the 5.8S rRNA gene, has also been targeted (White *et al.*, 1990; Gardes and Bruns, 1993; Larena *et al.*, 1999). Fungal ITS sequences generally provide greater taxonomic resolution than sequences generated from coding regions (Anderson *et al.*, 2003).

Primer design and selection plays a vital role in the successful application of oligonucleotide primers selected for the use in microbial community DNA-profiling methods and thus needs to be specific and universal to the target group. For analysis of bacterial communities, primers that amplify DNA from the 16S rRNA gene region are frequently used. The main reasons for this are that the 16S rRNA gene is found universally in bacteria and contains both highly conserved and variable sequence regions. For the analysis of fungi, the 18S, 5.8S and 28S rRNA genes, which are traversed by the hyper-variable internal transcribed spacer (ITS) 1 and ITS2 regions (Figure 1.3), are recognized as being useful for the same reasons (Hill *et al.*, 2000).

Fungal-specific primer pairs that have been tested for analysis of fungal community DNA extracted from environmental samples include: ITS1F (Gardes and Bruns, 1993) and ITS4 (White *et al.*, 1990). Turenne *et al.* (1999) designed the ITS86F primer and coupled this with the ITS4 reverse primer (White *et al.*, 1990) for use in screening human blood for medically important fungal pathogens and maybe useful in fungal isolates. This primer pair amplifies the hypervariable ITS2 region, which straddles the 5.8S and 28S genes (Figure 1.3).



**Figure 1.3:** Schematic representation of fungal ribosomal genes bridged by ITS regions targeted by the two primer sets that were assessed by Vancov and Keen, (2009).



Studies conducted by Truu *et al.* (2009), and Weber and Legge (2011) showed that extended periods are required for microbial communities to stabilize and properly establish during operational periods of the CWs. The presence of a settled microbial community is generally considered to be a critical factor for maintaining the stability of the ecosystem, resilience after contamination and for long-term sustainability (Wohl *et al.*, 2004). Studies performed by Ramond *et al.* (2013) assessed the changes in bacterial community structure through T-RFLP analyses after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater and concluded that through T-RFLP analyses they were able to detect changes in the community structures.

#### 1.3.3 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)

DGGE is a popular molecular fingerprinting technique and was initially used for the detection of point mutations in clinical bacterial isolates. The technique has been adapted and is routinely used to study microbial genetic diversity including population structure in environmental settings (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993). The methodology used in DGGE is relatively simple. The gene of interest is amplified from metagenomic DNA using modified gene-specific PCR primers. The The primers used have a 35-40 bp GC-clamp that is attached to
the 5'-end of the forward primer to ensure that that part of the DNA remains double stranded during electrophoresis under denaturing conditions (Kirk *et al.*, 2004). Amplified PCR products are electrophoresed through a polyacrylamide gel with an increasing linear concentration gradient of chemical denaturants (formamide and urea) (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993; Kirk *et al.*, 2004). As double-stranded DNA melts in sequence specific domains it migrates differentially through the gel, allowing for separation based on differences in sequence (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993; Muyzer, 1999.)

The addition of the GC-clamp to the 5'-end of the primer was shown to be effective through a study performed by Myers *et al.* (1985) and Sheffield *et al.* (1989). The GC-clamp ensures that almost 100% of all possible sequence variations can be detected by differential migration in DGGE gels. The GC-clamp was further explored by Muyzer *et al.* (1993) who showed that a 40 bp GC-clamp was more successful than a 30 bp one in the formation of stable, partially melted fragments. In addition, the GC-clamp was found to only be effective at increasing stability when it was incorporated on the 5' –end of the primer and not the 3' - end (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993).

The different band patterns obtained by DGGE is a reflection on the species diversity within the environment (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993). An advantage of DGGE analysis, is that the method is less time-consuming technique compared to conventional cloning techniques and displays a mixed community present within a sample in a qualitative manner (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993).

# WESTERN CAPE

#### 1.3.4 Quantitative PCR

Quantitative PCR (qPCR), often referred to as real-time PCR, is a widely used technique in microbial ecology to determine gene or transcript numbers present within environmental samples. The target specificity of any qPCR assay is dependent on the design of the primers. Unlike many fingerprinting techniques which is limited to phylogenetic markers such as the 16S rRNA gene, due to its sensitivity and selectivity this technique allows for the quantification of functional genes present within a mixed community sample. qPCR has been shown to be a highly sensitive and reproducible technique that quantitatively shows gene expression level shifts across temporal and spatial changes within samples under different environmental or experimental conditions (Smith and Osborn, 2008).

Recent advances in the quantification of messenger RNA (mRNA) and gene expression has allowed for the development of reliable methods of reverse transcription followed by qPCR (RT-PCR) (Gibson *et al.*, 1996). RT-PCR has benefits over conventional methods of quantifying RNA as the technique is more sensitive and accurate (Huggert *et al.*, 2005). As RT-PCR allows for the generation of amplification curves it allows for the accurate quantification of the starting template (Wilhelm and Pingoud, 2003).

Quantitative analysis is used to compare transcription rates (gene expression levels), determined by the amount of RNA present for samples under different environmental conditions. Normalization of results obtained through RT-PCR becomes problematic and generally this is overcome through the use of genes that are constantly expressed (or non-regulated genes) known as reference genes (often housekeeping genes are targeted) (Wilhelm and Pingoud, 2003). These reference genes are used as internal standards for normalization of data by comparing the expression of functional genes within a given sample to the expression of the internal standard. Depending on the desired outcome of the research, the use of reference genes may vary when normalising data in different research conditions (Huggert *et al.*, 2005).



#### 1.4 Functional bacterial genes

Detection of functional genes within microbial communities has been extensively researched using gene-specific PCR (Henckel *et al.*, 1999). Gene-specific PCR has two major disadvantages as it requires the design of primers which is dependent on sequences found in databases. Secondly, a single fragment of a functional gene will be amplified requiring additional PCR steps to amplify the full length gene (Cowan *et al.*, 2005). For profiling functional microbial communities the use of RNA is more effective than DNA, as RNA is a more sensitive biomarker and the presence of specific RNA shows that the gene is being expressed under the tested conditions (Manefield *et al.*, 2002). RT-PCR has been used as a quantification tool for the detection of genes from environmental samples and has become an important aspect in microbial ecology, monitoring of microbial diversity and bioremediation (Sharkey *et al.*, 2004) and this is method is to be used in this study for the detection of the functional genes.

Chemical analysis of winery wastewater has revealed that phenolics and trace amounts of ethanol are present. As catechol dioxygenase and alcohol dehydrogenase enzymes are necessary for the microbial degradation of many phenolics and ethanol, respectively, in the present study it was decided to target two functional genes that are involved in the breakdown of these products, namely alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 2,3-dioxygenase.

#### 1.4.1 Bacterial alcohol dehydrogenase

Aerobic microorganisms break down ethanol via the Krebs cycle and through this pathway ethanol is oxidized to acetaldehyde by alcohol dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.1). Acetaldehyde is further converted to acetyl-CoA either directly by acetaldehyde dehydrogenase or through acetate by an acetaldehyde dehydrogenase and acetate-CoA ligase. This is followed by acetyl-CoA being oxidized to  $CO_2$  in the Krebs cycle (Figure 1.4) (Campbell and Farrell, 2006). The intermediates in the Krebs cycle are not toxic as they are intracellularly metabolized and rarely excreted.





**Figure 1.4**: The Citric acid cycle (Krebs cycle) involving the use of alcohol dehydrogenase in the oxidation of ethanol (Campbell and Farrell, 2006).

The reaction mechanism of alcohol dehydrogenase requires NAD<sup>+</sup> and the alcohol molecule binds to the enzyme, in such a way so that it is attached to both the substrates. With the enzyme bound to the substrates, a hydrogen is transferred from the alcohol molecule to NAD resulting in the formation of NADH and a ketone or an aldehyde (Voet *et al.*, 2008) as shown in Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.5: The mechanism of alcohol dehydrogenase (Metzler, 1977)

Studies by Gottschalk (1986) showed that *Gluconobacter* species are unable to oxidise acetate (Acetyl-CoA) in the Krebs cycle as it lacks the enzyme succinate dehydrogenase, while Acetobacter species can metabolise acetate through the Krebs cycle. They produce large amounts of acetic acid in the presence of ethanol. Chinnawirotpisan *et al.* (2003) reported that acetic acid bacteria are primarily involved in the oxidation of ethanol to acetic acid. These acetic acid producing bacteria have an additional alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme which is cytosolic, together with the membrane bound pyrroloquinoline quinone (PQQ) and NAD-dependent enzymes, all play a part in the accumulation of ethanol rather than the degradation of ethanol. Quintero *et al.* (2009) investigated the expression of the alcohol dehydrogenase gene within acetic acid bacteria and used this as a marker for analysing acetic acid bacteria's ability to oxidise ethanol.

#### 1.4.2 Bacterial catechol dioxygenases

Bacterial degradation of phenolic compounds generally occurs in three phases and can also be extracellular (Dagley, 1986; Harayama and Timmis, 1992). The first step includes preparing the compound for ring cleavage by introducing hydroxyl groups by mono- or dioxygenases to result in the dihydroxyaromatic metabolites. Catechols are usually the metabolites in the breakdown of most aromatic substrates (Williams and Sayers, 1994). The second phase is catalysed by the dioxygenases that breaks one of the carbon-carbon bonds of the ring by adding an oxygen molecule and producing an unsaturated aliphatic acid. The third phase involves the conversion of the ring cleavage products into smaller aliphatic compounds that are further metabolised to enter the metabolic cycle (Fenner *et al.*, 2005; Williams and Sayers, 1994).

Catechol molecules are also known as pyrocatechol or 1,2-dihydroxybenezene and were first discovered in the plant extract catechin (Naquet *et al.*,1868). Catechol dioxygenases catalyse the oxidation of catechol molecules, a key step in the breakdown of aromatic compounds by soil bacteria. Catechol dioxygenases can be divided into two major groups (Hayaishi *et al.*, 1955): enzymes that cleave the aromatic ring between the vicinal diols (the intradiol enzymes) and those that cleave the ring to one side of the vicinal diols (the extradiol enzymes) (Figure 1.6). It is known that both types of catechol dioxygenases have an iron present in the active site which is required for enzymatic activity, with the intradiol enzymes containing Fe(III) and the extradiol form containing Fe(II) (Broderick, 1999).

The intradiol dioxygenases, typically the catechol 1,2-dioxygenase (EC 1.13.11.1), cleave the carbon-carbon bond between the hydroxyl group of the phenolic compound to result in muconic acid and require  $Fe^{3+}$  as a co-factor (Hayaishi *et al.*, 1955). The extradiol dioxygenases, typically catechol 2,3-dioxygenase (EC 1.13.11.2), cleave the carbon-carbon bond that is adjacent to the phenolic hydroxyl group to yield 2-hydroxymuconaldehyde and require  $Fe^{2+}$  as the co-factor for the reaction (Kojima *et al.*, 1961). The reactions catalyzed by the two families of ring cleavage enzymes; intradiol (or *ortho*) dioxygenases and extradiol (or *meta*) dioxygenases are shown in Figure 1.4 (Dagley, 1971).





25

Reneike and Knackmuss (1988) showed that through the use of pure culture studies chlorocatechols were metabolised via a modified ortho cleavage pathway that involved the intradiol cleavage of the aromatic ring by the enzyme chlorocatechol 1,2-dioxygenase. Several studies (Nakatsu and Wyndham, 1993; Wieser et al., 1994; Koh et al., 1997; Mars et al., 1999) have shown that strains including Alcaligenes eutrophus, Azotobacter sp. GP1 and Sphingomonas sp. BN6 could transform chlorocatechols to chlorophenols via the meta pathway. It does however remain unclear which pathway (ortho or meta) is used by bacteria in their natural environments. Lillis et al. (2010) examined the abundance and expression of two functional genes that encodes for the intradiol and extradiol cleavage of the chlorocatechols present in soil samples. The expression of these two genes was assessed through gPCR and the results obtained provided insight into the relevance of the intradiol and extradiol cleavage of the chloroaromatic pathways. Phylogenetic analysis of the sequences obtained in the study by Lillis et al. (2010) showed that the chlorocatechol 1,2dioxygnease gene sequences related to that of frequently isolated chlorophenol-degrading bacteria such as Pseudomonas, Ralstonia and Burkholderia species. The catechol 2,3dioxygnease sequences clustered with known soil bacteria that express the gene, namely Pseudomonas, Azoarcus, Novosphingobium and Burkholderia species. Chlorocatechol dioxygenases have also been detected in eutrophic lake and soil samples (Kasuga et al., 2007).

In addition, the expression of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes has been monitored using cassette PCR of genomic DNA extracted from samples taken from a phenol and crude oil-degrading bacterial consortium, (Okuta *et al.*, 1998). Cowan *et al.* (2005) reported the use of gene-specific PCR to probe communities for microorganisms with specific metabolic or degradation capabilities. The biodegradative abilities of these microbial communities were assessed by screening the metagenomic DNA obtained for the presence of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase and chlorocatechol dioxygenase genes.

#### **1.5 Next Generation Sequencing**

The analysis of environmental DNA using specific gene markers has been a key application for next generation sequencing technologies in the field of ecology and environmental research. New technologies are being rapidly developed using next generation sequencing (NGS) and therefore allowing for more broad and robust applications in environmental DNA research (Shokralla *et al.*, 2012).

The conventional method of DNA sequencing approach was introduced by Sanger sequencing in 1977 and can recover up to 1 kb of sequence data from a single specimen at a time. With the recent advances of NGS technologies, thousands to tens of millions of sequencing reads in parallel can be generated. This massive parallel sequencing capacity can generate sequence reads from fragmented libraries of a specific genome (i.e. genome sequencing); from a pool of cDNA library fragments generated through reverse transcription of RNA molecules (i.e. RNAseq or transcriptome sequencing); or from pooled PCR-amplified molecules (i.e. amplicon sequencing) (Shokralla *et al.*, 2012). In relation to all three, sequences are generated without the need of a conventional, vector-based cloning methods that is typically used to amplify and separate DNA templates (Mardis 2008a).

Since the introduction of NGS in 2005, the high-throughput method has been faced with many challenges. The first being the being the total output of the sequencing experiment in relation to the cost and the labour used. A third challenge exists with regards to the amplification step prior to the sequencing This amplification step includes different sources of PCR bias, formation of chimeric sequences and secondary structure-related issues (Mardis 2008a; Shendure & Ji 2008).

New NGS technologies promise to fundamentally change the nature of genomics-based studies, especially when coupled with the computational algorithms necessary to analyse their vast sequencing output (Mardis 2008b).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

27

#### 1.6 Aims and objectives of study

The Water Research Commission (WRC) has funded many studies performed at the Biocatalysis and Technical Biology (BTB) Research Group in the use of BSFs for the treatment of synthetic winery wastewater. During the course of these projects, optimization of molecular fingerprinting techniques to monitor the effects of amendments with synthetic winery wastewater on the microbial communities was conducted (Ramond *et al.*, 2012). The experiments performed together with members of the Institute for Microbial Biotechnology and Metagenomics (IMBM) at the University of the Western Cape (UWC), showed the presence of complex bacterial communities contributing to the remediation of winery wastewater in these BSFs.

This Masters project involved the use of pilot-scale BSFs that were amended with synthetic winery wastewater over a 31-week period. The main aims of the study were:

- To monitor the changes in bacterial and fungal communities in response to amendment with synthetic winery wastewater through the use of molecular fingerprinting techniques;
- To determine the degradation of organic and inorganic constituents in the synthetic winery wastewater;
- To perform a functional bacterial study for the biodegradation of ethanol and phenolics using qPCR

   WESTERN CAPE

#### 1.7 Outline of thesis

The thesis is arranged as follows: Chapter 1 covers the literature and background of this study; Chapter 2 provides a detailed description of the methods and materials used in this study; the results and discussion are presented in Chapter 3; and lastly the general discussion of the study is given in Chapter 4.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Biological sand filters (BSFs)

#### 2.1.1 Set-up and mode of operation of the BSFs

In this study, three BSFs containing Phillipi sand were used; two experimental systems (P1 and P2) and a control system (PC). Each polyethylene tank (173 cm in length, 106 cm in width) was packed to a depth of 30 cm (Figure 2.1). All BSFs were housed in an outdoor, undercover area in order to mimic environmental conditions while avoiding exposure to direct precipitation and sunlight that could influence the concentration of the feeding and amendment solutions.



**Figure 2.1:** Schematic of BSFs (A) (Ramond *et al.*, 2013) and actual set-up of BSFs on site at CPUT (B) (Welz *et al.*, 2011)

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

All BSFs were operated in batch mode: Feed/wastewater was distributed over the surface of the inlet twice weekly via drip irrigation at a rate of 0.67 L min<sup>-1</sup>. Before feeding/amendment, the outlet was plugged to ensure flooding of the surface and to increase the hydraulic retention time (HRT). Each BSF was unplugged 48 hours after the commencement of feeding. Once unplugged, flow through the BSF was allowed to proceed uninterrupted for 24 hours. In this project, the term "feeding" refers to the application of a dilute concentration of basal nutrients to the substrate of the BSFs in order to support the growth of consistent microbial communities in the BSFs during an establishment phase. The term "amendment" is used to describe the application of wastewater during an experimental phase.

#### 2.1.2 Analyses of sand samples

Analyses on sand samples were performed (in triplicate) according to the methods described by the non-affiliated soil analysis committee (1990) at Bemlab (Strand, Western Cape). The following analyses were performed:

RUL HIS

- CaCO<sub>3</sub> equivalents (eq.) by titration with HCI
- PH, measured in a KCI solution
- Mechanical fraction (%)
- Available micronutrients (P, K, Cu, Zn, Mn, B, Fe), heavy metals (Cd, Pb, As, Hg, Sb) and exchangeable cations and cation exchange capacity (Na+, K+, Ca++, Mg++) using a Varian® MPX ICP-OES spectrophotometer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) after extraction according to standard methods
- > The major elements in the sand samples were determined by X-ray fluorescence (XRF).

#### 2.1.3 Feeding/amendment and loading regime

When performing comparative studies with BSFs it is important that the microbial communities within the BSFs are equilibrated (i.e. formed stable populations, with similar representatives in all experimental BSFs) and previous studies have shown that a 90-day establishment period is required for microbial populations to be equilibrated (Ramond *et al.*, 2013). Thus prior to the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, all BSFs were fed with 1 g yeast extract (Biolab<sup>®</sup>, Midrand, RSA cat no: HG000BX6.500) and 0.3 g D(+) glucose (Merck<sup>®</sup>, Whitehouse station, USA, cat no: SAAR2676020EM) dissolved in 40 L tap water and fed twice a week for a 3 month equilibration phase.

During the experimental phase/s, the BSFs P1 and P2 were amended with synthetic winery wastewater (Table 2.1), while the control BSF (PC) was supplemented with glucose and yeast extract (identical to feed during the equilibration phase). Table 2.2 shows the COD concentrations of each of the components of the synthetic winery wastewater over the 31 week period.

The theoretical COD (COD<sub>a</sub>) for each component of the feeding solution was calculated as follows:

Theoretical COD (COD<sub>t</sub>) values were determined using the equation:

$$COD_{t} = \frac{8(4x+y-2z)}{(12x+y+16z)} mg COD/ mg C_{x}H_{y}O_{z}.... Equation1$$

From Eq. (1), the COD<sub>t</sub> values were calculated for each component of the synthetic winery wastewater (Appendix B). The operational parameters are given in Table 2.1.

	Gallic acid (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Vanillin (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Ethanol (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Acetic acid (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Glucose (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Final conc (CODmg L <sup>-1</sup> )
Week 1-4	25	25	250	200	0	527
	50	50	500	400	0	1027
	100	100	1000	800	0	2027
Week 5-7	25	25	250	200	27	527
Week 8-10	100	100	1000	800	27	2027
Week 26-28	25	25	25	0	227	527
Week 29-31	100	100	1000	0	827	2027

Table 2.1: Composition in COD terms and final COD concentration of synthetic winery wastewater

#### **Table 2.2:** Operational parameters applied during the experimental period

	week	PC	P1, P2
HLR (L/m³sand.day¹)	all	22.9	22.9
OLR (gCOD/m³sand.day¹)	5-7, 26-28	0.6	12.0
	8-10, 29-31	0.6	48.0
Influent COD (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	5-7, 26-28	27	527
	8-10, 29-31	27	2027

HLR = hydraulic loading rate OLR = organic loading rate

COD = chemical oxygen demand

COD, OLR values include contributions by glucose

#### 2.1.4 System hydraulic conductivity (SHC)

The hydraulic conductivity was determined by collecting effluent from each BSF over the period of 90 s in a measuring cylinder and the results expressed as the volume collected per hour for each cubic metre of sand. These times were initially determined as the period taken to collect between 0.5 and 1 L effluent.



#### 2.2 Sampling

#### 2.2.1 Core sand samples

Sand samples were taken from pre-designated sites using a Perspex® corer (internal diameter of 2.5 cm) sealed with a rubber stopper (Figure 2.2) from the middle of each BSF before the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (baseline, week 0). Three samples were taken from each BSF. Surface fractions were collected from a depth of 0 to 5 cm, while deep fractions were collected at a depth of 20 to 25 cm. Composite samples were created by pooling the three core samples, from each site (either the surface or depth) and thoroughly mixing. The core sand samples were replaced after each sampling procedure with new sand.



**Figure 2.2:** Core sample of sediment collected with the Perspex pipe (sealed with a rubber stopper) used to collect surface and depth samples.

The sampling areas were predetermined and demarcated with pipette tips prior to the start of the experiment. Figure 2.3 shows this demarcation diagrammatically. Samples were taken in order from a to c. Each small square measured 10 cm x 10cm. Sampling from the top right corner of each square allowed further samples to be taken from the bottom left of each square after the third sampling (in the same order). This manner of sampling allowed maximum recovery of adjacent sediment sites before any subsequent sampling. The template was applied close to the inlet as well as close to the outlet at each BSF.



**Figure 2.3:** Template used for the determination of composite sampling order used in this study. Samples were taken at point 'a' (designated baseline samples), 'b' (designated samples after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, 'c' (designated samples after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose- end of experiment).

The samples collected were used for the molecular studies. The samples were named according to the time periods during the experiment at which the core sand samples were collected: sampling points designated as 'a' are the baseline samples (0 weeks), samples designated as 'b' are samples collected during treatment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate (11 weeks), and samples designated as 'c' are samples collected during the treatment with synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose (31 weeks). Sand samples used in this study were at the start of the experiment (baseline) and the end of the experiment (synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose).

This study ran parallel in conjunction with a PhD candidate's study that was trying to evaluate the biodegradative metabolic processes taking place in the BSFs, as well as the effect of winery wastewater composition on these processes, the treatment of two formulations of synthetic winery wastewater were compared. Both formulations contained ethanol and the phenolics, vanillin and gallic acid, which are all common components of winery effluent. In addition, the first formulation of synthetic winery wastewater contained glucose, which are typically major contributors to the organic fraction of winery wastewater (Bolzonella and Rosso, 2013; Malandra *et al.*, 2003). Therefore acetate was replaced with glucose in the second formulation, on the hypothesis that the treatment of this effluent would be more effective than the treatment of the one containing acetate.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

#### 2.3 Molecular studies

#### 2.3.1 Metagenomic nucleic acid extraction

#### 2.3.1.1 DNA extraction

Metagenomic DNA was extracted from sand samples at the start and end of the experiment using the PowerSoil DNA isolation kit (MoBio Laboratories, Inc; Radnor Pennsylvania, US) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 0.5 g of sand was used per extraction and all extractions were performed in duplicate. All metagenomic DNA samples were quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (section 2.3.2). Metagenomic DNA samples were stored at -20 °C until use.

#### 2.3.1.2 RNA extraction

RNA was isolated from sand samples at the start and end of the experiment using the RNA Powersoil Total RNA Isolation kit (MoBio Laboratories, Inc; Radnor Pennsylvania, US) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA samples were stored at -20 °C. All RNA samples were quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (section 2.3.2) and immediately synthesised to cDNA (section 2.3.5.1).

#### 2.3.2 Quantification and visualization of nucleic acids

A 2% (w/v) agarose gel (2.0 g in 100 ml 1x TAE) containing ethidium bromide (10 µg/ml) was prepared. Genomic DNA (5 µl) was mixed with 2 µl 6X loading dye (KAPA Biosystems (Pty) Ltd, Cape Town, South Africa). A KAPA universal ladder (5 µl) was included in all gels to determine the approximate size of the DNA bands. A horizontal BG-Subi MIDI Marine electrophoresis system (Baygene Biotech Limited, Beijing, China) was used for gel electrophoresis. Agarose gels were electrophoresed at 100 V for 40min and viewed under UV.

#### 2.3.3 Microbial community fingerprinting

#### 2.3.3.1 PCR amplification of bacterial and fungal genes

The 16S rRNA gene and ITS region were amplified from metagenomic samples (mDNA) isolated from each BSF using the primer sets and conditions as indicated in Table 2.3. The basic PCR reaction mix for a 50  $\mu$ I reaction consisted of1X Dream *Taq* PCR Mastermix, 0.5  $\mu$ M of each primer, 0.1% (w/v) bovine serum albumin (BSA) and between 10 to 20 ng of metagenomic DNA. Amplification was performed in a Touchgene Gradient Thermal Cycler (Techne, Gaithersburg, USA). Negative controls containing all reagents except for template DNA were included for all PCR reactions. Genomic DNA (gDNA) from the following organisms was used as a positive control:

- Streptomyces strain GSIII#1 was used for the bacterial primer set
- Trametes pubescens strain CBS 696.94 was used for the fungal primer set

All bacterial PCR products were analysed on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel and the amount of amplified product present in each sample quantified using a Nanodrop (ND-1000) spectrophotometer. For the fungal primer set all PCR products were analysed on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel, and the fragments of the expected size were excised from the gel and purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR clean-up kit (Macherey-Nagel). The purified DNA products from BSFs P1, P2, and PC were re-amplified using the ITS primers and the PCR protocol in Table 2.3, and purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR clean-up kit (Macherey-Nagel).

Primer set	Sequence (5'-3')	Amplification	Target	PCR cycles-	Reference
		region	specificity	parameters	
E9F	GAGTTTGATCCTGGCT	16S rRNA	Universal for	94 °C for 4 min	Marchesi et al.,
	CAG		bacteria		1998;
				30 cycles: 94 °C	Reysenbach and
				for 30 s, 52 °C	Pace, 1995
	E			for 30 s and 72	
	F			°C for 105 s	
		0-0-0-0	0.00		
U1510R	CTT			72 °C for 10 min	
ITS1F	CTTGGTCATTTAGAGG	5.8S, ITS1 and	Specific for fungi	Touchdown PCR	Gardes and
	AAGTAA	ITS2	<u> </u>	94 °C for 5 min	Bruns, 1993
			resource and an		1000
	U	NIVERS	TY of the	10 cycles: 94 °C	
			T OLDT	45 s, 55 °C for	
	W	ESTERN	CAPE	45 s, 72 °C for 1	
				min.	
				25 cycles: 94 °C	
				45 s, 55 °C for	
				45 s, 72 °C for 1	
ITS4	TCCTCCGCTTATTGATA			min.	White <i>et al.</i> .
	IGC			72 °C for 20 min	1990

#### Table 2.3: PCR parameters and conditions for amplification of target genes

#### 2.3.3.2 Restriction digests and T-RFLP protocol

Purified PCR products (approx. 100 ng) were digested with the restriction enzyme *Hae*III (Sigma Aldrich, Seezle, Germany) The restriction digest protocol was carried out as follows: 2  $\mu$ I of 10x restriction enzyme buffer, 10  $\mu$ I purified PCR product, 5 U/mI (final conc.) restriction endonuclease and dH<sub>2</sub>O to the final volume of 20  $\mu$ I. Digests were performed for 3 hours at 37°C. Thereafter the restriction enzyme was inactivated by heating at 80°C for 10 minutes. The digested products were analysed on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel and the size of the digested products used for the basis of the selection of internal standards to be used in T-RFLP analysis.

To perform T-RFLP analyses, the 16S rRNA gene forward primer (E9F) and the ITS forward primer ITS1F were 5'-end FAM-labelled (6-carboxyfluorescine). Prior to fragment analysis, digested samples were diluted with dH<sub>2</sub>O (1:2 dilution) and denatured at 95°C for 5 minutes and stored on ice for 5 minutes and analysed with a Applied Biosystems 3130xl DNA Sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA). Prior to analysis 4  $\mu$ l of each digested product was mixed with the ROX500 internal size standard and formamide, and analysed directly by capillary electrophoresis (50 cm capillary, POP7 polymer). Samples were analysed by the Central Analytical Facility (CAF) at Stellenbosch University.

# 2.3.3.3 T-RFLP analysis using Peak Scanner and T-REX

The precise lengths of the terminal fragments (T-RFs) were determined by capillary electrophoresis. The molecular weight standard ROX500 was included in all analyses and an acceptable error of ±1 bp was allowed. T-RFLP patterns and quality were analysed using PeakScanner™ the freeware. (version 1.0) (Applied Biosystems, https://products.appliedbiosystems.com). The data table was exported in .csv format and converted to tab-delimited text format for the online software, T-REX (http://trex.biohpc.org/; Culman et al., 2009), and a label file with sample names was created. These two tabdelimited text files were used to create large data matrices through the use of the T-REX software. Peak height was used to characterise each unique T-RF and only peaks at positions between 30 and 500 bp were considered in order to exclude T-RFs caused by primer-dimers and to obtain peaks within the linear range of the internal standard (Singh et al., 2006). The relative abundance of a T-RF in a T-RFLP profile was calculated by dividing the peak height of the sample (T-RF) by the total peak heights of all the samples (T-RFs in the profile).

T-RFs with intensities lower than 0.5%, which may have originated from background interference, were excluded from the matrices thereby minimizing the effect of the variations in the T-RFLP profiles caused by the starting quantities of DNA (Singh *et al.*, 2006; Ding *et al.*, 2013).

The above T-RFLP protocol was used for processing bacterial and fungal amplicons.

#### 2.3.3.4 Statistical analysis of terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism data

Data matrices obtained from T-REX were exported to Microsoft Excel and analysed by the software Primer 6 (Primer-E Ltd, UK). The community structures obtained from the T-RFLP data were square-root transformed to create Bray-Curtis similarity matrices used to establish the cluster analysis (group average linkage) and non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plots. The same analyses were performed for the T-RFLP data obtained for both fungal and bacterial communities. An analysis of similarity (ANOSIM), performed on the resemblance matrix, was used to test for differences in bacterial community structure between predefined groups (Clarke, 1993).



Phylogenetic analysis was performed on the bacterial T-RFLP community profiles using the programme Microbial Community Analysis III (MICA 3) (Shyu *et al.*, 2007). T-RFLP profiles from Peak Scanner were analysed in MICA 3: T-RFLP Analysis (PAT+) and the relevant parameters used for the T-RFLP analysis included primers and restriction enzyme used. The 16S rRNA gene bacterial sequence database was selected in MICA 3 for the phylogenetic analysis. The output file generated was presented graphically as pie charts.

#### 2.3.4 Reverse Transcription for quantitative PCR (qPCR)

#### 2.3.4.1 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Sand samples collected at the start and end of the experiment were used for RNA extraction (section 2.3.1.2). The RNA isolated from sand samples were used for reverse transcription PCR to obtain cDNA using the RETROscript® Kit from Applied Biosystems (AmbionLife Technologies-Thermo Scientific, California, USA) according to the manufacturer's

instructions. 1 µl of RNA was used to synthesise cDNA and the synthesised cDNA samples were stored at -20°C. All RNA and cDNA samples were quantified by Nanodrop.

#### 2.3.4.2 Selection of primers and standards for qPCR

Different primer sets (Table 2.4) were selected for the detection of the three functional genes (alcohol dehydrogenase, catechol 1,2-dioxygenase and catechol 2,3-dioxygenase). Bioinformatic analysis of the genome sequence of *Streptomyces pharetrae* strain CZA14<sup>T</sup> (a laboratory strain) showed that it had all three genes present in its genome and therefore this strain was used as a positive control for qPCR. gDNA from *S. pharetrae* CZA14<sup>T</sup> was extracted using the method by Wang *et al.* (1996) and this was used for optimization of qPCR.

Primer set	Sequence (5'-3')	Binding	Expected	Amplification	Reference	
	TT TT	positions	amplicon	region		
			size			
ADH1	CGGTGAATATGTCTGGCACTTC	Gene1:770 -	Approx	Alcohol	Quintero et	
		787bp	66 bp	dehydrogenase	<i>al</i> ., 2009	
		Gene2: 255				
ADH2	ATCTGCTGAACCGAGGTGTAAT	– 275 bp Gene3: 289	of the			
	WEST	– 307bp	APE			
	**Note: CZA14 <sup>T</sup> has three ADH genes,	Gene1: 117	907410 (B)(199730)			
	therefore gene 1-3	– 136bp				
		Gene2: 31 -				
		46 bp				
		Gene3: 322				
		– 335bp				
CCDbF	GTGTGGCA(CT)TCGACGCCGGA(CT)	194 – 205 bp	270-279	Catechol 1,2-	Leander et al.,	
			bp	dioxygenase	1998	
CCDbR	CCGCC(CT)TCGAAGTAGTA(CT)TGGGT	389 – 409 bp				
C230F	AAGAGGCATGGGGGGCGCACCGG	75 – 101 bp	Approx	Catechol 2,3-	Sei <i>et al</i> .,	
	TTCGATCA		300-400	dioxygenase	1999	
			bp			
C23OR	AACAAA(AGT)GCGC(GC)GTCATGCGG	202 – 219 bp				
					Lillis <i>et al</i> .,	
					2010	

Table 2.4: Primer sets used in the	amplification	of the genes	for qPCR
			Contraction of the local division of the loc

#### 2.3.4.3 Optimization of qPCR standards

Each reaction contained the following (final concentrations): 1X KAPA SYBGR Readymix (KAPA Biosystems (Pty) Ltd, Cape Town, South Africa), 200 nM of each primer, 0.1 % (w/v) BSA (Sigma Aldrich, Seezle Germany), 2  $\mu$ l template DNA and water to a final volume of 20  $\mu$ l. A dilution series of gDNA from CZA14<sup>T</sup> was prepared at 10 ng, 50 ng and 100 ng. qPCR was performed on a Light Cycler LC480 (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). qPCR reactions were set up in white 96-well PCR plates and included 18  $\mu$ l mastermix (included the specific primers), and 2  $\mu$ l of genomic DNA. For the initial amplification of the alcohol dehydrogenase and the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes the following amplification conditions were used: denaturation (1 cycle) at 95 °C for 3 mins; amplification (45 cycles) at 95 °C for 10 secs, 60°C for 20 secs and 72 °C for 1 sec. Amplification was followed by melting curve analysis at 95 °C for 5 secs, 65 °C for 1 min and 97 °C (continuous) for 5 °C and cooling (1 cycle) at 40 °C for 10 secs.

Purified CZA14<sup>T</sup> amplicons were sequenced. The purified metagenomic DNA sample was cloned into a pJET 1.2/blunt cloning vector (section 2.3.4.7). The two samples were cloned and sequenced to confirm that the gene of interest had been amplified.

### 2.3.4.4 Amplification of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes using qPCR

Amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was achieved using the primer set as indicated in Table 2.4 and the following PCR parameters: denaturation (1 cycle) at 95 °C for 4 mins; amplification (45 cycles) at 95 °C for 10 secs, 62°C for 20 secs and 72 °C for 1 sec; melting curve analysis at 95 °C for 5 secs, 65 °C for 1 min and 97 °C continuous for 5 °C and cooling (1 cycle) at 40 °C for 10 secs.

Once the optimised conditions were obtained for CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA, the conditions were used for the experimental samples.

40

#### 2.3.4.5 Amplification of the rpoB gene using real-time PCR

Amplification of the  $\beta$  subunit of the ribosomal RNA polymerase (*rpoB*) gene through qPCR was achieved with each reaction containing the following: 1X KAPA SYBGR Readymix (KAPA Biosystems (Pty) Ltd, Cape Town, South Africa), 200 nM of each primer, 0.1 % (w/v) BSA (Sigma Aldrich, Seezle Germany), 2 µl template DNA and water to a final volume of 20 µl. qPCR reactions were set up in white 96-well PCR plates and included 18 µl mastermix, the specific *rpoB* primer set [rpoB2-F 5'-TGGCAACATCGTTCAAGGTG-3' and rpoB148-R 5'-ATCGATGGACCATCTGCAAGG-3'(Rodrigues and Tiedje, 2007)] and 2 µl of genomic DNA. For the amplification of the *rpoB* gene the following amplification conditions were used: denaturation (1 cycle) at 95 °C for 3 mins; amplification (45 cycles) at 95 °C for 10 secs, 60°C for 20 secs and 72 °C for 1 sec. Amplification was followed by melting curve analysis at 95 °C for 5 secs, 65 °C for 1 min and 97 °C continuous for 5 °C and cooing (1 cycle) at 40 °C for 10 secs.

#### 2.3.4.6 Cloning of C23O PCR product

Competent cells were prepared based on a variation of the method described by Hanahan et al. (1991). 2x 250ml Super optimal broth (SOB) media (g/200mL: 4.0 tryptone, 1.0 yeast extract, 2ml of 1M NaCl, 500µl of 1M KCl; pH adjusted to 7.0; supplemented with 1ml each of 2M MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 2M MgSO<sub>4</sub> after autoclaving) were prepared. 2x 5ml of SOB medium was transferred aseptically to sterile 50ml flasks. The 5ml SOB medium was inoculated with 50µl of E. coli BL21(DE3) 20% glycerol stock and incubated at 37°C shaking at 160rpm overnight. 1ml of the overnight culture was transferred to the 200ml SOB medium and incubated at 37°C until OD<sub>600nm</sub> of 0.4 was reached. The cells were kept at 4°C for 20 minutes before harvesting by centrifugation in pre-chilled tubes at 5000rpm for 10 minutes (4°C). The cell pellets were gently resuspended in 80ml chilled CCMB80 buffer (10mM sodium acetate; 80mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 20mM MnCl<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O; 10mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>; 10% (v/v) glycerol, pH adjusted to 6.4, filter-sterilised with a 0.22µm filter). The cells were incubated on ice for 20 minutes, and centrifuged as described above. The cells were resuspended in 10ml CCMB80 buffer and diluted with CCMB80 buffer until OD<sub>600nm</sub> was between 1.0 and 1.5. 500µl aliquots were transferred into pre-chilled 1.5ml microfuge tubes. Aliquots were stored at -80 °C until use.

# 2.3.4.7 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the amplified catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes from the metagenomic sample

The catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene from the mDNA sample was amplified using qPCR and the amplicons were purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR clean-up kit. Cloning of the purified catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene from the metagenomic sample was performed using the CloneJET PCR cloning kit according to the manufacturer's specifications (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). Cloning of the catechol 2,3-dioxygnease gene was used to confirm that the correct gene of interest had been amplified.

Transformation of the ligation mixture into competent *E. coli* BL21cells was performed by adding 50  $\mu$ l competent *E. coli* cells and 5  $\mu$ l of the ligation mixture into a 1.5 ml microfuge tube and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were heat shocked at 42 °C for 2 minutes after which 950  $\mu$ l of the Luria Bertani (LB) broth was immediately added to the 1.5 ml microfuge tube and incubated at 37 °C (shaking) for one hour. After the recovery period, 50  $\mu$ l was spread onto Luria Bertani (LB) agar (g/L: 10 tryptone, 5 yeast extract, 5 NaCl and 15 agar) containing 100  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin. The remaining culture was centrifuged at 10 000 rpm for 5 minutes, 800 $\mu$ l of the supernatant was removed and the cells resuspended and 50  $\mu$ l was plated onto LB agar plates. Agar plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight. Positive clones were selected and re-streaked onto LB agar containing ampicillin and analysis of recombinant clones were analysed by colony PCR using pJet 1.2 forward and reverse primers according to the manufacturer's instructions.

# WESTERN CAPE

#### 2.3.5 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)

#### 2.3.5.1 Optimization of nested PCR using DGGE primers

Tag polymerase	PCR conditions	PCR cycle parameters
	1 DroomTog buffor 1 UM DNTDs 1	
Dreamiaq	1x Dream 1 ag buffer, 1 µM DNTPS, 1	94 °C tor 4 min
	µM forward and reverse primer, 0.1%	
	BSA, 1.25 U/rxn of DreamTaq DNA	20 cycles: 94 °C for 45 s, 65 °C for 45 s
	polymerase, and nuclease free water to	and 72 °C for 60 s
	50 µl	
		20 cycles: 94 °C for 30 s, 55 °C for 30 s
		and 72 °C for 60 s
		72 °C for 10 min
Phusion Taq	1x Phusion HF, 200 μM DNTPs, 0.5 μM	94 °C for 4 min
	forward and reverse primer, <250 ng	
	template DNA, 3% DMSO, 1 U/50 µL	20 cycles: 94 °C for 45 s, 64 °C for 45 s
	PCR rxn Phusion DNA polymerase and	and 72 °C for 60 s
	nuclease free water to 20 or 50 µl.	
		20 cycles: 94 °C for 30 s, 58 °C for 30 s
		and 72 °C for 60 s
		72 °C for 10 min
Hifi Taq (Hotstart)	1x KAPA HiFi buffer, 0.3 mM DNTPs,	95 °C for 4 min
	0.3 µM forward and reverse primer,	
	0.1% BSA,10-50 ng template DNA, 0.5	20 cycles: 98 °C for 20 s, 60 °C for 15 s
	U/rxn Kapa HiFi (hotstart) DNA	and 72 °C for 60 s
	polymerase and water to 25 µl	
		20 cycles: 98 °C for 20 s, 58 °C for 15 s
		and 72 °C for 60 s
	UNIVERSITY of the	e.
	UNIVERSITIOJ IN	72 °C for 5 min
	WESTERN CAPI	5

Table 2.5: Optimization of nested PCR with GC clamped catechol 2,3-dioxygenase-specific primers

The nested PCR products for CZA14<sup>T</sup> were analysed on 2% agarose gel electrophoresis prior to loading it onto the DGGE gels. Once optimized PCR conditions were obtained for CZA14<sup>T</sup>, the same conditions were used for the cDNA samples. qPCR amplification of the cDNA samples and the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase primer set was performed as described in section 2.3.6.2. The qPCR amplicons were purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR clean-up kit (Macherey-Nagel). The purified samples were amplified using conditions specified in Table 2.5. Prior to DGGE analysis amplicons were analysed by agarose electrophoresis.

#### 2.3.5.2 Optimization and setup of DGGE

Optimisation of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase DGGE was performed using CZA14<sup>T</sup> amplicons. DGGE gels were prepared as described by the manufacturer (Bio-rad). The gels were poured using a gradient former containing a 'high' (maximum amount of denaturants needed) and a 'low' (minimum amount of denaturants needed) gel solution. The 'high' and 'low' gel solutions were prepared by mixing a 0% and 100% denaturant gel stock solutions to give the required denaturant concentrations. The '0%' solution contained 40% acrylamide: N,N' bis-acrylamide (37.5:1) and 1 x TAE (40 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM glacial acetic acid, 1 mM EDTA, pH8.0) only, while the '100%' solution included the denaturants 7 M urea and 40% (v/v) deionised formamide. The denaturing gradient for each set of primers used was determined by first using a broad denaturing gradient such as 30% to 70%, then adjusting the range depending on the level of separation achieved (10% and 40%). Electrophoresis was performed using the Bio-Rad DCode™ DGGE system. The PCR products were separated at a constant 100 V for 16 hrs in 1 x TAE at a constant temperature of 60°C. After electrophoresis the gels were stained in 1 x TAE containing ethidium bromide (0.5 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) for 10–15 minutes and destained in 1 x TAE for 15 minutes.

Gels were viewed and the images captured under UV using the Alphalmage (Alphalnnotech) imaging system.

# 2.3.6 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase amplicons from the BSFs samples for phylogenetic analysis

The catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene from the samples at the deep sediments of the BSFs was amplified using qPCR and the amplicons were purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR clean-up kit (Macherey-Nagel). Cloning of the purified catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene from the samples at the deep sediments of the BSFs was performed using the CloneJET PCR cloning kit according to the manufacturer's specifications (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, USA).

Prior to transformation, the ligation mixture was purified by drop dialysis. A Merck Millipore filter disk (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) was placed in a petri dish base containing sterile water. 10 µl of the ligation mixture was added to the disk filter and allowed to stand at room temperature for one hour. After that time period the contents from the disk filter was transferred to a sterile 1.5 ml microfuge tube and stored at -20 °C.

Transformation of the ligation mixture into electrocompetent *E. coli* Epi 300 cells was performed by adding 40 µl competent *E. coli* cells and 1µl of the ligation mixture into a 1.5 ml microfuge tube. The contents were gently mixed and transferred to an electroporation cuvette. The cuvette was placed in the Gene Pulser (Bio-Rad, Philladelphia, USA) and pulsed as per the ECI programme for bacteria. Immediately after the electroporation 1 ml of LB broth was added to the cells and transferred to a sterile 1.5 ml microfuge tube and incubated at 37 °C for one hour. After the incubation period, 50 µl was spread onto LB agar containing 100µg/ml ampicillin. The remaining culture was spun down (10 000 rpm, 22 °C for 5 minutes), 800µl of the supernatant was removed and the cells resuspended and plated onto agar plates. Agar plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight. Positive clones were selected and restreaked onto LB agar containing ampicillin and analysis of recombinant clones were analysed by colony PCR using pJet 1.2 forward and reverse primers.



#### CHAPTER THREE

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter relates to assessing the impact that the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater had on the BSFs and this was achieved through using molecular fingerprinting techniques. Sand samples were collected from the BSFs at the start of the experiment and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. The effect of the synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial and fungal communities was assessed through amplification of the 16S rRNA gene and ITS region, respectively. The resultant amplicons were digested and analysed by T-RFLP. Bacterial and fungal community profiles were created using bioinformatics based programmes. The sand samples were also used to assess the expression of functional genes (alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 2,3-dioxygenase) through the use of quantitative-PCR.

#### 3.2 Biological sand filters (BSFs) set up and mode of operation

In the Cape Town area there are two types of inexpensive commercial sands that are readily available, namely Malmesbury and Phillipi sand. BSFs at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT) consist of three polyethylene tanks (173 cm in length, 106 cm in width) which contain Phillipi sand packed to a depth of 30 cm. During weeks 1-4 of the experiments, the systems were fed/amended three times per week and plugged for a 24-hour period, however unsatisfactory removal performance warranted an increase in the hydraulic retention time (HRT). Therefore, from week 5, the regime was decreased to feeding twice per week with a plug time of 48 hrs. During weeks 5-10 the BSFs were amended with synthetic wastewater containing acetate and from weeks 26-31 the BSFs were amended with synthetic wastewater containing glucose instead of acetate. For the purpose of this study, T-RFLP analysis was performed on the sand samples taken at baseline (0 weeks) and after the amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate (week 31).

Previous studies (Welz *et al.*, 2011, 2012) have shown that acetate is the most common metabolite produced during the degradation of many organics, including those present in winery wastewater (vanillin, gallic acid, acetate and ethanol). Acetate is also a major component of winery wastewater (Welz *et al.*, 2016). This resulted in the addition of acetate

to the synthetic winery wastewater used in this study. From literature it is clear that acetate plays a vital role in microbial pathways, especially pathways associated with co-enzyme A (Wolfe, 2005). Many microorganisms are able to utilize acetate for acetogenesis. *Clostridium* species are examples of organisms that are able to degrade or build-up acetate to intermediate fatty acids under anaerobic conditions.

#### 3.3 Sand sample analyses

It is known that many factors affect the growth of microorganisms and this could be negatively or positively. The presence of micro-nutrients and heavy metal concentrations, even when present in trace amounts, could lead to differences in the bacterial community structures (Carson *et al.*, 2007; Gadd, 2010). Table 3.1 represents the physical and chemical properties of the sand samples. The major component of the Phillipi sand is silicone (SiO<sub>2</sub>), comprising approximately 86% and was present as quartz in the samples. Based on mechanical fractionation the sand is predominately medium sand (41.8%). The micronutrients K, P and Fe were the most abundant metals in the sand, while heavy metals were detected in limited quantities.

ies.			
Ш.			Щ

UNIVERSITI 0/ the						
Mechanical fraction						
Clay	Silt	Fine sand	Medium	Coarse		
			sand	sand		
3.93%	1.67%	24.93%	41.80%	27.67%		
		Μ	ajor elements	*		
Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	CaO	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	K <sub>2</sub> O	MgO	SiO <sub>2</sub>	Na <sub>2</sub> O
0.31%	7.66%	0.07%	0.15%	0.15%	85.59%	0.21%
		Micro	onutrients pres	sent		
P (mg/kg)	K (mg/kg)	Cu (mg/kg)	Zn (mg/kg)	Mn (mg/kg)	B (mg/kg)	Fe (mg/kg)
4.67	7.33	0.59	0.37	0.47	0.11	12.7
		I	leavy metals			
Cd (mg/kg)	Pb (mg/kg)	As (mg/kg)	Hg (mg/kg)	Sb (mg/kg)		
0.03	0	0.31	0	0.07		
		Exch	angeable cati	ons		
Na	K	Ca	CEC	Mg		
[cmol(+)/kg]	[cmol(+)/kg]	[cmol(+)/kg]	[cmol(+)/kg]	[cmol(+)/kg]		
0.09	0.02	12.23	1.65	0.17		
Base saturation						
Na	K	Ca	Mg			
0.77%	0.16%	97.67%	1.40%			

# Table 3.1: Phillipi sand sample composition

\*Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, MnO not detected, P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub> detected in limited quantities

#### 3.4 PCR amplification of 16S rRNA bacterial gene and ITS fungal region

#### 3.4.1 Optimization of PCR conditions: bacterial primers

PCR optimization was performed by firstly comparing two DNA *Taq* polymerases: KAPA *Taq* Readymix DNA polymerase [KAPA Biosystems (Pty) Ltd, Cape Town, South Africa] and Dream *Taq* PCR Mastermix (ThermoScientific, Waltham, USA). The 16S rRNA gene PCR products of six mDNA samples extracted from BSF P1 were selected to establish the optimal amplification conditions for the universal bacterial primers E9F and U1510R (Marchesi *et al.*, 1998; Reysenbach and Pace, 1995). Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene was achieved as described in section 2.3.4.1. The approximate size of the gene of interest is in the region of 1200- 1600 bp.

Once the optimized conditions were obtained the remaining mDNA samples were amplified. Dream *Taq* (Figure 3.1 Gel B) performed better than Kapa *Taq* (Gel A), and was thus used for all future PCR reactions. A likely reason for Dream *Taq* polymerase performing better than the Kapa *Taq* is that Dream *Taq* is an enhanced DNA Polymerase that has been optimised for all types of PCR reactions including those which include PCR inhibitors (such as humic acid). The polymerase has been engineered to have enhanced yields, be more sensitive and amplify longer PCR products as compared to conventional *Taq* DNA polymerases (Life Technologies, 2015).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



### UNIVERSITY of the

**Figure 3.1:** PCR products generated using two different DNA *Taq* polymerases. Gel A represents amplicons generated with Kapa*Taq* ReadyMlx DNA polymerase and Gel B represents amplicons generated with Dream*Taq* Green PCR MasterMix. Lane 1: marker, lane 2 and 3: P1 superficial inlet, lane 4 and 5: P1 deep inlet, lane 6 and 7: P1 superficial outlet, lane 8 and 9: P1 deep outlet, lane 10 and 11: P2 superficial inlet, lane 12 and 13: positive control *Streptomyces* sp. GSIII #1 and lane 14 and 15: negative control

#### 3.4.2 Optimization of PCR conditions: fungal primers

Fungi play a significant role in bioremediation (Frey-Klett *et al.*, 2011). PCR using the ITS primers ITS1F and ITS4 required numerous optimization steps which included performing a gradient PCR by changing the annealing temperature over a temperature range of 40 to 60 °C increasing in 2 °C increments; and performing a Touchdown PCR (changing the amount of cycles at annealing temperature step of 10 cycles at 55 °C and 25 cycles at 55 °C). The presence of fungal communities was confirmed by the presence of amplified products, but in some instances two bands were detected (Figure 3.2).

PCR optimization was attempted through the method described by Manter and Vivanco (2007), and the authors suggested that the different fragment sizes (420 to 825 bp) represent three fungal classes: ascomycetes (420-806 bp), basidiomycetes (503-825 bp) and zygomycetes (653-788 bp). The positive control, *Trametes pubescens* forms part of the basidiomycete family and the presence of similar sized band (503-825 bp) observed on the agarose gel indicated that many of the sand samples are likely to contain basidiomycetes. For the samples containing two bands, each band was excised independently from the agarose gel and re-amplified separately by PCR. For several samples after the second round of PCR, additional bands were detected, probably indicating non-specific binding.



**Figure 3.2:** 2% agarose gels showing samples for BSFs P1 and PC. Gel A contains samples from BSF P1 and Gel B samples from BSF PC and the positive control used in the study, *Trametes pubescens.* 



#### 3.5 Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis

#### 3.5.1 Peak Scanner data

Bacterial and fungal community structures were assessed by T-RFLP fingerprinting using the 16S rRNA gene and ITS region as markers, respectively. Figure 3.3 represents the T-RFLP profile generated from PeakScanner. Each peak is characterised according to height and area, and represents a separate operational taxonomic unit (OTU) within each T-RFLP profile.



# **UNIVERSITY** of the

3.5.2 Non-metric dimensional scaling (N-MDS) plots and phylogenetic analysis of bacterial populations

**3.5.2.1** Assessing the effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial population at the superficial sediments of the BSFs through T-RFLP and phylogenetic The evolution of the microbial community structure was assessed through T-RFLP analysis and visualised using multidimensional scaling (MDS) plots where the distance between each point shows the degree of similarity within the community profiles of the samples. Clarke (1993) suggested that if the stress value is >0.2, then non-multidimensional scaling (NMDS) representation is random, if <0.15 it is good and if <0.1, it is ideal. Therefore, if the 2D stress value is higher than 0.15, at least one more statistical analysis, such as analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) and/or Cluster analysis must be performed to infer the NMDS representation. It can be presumed that if R >0.75 the groups are well separated, if >0.5 the groups clearly differ (despite overlap), if <0.25 then the groups are not different (Clarke and Gorley, 2006).

In this study, the ANOSIM analyses of the T-RFLP profiles showed that significant different bacterial communities were found in the superficial sediments (R = 0.407 and p < 0.05) and the deep sediments (R = 0.591 and p < 0.05) when analysing the samples before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. The overall fungal model also showed differences at the superficial sediments (R = 0.532 and p < 0.05) and the deep sediments (R = 0.356 and p < 0.05). Differences were observed when comparing the R values for each niche, however the p value for each showed no significance between the niches (p value< 0.05).

To allow more thorough analyses of the effect of winery wastewater on the bacterial communities in the different sediments, separate NMDS plots were compiled for the superficial (Figure 3.4) and deep (Figure 3.8) sediments. The plot represents data at 0 (baseline or start of experiment) and 31 weeks after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, indicated with the letter 'F'. The experimental BSFs were compared to the control BSF PC. The stress value indicated is 0.08 and according to Clarke (1993) this is ideal.

Before amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (baseline), all points representing the bacterial communities in the superficial sediments share 40% similarity, expect for the outlying group the control (PC) which only shares an overall 20% similarity with the other baseline samples on the NMDS plot (Figure 3.4). After amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater, all points representing the bacterial communities shared 60% similarity, and only 40% similarity to the controls, as compared to the baseline communities showing that the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater had an effect on the bacterial communities.

After amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater, the points representing the bacterial communities from the inlet and outlet of each BSF cluster closer to one another than non-related samples. In contrast, at the start of the experiment the bacterial communities do not cluster together. The shift in bacterial communities after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater of the experimental systems P1 and P2 is evident by the distance between the points when looking at the arrows, confirming that indeed amendment with synthetic winery wastewater had an effect on the bacterial communities and showing that the organisms become more similar after amendment. Unexpectantly, when comparing the experimental systems to the control BSF PC at the start and end of the experimental systems at the end of the experiment. The shift in the control BSF PC could be due to a constant seasonal shift in microbial communities. Taking this into consideration the shifts observed in microbial

communities in the experimental systems could have been due to the temporal/seasonal (or both) changes. However, as the experimental and control communities are different at the end of the experiment it is likely that community shifts is due to differences in the chemical milieu resulting from substrate degradation gradients from inlet to outlet (Appendix A) rather than temporal changes (or possibly a combination of both factors). From these results, one can deduce that the addition of synthetic winery wastewater had an impact on the bacterial community structure in the superficial sediments (Figure 3.4). The changes in bacterial communities were confirmed by the ANOSIM (superficial sediments global R value 0.407 and deep sediments R value 0.591). Figure 3.5 shows the position of each BSF system used in this study (P1, P2 and PC).

Several hypothesis could be made on why a shift between systems were observed, one being from Figure 3.4 it is clear that the control system changed the most as compared to the experimental BSFs, this could be due to the fact that there were some problems in establishing the population in this wetland at the start of the experiment (leakage in the system). Additionally, the two experimental systems P1 and P2 were situated on the opposite side as the control system PC (which was less protected than the experimental systems). The different positioning of the BSFs between the experimental and control systems could contribute to the shifts of the bacterial communities on the NMDS plots (Figure 3.5). This could therefore be the reason for the PC system being an outlying group as compared to BSF P1 and BSF P2 at the superficial sediments at the start of the experiment. Another hypothesis could be made that the shifts observed in all the NMDS could be on the basis of the phenomenon known as bacterial succession. Bacterial succession is when organisms changes over time or if they have been placed into a new environment where changes have been made to it (e.g. pH). Drastic changes could lead to one species outcompeting the present ones for nutrients leading to the demise of the primary species (Dini-Andreote et al., 2014). The dynamics of bacterial communities in engineered eco-systems are influenced by both deterministric and stochastic factors. Deterministic factors includes, competition and niche-specific variables while stochastic factors includes microbial dispersal by random events of colonization/extinction or fluctuations in the influent composition e.g. nitrogen and organics loads or presence of toxic compounds (Dini-Andreote et al., 2014; Cydzik-Kwiatkowska and Zielin`ska, 2016). A study by Zhang et al., 2011 assessed the removal of acetone, butanol and ethanol fermentation wastewater through the use of an anaerobic baffled reactor. The reactor yielded ~90% removal of COD of methane and through the spatial community succession patterns populations such as hydrogenotrophic methanogens like *Methanoculleus* sp. IIE1 (ABRA01)

and an acetogen like *Acetoanaerobium noterae* (ABRB10), were identified as possible key species for oxidization of solvents or VFAs by analysis of spatial community succession.



**Figure 3.4:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis similarity of the microbial community structures in the superficial sediments of the BSFs. P1 and P2 denote the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0.08). Sup In: superficial inlet and Sup Out: superficial outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.



**Figure 3.5:** Set-up of BSFs: Phillipi control (PC), replicate pairs P1/P2 and P3/P4. Three BSFs used in study P1, P2 and PC (Welz *et al.*, 2011)

For the phylogenetic analysis of the bacterial communities' structure, the T-RFLP profiles for both the experimental systems and the control system were exported from PeakScanner and uploaded into the software MICA3. These profiles were compared to the MICA3 16S rRNA gene database. The output file generated from MICA3 represented the possible "hits" (species) that could be in the sand samples. This was performed for the two experimental systems (P1 and P2) and the control system (PC) at all four sites (superficial inlet and outlet, and the deep inlet and outlet). The phylogenetic data was compared to the T-RFLP data in order to corroborate the changes in community structure observed and confirming that amendment with synthetic winery wastewater resulted in changes in diversity of organisms present. Table 3.2 shows how many TRFs were detected before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. This TRFs data was used to establish the MICA3 pie charts and organisms possibly present in the BSFs. Each niche of the BSFs were shown below with 0 representing the start of the experiment and F at the end of the experiment. Table 3.2 shows an increase in TRFs from day 0 to at the end of the 31-week period.
BSF	Sup In		Sup Out		Deep In		Deep Out	
	0	F	0	F	0	F	0	F
P1	29	48	23	38	4	17	6	22
P2	26	35	29	35	14	27	12	18
PC	7	31	9	32	8	15	6	13

**Table 3.2:** TRFs detected before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. Values represented after normalisation of data.

From the pie charts (Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.7) it is clear that after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater there is a drastic change in the diversity of the bacterial population present within each sample at the superficial sediments of the BSFs. Figure 3.8 and Figure 3.9 shows the changes in diversity of the possible organisms present at the deep sediments of the BSFs. The segment labelled 'Other' in the pie charts represents any type of uncultured bacterium [including uncultured bacterium, proteobacterium ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ), and uncultured rumen bacterium] that was identified by MICA3. Although a large percentage of the 'hits' of possible organisms were most related to unculturable organisms, many Gram negative organisms (Enterobacter, Pantoea species, Vibrio, and Shewanella), Gram positive organisms not associated with sand (Psychrobacter, Serrodes, Deinococci, Lactobacillus, and marine organisms (Marinobacter, Magnetococcus) and Aeromonas, Pseudoalteromonas, Pseudomonas, and Roseobacter) were identified. Table 3.3 and Table 3.4 highlights key organisms detected in this study that have previously been identified to play an important role as sand organisms. The MICA3 data identified Gram negative bacteria and marine organisms, and literature has shown that some of these organisms are involved in the degradation of compounds as discussed below.

Bacteria have the unique biochemical ability to oxidise compounds into smaller subunits which can enter various metabolic pathways. Each genera identified could contribute to a specific metabolic function within the BSFs to treat wastewater effluent. Complete degradation of the wastewater components may be achieved by the sequential metabolism of two or more organisms (Cloete and Muyima, 1997). A number of environmental factors affect the presence of microbial populations in wastewater and the rate of biochemical reactions. The most important factors being temperature, pH, availability of nutrients, and the toxicity and inhibitory compounds (Beltran *et al.*, 1999). Studies have shown that microorganisms that occur naturally in winery wastewater are adapted to the conditions within the wastewater and should be useful in the biological treatment of that specific wastewater (Petruccioli *et al.*, 2002). Microbial degradation of compounds present in several

wastewaters has been explained in literature (Pant and Adholeya, 2007). A study by Ghosh et al. (2004) showed bacterial strains that were isolated from soil exposed to distillery spent wash effluent were capable of degrading recalcitrant compounds. These organisms included Pseudomonas, Enterobacter, Stenotrophomonas, Aeromonas, Acinetobacter and Klebsiella species. Malandra et al. (2003) reported the presence of microorganisms in biofilms in a rotating biological contactor (RBC) that was used for the treatment of winery wastewater. A synthetic winery wastewater was prepared in the study and the biofilm communities were assessed through T-RFLPs. The fingerprinting and identification of bacteria present in an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) bioreactor which was used for the treatment of canning wastewater was also performed (Keyser et al., 2007). Through the study, different granules that were collected contained a consortium of bacteria, each consisting of a different bacterial population and each with a specific metabolic function which contributed to the overall functionality and stability of the bioreactor system. A total of 68 different bacterial species were identified through sequencing. In addition, it was observed that each granule had a distinct PCR-based DGGE phylotype (unique band) and some phylotypes were consistent in all samples irrespective of wastewater type and the sequence information obtained indicated that only 35% of the identified bacteria were unculturable. The culturable bacteria identified included Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Bacteroides, Enterococcus, Clostridium, Shewanella, Vibrio, and Rhodococcus species (Keyser et al., 2007). The results obtained in this study (presented below) are comparable to those of Keyser et al. (2007).

The hits generated by MICA3 identified potential organisms which could be present in the BSFs. These hits could truly be misdirecting which novel organisms could possibly be present. From Table 3.3, it can be seen that at the surface the BSF P1 at the start of the experiment many marine organisms (*Aeromonas*, *Pseudoalteromonas*) were present, while after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater more sand organisms were present (*Streptomyces, Acidobacteria*). This shift may reflect that sand organisms are more suited to the nutrients available in the synthetic wastewater and are able to breakdown of the phenolic compounds present. Although the MICA3 data showed organisms not associated with the sand (*Paracoccus, Fibrobacter, Chloroflexi*,) it showed that the addition of the synthetic winery wastewater had an effect of the diverse microbial organisms present in the BSFs. Additional experiments (DGGE and clone sequencing) was performed in order to confirm the presence of these organisms detected through MICA3.

**Table 3.3:** Phylogenetic profiles of the possible organisms present at the superficial sediments of the BSFs

BSF niches	Organism of interest/ associated with sand	Application	Reference
<b>Superficial Inlet</b> : Start of experiment (baseline)	P1: Bacteriodetes	This phylum composes of three large classes of Gram negative non- sporeforming, either anaerobic or aerobic bacteria. They are also found in diverse environments including soil, sea water, and guts and skins of animals.	(Krieg <i>et al</i> ., 2010)
	P2: Sarcina	<b>Sarcina</b> is a genus of the Gram- positive cocci belonging to the <i>Clostidiaceae</i> . The genus <i>Sarcina</i> is known for its synthesis of cellulose. Species of <i>Sarcina</i> have been associated with soil, mud, and guts of rabbits and guinea pigs.	(Ross and Mayer, 1991)
	PC:Actinobacterium	Acinobacterium: The class Actinobacteria represents a large group of bacteria that are	(Embley and Stackebrandt, 1994)
		morphologically complex. Actinobacteria have been discovered in a variety of environments that include composts, marine environments, manure, waste water and they have also been associated with buildings and artworks.	(Groth <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Gottlieb, 1973)
After the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (SWW)	P1:Acidobacteria, Fibrobacter, Micromonospora, Propionibacterium, Rhodococcus, Streptomyces 5 http://etd.u	Acidobacteria, members of this phylum of bacteria are diverse and found in many environments, especially in soils. Many of these organisms are acidophilic and first identified in 1991 (Acidobacterium 8capsulatum). These organisms have been identified to be a contributor to many ecosystems especially being abundant in soil.	(Barns <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Rappe and Giovannoni, 2003; Eichorst <i>et al.</i> , 2007)

	<i>Fibrobacter</i> , organisms responsible for the degradation of plant based	(Montgomery <i>et al.</i> , 1988)
	cellulose in rumen bacteria.	
P2:Propionibacterium, Rhodococcus,	<i>Micromonospora</i> , are Gram positive, spore forming, aerobic organisms that form branched mycelium. These organisms are predominantly found in soil and water with some species known for the production of secondary metabolites such as aminoglycoside antibiotics.	(Kroppenstedt <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
Streptomyces	<b>Propionibacterium</b> , is a Gram positive, rod-shaped genus of bacteria that is well known for its unique ability to synthesise propionic acid by using transcarboxylase enzymes.	(Cheung <i>et al.</i> , 1975)
UNIVER	Most species of <i>Rhodococcus</i> are pathogenic. Some strains of <i>Rhodococcus</i> are important for their ability to breakdown a wide variety of compounds to produce bioactive steroids, acrylamide and acrylic acid.	(McLeod <i>et al</i> ., 2006)
WESTER	They have been isolated from environments including soil, water and eukaryotic cells. They are also known for their use as biological systems to convert cheap starting material into more valuable compounds. This includes their ability to metabolize harmful environmental pollutants such as toluene and naphthalene and herbicides.	(Treadway <i>et al</i> ., 1999).

		Members of the genus <b>Streptomyces</b> specifically, is well- known for the production of antibacterials, anti-tumour agents, antifungals and herbicides. The genus <i>Streptomyces</i> has become industrially important due to its ability to degrade or form complex polymers such as lignin, melanins, and many others.	(Willey <i>et al.</i> , 2008) (Claus and Decker, 2006)
	PC: No organisms identified.		
Superficial Outlet: Start of experiment (baseline)	P1:Bacteriodetes P2: Bacteriodetes, <i>Propionibacterium</i>	As above of the As above APE	
	PC:Azospira, Rhodococcus	Only two species of the genus <b>Azospira</b> have been described namely Azospira oryzae and Azospira restricta which are both nitrogen fixing bacteria.	(Falkow and Dworkin, 2006)
After the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (SWW)	P1: Acidobacteria, Corynebacterium, Dietzia, Microbispora, Micromonospora, Nocardiopsis, Propionobacterium, Rhodococcus, Thermus	The genus <b>Corynebacterium</b> was first described by Collins and Cummins, (1986) as Gram positive, non-spore forming, catalase positive, rod shaped bacteria. They occur	Collins and Cummins (1986)

	commonly in soil, water, plants and food products. They are also important industrially for their production of amino acids and nucleotides; biological conversion of steroids; degradation of hydrocarbons; aging of cheese; and the production of enzymes. Some species of <i>Corynebacterium</i> can produce secondary metabolites similar to antibiotics and antitumor	(Constantinides, 1980) (Cooper <i>et al.</i> , 1979) (Lee <i>et al.</i> , 1985)
	L-lysine production is specific to <i>Corynebacterium</i> in which core enzymes are manipulated through genetic engineering to produce NADPH through the pentose phosphate pathway.	(Milas and Scott, 1978) (Kjeldsen, 2008)
	Multiple strains of <i>Dietzia</i> , have been found in soil, deep sea sediments, marine aquatic life, and soda lakes. Some of <i>Dietzia</i> species have been described as human pathogens. One of the strains	(Gerday and Glansdorff, 2007)
WESTER	<i>D. cinnamea</i> is capable of degrading a wide variety of petroleum hydrocarbons which have been described as being beneficial to many environmental implications to the world's current situation.	(Von der Weid, 2006)
	<i>Microbispora</i> is a genus belonging to the Class <i>Actinomycetales</i> . With one species <i>Microbispora corallina</i> being isolated from Thai soil.	(Nakajima <i>et al</i> ., 1999)
	Nocardiopsis is a genus of aerobic,	(Nocardiopsis, 2003)

	Gram positive soil bacteria similar to <i>Nocardia</i> but differ in cell wall type.	
	<b>Thermus</b> is a genus of thermophillic bacteria, belonging to the Deinococcus-Thermus group. This group consists of the well-known species namely. <i>Thermus aquaticus</i>	Brock and Freeze, 1969; Chung <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
	which is the source of the heat resistant enzyme called <i>Taq</i> - polymerase which is used in molecular biology.	(Brock and Freeze, 1969)
P2:Azospira, Clostridium	<b>Clostridium</b> is a Gram positive bacteria. Some species are present as human pathogens and these include, <i>C. botulinum</i> which is capable of producing a botulinum toxin in foods and wounds <i>C. perfringens</i> which can cause a wide variety of symptoms from food	(Wells and Wilkins, 1996a)
UNIVER	poisoning to gas gangrene; as well as it can be used as a replacement for yeast in salt rising breads. Some species of <i>Clostridium</i> have commercial use and this includes <i>C.</i> <i>thermocellum</i> which can use lignocellulosic waste to generate	(Wells and Wilkins, 1996b)
	ethanol thus making it a promising candidate for the production of bioethanol. The properties of <i>C.</i> <i>thermocellum</i> are that it requires no oxygen and is thermophillic.	(Demain <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
PC: Actinobacterium	As explained above	

### • Superficial Inlet

P1 baseline:



63



**Figure 3.6:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial community structure at the superficial inlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

### Superficial Outlet P1 baseline





#### P1 after amendment



#### P2 baseline

### P2 after amendment





represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

UNIVERSIT	Y of the
WESTERN	CAPE

# 3.5.2.2 Assessing the effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial population at the deep sediments of the BSFs through T-RFLP and phylogenetic analysis

The effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the bacterial community structures at the deep sediments is depicted in Figure 3.8. Before amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (baseline), all points representing the bacterial communities in the deep sediments shared 40% similarity, with the outlying group being BSF P2 sharing 20% similarity to the other baseline points on the NMDS plot (Figure 3.8). Despite the two experimental systems (P1 and P2) being treated identically during the experiment, slight changes in the bacterial community structure were observed. However, this is to be expected due to different bacterial populations being present at the start of the experiment. Another possibility is that some organisms were dormant in one wetland at the start of the experiment and were only revived when the BSF was treated with the synthetic winery wastewater. The differences in community structure also shows that the establishment phase (3 months) was successful.

The control BSF PC at the start of the experiment (baseline – 0 weeks) shared an overall 40% similarity with the experimental system P1 and a 20% similarity to P2. At baseline, points representing the bacterial communities from the inlet and outlet of each BSF cluster closer to one another compared to points from any of the other replicates. In contrast, after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, the points representing the bacterial communities at the inlet and outlet of both experimental BSFs (P1, P2) group closer together (showing 40% similarity to one another) and only 20% similarity to the control. The two experimental systems P1 and P2 appear to be more similar after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, showing that amendment had an effect on the bacterial communities and likely resulted in a shift towards organisms that are better adapted to synthetic wastewater. No change in bacterial community structure was observed for BSF PC. This is expected as it is the control systems and it was only fed with basal nutrients. Thus, similar trends were noted in the deep and superficial sediments, where the addition of the synthetic winery wastewater had an impact on the bacterial community structures and it was evident that the control samples are not as different as the superficial control BSFs.

Part of this study was to assess the presence of functional genes within the sand samples of the BSFs. The data obtained from the T-RFLP analysis showed that amendment with synthetic wastewater had an effect on the bacterial community structure. This was evident through the shift in the communities between experimental and control systems Changes observed in the bacterial populations after amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater as compared to when the systems were being fed basal nutrients could be due to the addition of phenolics to the systems which could have enhanced the growth of specific bacteria or resulted in the germination of dormant species. Conversely, the phenolic compounds may have had a toxic/inhibitory effect on key species within the population. The degradation of the phenolic compounds present in the synthetic winery wastewater could have also led to the development of new populations involved in producing secondary metabolites through different metabolic pathways. Minor shifts in communities may also have been due to changes in environmental conditions.



**Figure 3.8:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the microbial community structure at the deep sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0.13). Deep Inlet and Deep Outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

Table 3.4 represents the data generated from the phylogenetic profiles of the bacterial community at the deep inlet. It was observed that most degradation of phenolic compounds present in the BSFs were degraded at the deeper sediments of the BSFs (chemical data not shown). The reason for the 95% similarity cut off (regarded as 'other') was that we were only trying to identify organisms in degradation pathways and/or organisms that could be present in the sand. From Figure 3.8, after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, radical changes in the bacterial population structure were observed as compared to the start (baseline) of the experiment.

At the deep inlet of the BSFs one can observe a change in the diversity of organisms from the experimental system to the control and this is a constant trend throughout the niches (superficial inlet and outlet and the deep outlet) (Figures 3.6, 3.7 and Figure 3.9, 3.10). Different organisms were present in the experimental BSF systems (P1 and P2). In addition, differences were observed when comparing the control BSF PC to the experimental system despite all three systems being fed with basal nutrients at the start of the experiment (baseline). Differences in the surface and deep NMDS plots could also be due to the surface of the BSFs being more exposed to elements (weather and wind), and is supported by the fact that the deeper samples which are not as exposed to changing weather/wind conditions and are likely to experience more stable environmental conditions are more similar.

Differences in diversity of species were observed between experimental systems after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. Similar organisms (at the genus level) were detected between the niches (superficial and deep sediments), as the bacterial communities of the experimental BSF and control BSF PC systems group together on the NMDS plots (Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.8). For example, at the start of the experiment (baseline) the outlying group is BSF P2. When comparing the organisms present, *Clostridium* species are present at both the start of the experiment for BSF P2 and BSF PC and *Actinobacterium* was present in BSF P1 and BSF P2 after the amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater. It is also hypothesised that each genus present in the sand plays a vital role in either degradation of compounds to produce other secondary metabolites or the organisms could possibly be pathogenic. Each organism has a role as sand organisms in the degradation or build-up of compounds in the BSFs.

When assessing the metabolite profiles of the sugars, alcohols and acids present at the surface sediments and the deep sediments, differences were noted. When the BSFs were amended with the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate (labelled 'b') as compared to the when they were amended with synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose (labelled 'c') (Figure 2.3) there were higher concentrations of ethanol and lower

concentrations of propionate. When the BSFs were amended with the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate there were higher concentrations of lactate and residual glucose from the surface and deep sediments, respectively (refer to Appendix A).

The redox potential of each BSF was determined as part of a parallel study. The redox status (Eh) was consistently higher in the surface sediments [average:  $102 \pm 33$  mV; range: 28 to 157 mV (n = 48)] than in the deep sediments [average:  $25 \pm 33$  mV, range: -18 mV to 92 mV (n = 48)]. The conclusions for this separate study was that the degradation of non-phenolic compounds, with the exception of acetate, was more readily degraded under reduced redox conditions of the deep niches. However, these findings are contrary to what literature has stated. Literature states that when VSSF and HSSF CWs are operated in batch mode the oxygen transfer rates are enhanced due to the atmospheric gases that is drawn into the substrate as a result of a higher redox status during these cycles when compared to conventional HSSF systems operated in continuous mode (Fan *et al.*, 2013, Tietz *et al.*, 2008).

The changes observed in the metabolite profiles (Appendix A) of both the surface and deep sediments of the BSFs, correlates to the diversity of organisms detected after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. It is pivotal to note that changes in the redox status of the BSFs also could relate to the selection of organisms found in the deep and surface sediments of the BSFs. Previous studies by Welz *et al.* (2011) and Ramond *et al.* (2013) showed that ethanol is readily degraded in the experimental systems. Therefore, in the present study one could hypothesize that the organisms present in the experimental systems are involved in the Krebs cycle (discussed in 3.4.3). Chemical analysis of the effluent taken from the BSFs (Figure S1 and S2), showed trace amounts of catechol build-up through the systems, therefore it was decided to focus on two functional genes, namely alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol dioxygenase and the expression of the genes encoding for these enzymes was determined by qPCR in this study.

Table 3.4: Phylogenetic profiles of the possible organisms present at the deep sediments of the BSFs

BSF niches	Organism of interest/ associated with sand	Application	Reference
<b>Deep Inlet</b> : Start of experiment (baseline)	P1: Carnobacterium	<b>Carnobacterium</b> forms part of the family <i>Leuconostocaceae</i> . The following species namely <i>C. divergens</i> and <i>C. maltaromaticum</i> have been discovered in the wild as well as in food products that may grow anaerobically	(Leisner <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
	P2: Prevotella and Clostridium species	<b>Prevotella</b> species are culturable microbes associated with rumen and gut of animals where they play a role in the breakdown of proteins and carbohydrates of food; and humans where they are present as opportunistic pathogens.	(Guillot and Mouton, 1997)
	PC: Clostridium, Geobacillus, Rhodococcus and Sarcina species.	<b>Sarcina</b> is a genus of Gram positive cocci bacteria that form part of the Class <i>Clostridia</i> and <i>Sarcina</i> species are able to synthesise cellulose.	(Ross <i>et al</i> ., 1991)
	WESTEI	<b>Rhodococcus</b> is a genus of aerobic, non-sporolating gram positive bacteria closely related to <i>Mycobacterium</i> and <i>Corynebacterium</i> .	(van der Geize and Dijkhuizen, 2004) ble
After the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (SWW)	P1: Alteromonas, Pseudomonas and Pseudoalteromonas.	These species are predominantly found in sea water. <i>Pseudoalteromonas</i> was described as a new genus by Gauthier <i>et al.</i> , (1995) and split from <i>Alteromonas</i> through rRNA-DNA analysis. <i>Pseudomonas</i> is the genus belonging to the family	(Gauthier <i>et al.</i> , 1995) (Madigan and Martinko, 2005)

		Pseudomonadaceae. The genus has been excellent to study through its ability to create a great deal of metabolic functions. The most studied species include, <i>P.</i> <i>aeruginosa</i> as its role as a human pathogen; <i>P. syringae</i> described as the plant pathogen and the soil bacterium <i>P. putida.</i>	
	P2: Actinobacterium and <i>Streptomyces</i> species	As explained in the Superficial sediments (Table 3.3)	
	PC: Acinetobacter species	Acinetobacter is a genus of gram negative bacteria belonging to the Class Gammaproteobacteria. They are important soil organisms that contribute to the mineralization of aromatic compounds.	(Rokhbakhsh-Zamin <i>et al</i> ., 2012)
Deep Outlet: Start of experiment (baseline)	P1: Bacteriodes	As explained in the Superficial sediments (Table 3.3)	
	WESTEI	This group of bacteria contains isolates including aerobic thermophiles (grows in high temperatures and uses oxygen), anoxygenic phototrophs (uses light for photosynthesis) and anaerobic halorespirers (uses halogenated organics)	(Sutcliffe, 2010)
	P2: Chloroflexi	<b>Chloroflexi</b> bacteria also known as the green non sulphur bacteria are abundant in wastewater treatment process. They are classified as	(Björnsson <i>et al</i> ., 2002)

		filamentous bacteria and have been associated with many sludge filaments.	
	PC: Colwellia	Not associated with soil	
After the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater (SWW)	P1:Actinobacterium, <i>Corynebacterium</i>	As explained in the Superficial sediments (Table 3.3)	
	P2: Paracoccus	Not associated with soil	
	PC: Bacteriodetes,	As explained in the Superficial	
	Propioniopacterium	sediments (Table 3.3)	



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE





Figure 3.9: Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial community structure at the deep inlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.



### Deep Outlet

P1 baseline

P1 after amendment



http://etd.uwc.ac.za/



**Figure 3.10:** Phylogenetic analysis of the T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial community structure at the deep outlet using the software MICA 3. Pie chart A represents the changes in the bacterial community structure of P1, P2 (B) and PC (C) before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater.

### 3.5.3 Metabolic pathways that bacterial populations could be involved in

Burton et al. (2007) demonstrated through a trial study that the use of constructed wetlands is a feasible and practical method for the treatment on winery effluent. The microorganisms identified in the study were able to degrade different classes of compounds, and chemicaland molecular phylogenetic analysis were used to determine the degradation rates in the wetland exposed to winery wastewater. Figure 3.11 shows a possible overview of the trophic interactions that are likely to take place under anaerobic conditions, together with the organisms possibly involved that was identified in the study by Burton et al. (2007). The phylogenetic data that was collected in the present study was compared to the findings of Burton et al. (2007). This analysis confirms the potential presence of microbial communities within the BSFs which are able to degrade the main components of winery wastewater including glucose, fructose, ethanol and phenolic substances. The microbial communities present in the BSFs could possibly be involved in many complex metabolic pathways for either the breakdown or build-up of compounds to produce secondary metabolites (Figure 3.11). When comparing the two figures one can observe that the organisms are able to breakdown the elements of the synthetic winery wastewater during different levels of fermentation. When linking the key organisms in the pie charts for both the experimental and control BSFs systems there was notably overlapping organisms in Tables 3.2 and 3.3. These organisms included Clostridium, Acinetobacter and Propionibacterium species which could potentially be involved in acetic acid, butyric acid and propionic acid production (indicated by red in Figure 3.11). Clostridium species are involved in both primary and secondary fermentation. Potential degradative processes which could occur in the wetlands include the breakdown of monosaccharides to butyric acid, H<sub>2</sub> and acetic acid; pectin to acetic acid; lactic acid to butyric acid and one important component of the synthetic winery wastewater, ethanol being converted to H<sub>2</sub>. Acinetobacter species could possibly be involved in the degradation of monosaccharides to lactic acid and aromatic compounds to acetic acid (Rokhbakhsh-Zamin et al.. 2012).

79



**Figure 3.11:** Schematic diagram of the trophic interactions likely to contribute to the anaerobic degradation of components of winery wastewater in CWs or BSFs. The following microorganisms that have been identified in the study by Burton *et al.* (2007) might be involved in the following steps: 1, *Clostridium*; 2, *Citobacter, Acinetobacter*, 4 and 5, *Clostridium*; 6, *Syntrophus, Acinetobacter, Rhodocyclus*; 7, *Syntropus*; 8, *Clostridium, Frateuria*; 9, *Clostridium*; 10, *Propionibacterium*; 11, *Citrobacter*, 12, *Pelobacter, Frateuria*; 13, *Clostridium, Pelobacter*, 14, *Syntrophobacter*, 15 and 16, *Methanosarcinales*; 17, *Methanomicrobiales*. Indicated by red arrows are *Clostridium, Acinetobacter* and *Propionibacterium* which could potentially be involved in acetic acid, butyric acid and propionic production.

## 3.5.4 Effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the fungal population at the superficial sediments of the BSFs

Figure 3.12 represents the NMDS plot of the fungal population at the superficial sediments of the BSFs. The points representing the baseline samples group separately from the points representing the samples taken after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater on the NMDS plot (indicated by the arrows). The baseline samples are more similar than the samples collected after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. At baseline, the experimental systems BSF P1 and P2 share an overall 40% similarity to each other and 20% similarity to the control. The shift in bacterial communities between the experimental systems is evident by the arrows before and after amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater. After amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, the experimental systems are less similar to each other, however with the inlet of each system being most similar to each other (60% similarity) showing that the amendment had an effect of the bacterial communities. In this NMDS plot the control PC is an outlying group which is to be expected as the control system only received basal nutrients for the experimental period as compared to P1 and P2 that received synthetic winery wastewater. It is apparent from the NMDS plots that the fungal communities in the experimental systems clearly shifted in response to the treatment with winery wastewater.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



**Figure 3.12:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the fungal community structure at the superficial sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0.05). Sup In: superficial inlet and Sup Out: superficial outlet of the BSF where core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

## 3.5.4.1 Effect of synthetic winery wastewater on the fungal population at the deep sediments of the BSFs

Literature has stated that fungi play a vital role in bioremediation (Frey-Klett *et al.*, 2011). In this study, several optimization steps were performed in order to optimise the fungal ITS primer set (section 3.4.2). These optimization steps included performing a gradient PCR (annealing temperatures over a range of 40 °C to 60 °C) and performing a touchdown PCR by changing the annealing temperature (amount of cycles) to 55 °C, for 10 cycles and 55 °C for 25 cycles. Despite several attempts, the baseline samples failed to amplify with the ITS primers.

Figure 3.13 shows the NMDS plot for the fungal population at the deep sediments of the BSFs. This NMDS plot represents points that were taken after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. At time zero, the start of the experiment, despite numerous attempts

there was no amplification of the fungal gene in these samples and we could hypothesize that that the number of fungi present at the start of the experiment was very low (below detection levels) and treatment with synthetic winery wastewater favoured their growth. Another possibility was that fungi were present as spores/dormant forms at the start of the experiment, which only germinated after treatment. The relatively gentle DNA extraction method employed in this study is unlikely to be able to lyse spore coats.

After amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater the experimental systems P1 and P2 at both the inlet and outlet share 40% similarity as compared to 20% similarity to the control system. One of the experimental systems (P1) shared 60% similarity to the control. As was observed for the superficial samples, control BSF PC is the outlying group as compared to the experimental systems.

The T-RFLP profiles of the fungal population showed that changes were observed after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater at the superficial sediments of the BSFs, while at the deep sediments, fungi were only observed at the end of the experiment. Despite the fact that the phylogenetic analysis was only performed using the T-RFLP data from the bacterial community structure at the superficial and deep sediments of the BSFs, it is evident that fungi could also play a pivotal role in the breakdown or build-up of secondary metabolites. Similarities between the bacterial and fungal populations on the MDS plots are that the fungal populations in the deep sediments can be linked to the shifts that were observed in the bacterial communities.

WESTERN CAPE



**Figure 3.13:** 2D-Nonmetric multi-dimensional scaling plot of Bray Curtis of the fungal community structure at the deep sediments of BSFs filled with Phillipi sand (P) with P1 and P2 the experimental systems and PC the control (stress value =0). Deep Inlet and Deep Outlet of each BSF where the core sand samples were taken. Red arrows indicating the shift in similarity or dissimilarity between points on the NMDS plot.

### UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

### 3.6 Optimization of standard using real time PCR and the primer sets

Assessing the bacterial community structure through the T-RFLP analysis above showed that indeed amendment with synthetic winery wastewater caused a significant change in the bacterial community structure, and this was evident at both the superficial and deep sediments of the BSFs. The change in bacterial populations prompted the further investigation to identify which organisms are involved in specific metabolic pathways by screening for specific metabolic genes (Figure 3.11). Complete degradation of ethanol was observed in the deep sediments of the BSFs (Figure A.1). In the superficial sediments, degradation of ethanol was improved when acetate was excluded from the synthetic winery wastewater composition. The metabolic pathways for microorganisms for both ethanol and acetate result in the production of acetyl co-A. One could suggest that ethanol degradation in the BSFs were repressed when higher concentrations of acetate were present. The

complete degradation of ethanol led to the decision to focus on the detection of alcohol dehydrogenase production via a molecular approach.

Figure A.2 shows the temporal changes of the phenolic compounds in the surface and deep sediments of the BSFs, monitored by HPLC analysis (performed by Dr P Welz as part of a parallel study). A number of unidentified peaks were present and with many phenolic compounds on the market, a complete phenolic characterisation was not within the scope of the project. Gallic acid and vanillin, the primary break down product of vanillic acid and the common toxic metabolite, catechol, was identified and quantified in the study. Vanillic acid and gallic acid amounted to half of the phenolics present in the samples and the other half being unidentified (other).

Results showed a build-up of catechol, as well as the breakdown of ethanol by the organisms present within the BSFs (Appendix A). Based on these findings it was decided to initially focus on three functional genes namely: alcohol dehydrogenase, catechol 1,2-dioxygnease, and catechol 2,3- dioxygenase.

Although published primer sets were used, extensive optimization was required for the amplification of the functional genes. For the alcohol dehydrogenase primer set optimization was performed according to Quintero *et al.* (2009) and for catechol 1,2-dioxygenase and catechol 2,3-dioxygenase optimization was performed according to the initial conditions described by Lillis *et al.* (2010). Optimization of the functional gene primer sets included adjusting the annealing temperature, performing a touchdown PCR, increasing the number of amplification cycles, and altering the ratios of gDNA to mastermix, The catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was successfully amplified from the synthesised cDNA samples taken at the start and end of the experiment. Despite several attempts both the alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 1,2-dioxygenase primer sets did not work. This failure can be because the genes were present at low levels in the DNA, or the primers failed to bind due to differences in template DNA sequence. Therefore, the rest of the study was focused on catechol 2,3-dioxygenase.

### 3.6.1 qPCR and amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene

Amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was achieved through gPCR. A standard curve was constructed using CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA as the template and this was used to determine the gene copy number. Amplification curves, melting curves and copy number was calculated using the slope of the standard curve and copy numbers are reported in Appendix D. Table 3.5 shows the crossing points (Cp values) and copy numbers of the samples from the start of the experiment (baseline) to the end of the experiment (after amendment). Due to budgetary limitations samples taken from the experimental systems P1 and P2 at the start of the experiment were pooled based on the hypothesis that the bacterial communities present in P1 and P2 would be similar after the initial establishment phase when they only received basal nutrients. Copy number refers to how many copies of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase (C23O) genes were present/expressed within each sample. As expected, from Table 3.5 and Appendix D it can be seen that there is an increase in the copy number of C23O after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. Despite P1 and P2 samples being pooled at the start of the experiment there was an obvious trend observed in that the copy numbers of all samples increased after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. After testing a range of cDNA concentrations it was found that 100 ng template cDNA samples produced a more precise single peak for the amplification of the C23O gene and it was therefore used as the standard template concentration for all reactions. The increase in expression of C23O (Figure 3.14) is further supported by HPLC analysis (Appendix A), which clearly showed that there was an increase in the formation of catechol in the BSF systems.

WESTERN CAPE



**Figure 3.14:** Graph depicting the copy numbers and Cp values of the BSF P1, P2 and PC samples at 100 ng DNA.



**Table 3.5:** Cp values and copy numbers of the C23O genes of the samples of 100 ng DNA at the start and end of the experiment. Copy numbers represented as log values of the C23O gene of CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA as indicated on standard curve (Appendix D). copy numbers represented before normailisation.

Samples	Cp number concentration	Copy numbers
P1 and P2 Sup In 100 ng	27.58	11.37
P1 and P2 Deep In 100 ng	INTER 27.72 Volume	11.44
P1 and P2 Sup Out 100 ng	27.87	11.51
P1 and P2 Deep Out 100 ng	WESTEI27.90 CAPE	11.53
PC Sup In 100 ng	27.82	11.49
PC Deep In 100 ng	27.91	11.53
PC Sup Out 100 ng	28.03	11.59
PC Deep Out 100 ng	27.74	11.45
After amendment samples		
P1 Sup In 100 ng	29.10	12.13
P2 Sup In 100 ng	28.56	11.86
P1 Deep In 100 ng	26.56	10.85
P2 Deep In 100 ng	37.08	16.15
P1 Sup Out 100 ng	30.92	13.05
P2 Sup Out 100 ng	33.42	14.31
P1 Deep Out 100 ng	36.72	15.97
P2 Deep Out 100 ng	32.72	13.96
PC Sup In 100 ng	31.40	13.29
PC Deep In 100 ng	33.23	14.21
PC Sup Out 100 ng	38.28	16.76
PC Deep Out 100 ng	38.12	16.68

### 3.6.1.1 Amplification of the *rpoB* gene using qPCR

Amplification of the ribosomal RNA encoding-gene (*rpoB*) that encodes for the bacterial RNA polymerase  $\beta$ -subunit (Morse *et al.*, 1996) was achieved through real time PCR. This small subunit ribosomal RNA gene is used for estimating the phylogenetic diversity in microbial communities (Hugenholtz *et al.*, 1998; Ward *et al.*, 1990). The gene is used as a universal marker and has the advantage of containing highly conserved regions allowing for the design of PCR primers, targeting all members of the bacterial community (Vos *et al.*, 2012). The *rpoB* gene was also used in this study as it is a known housekeeping gene and is a single copy gene.

Due to the inherent instability of RNA it was decided to immediately convert the RNA to cDNA and this synthesised cDNA was used for the amplification of the catechol 2,3dioxygenase gene and the *rpoB* gene. However, a housekeeping gene is needed for determining relative quantification. It was hypothesised that immediately synthesising to cDNA and storing at -20 °C would allow for the samples to be more stable. Although the RNA concentrations were quantified prior to cDNA conversion the RNA starting concentration for each sample was not normalised and this resulted in different starting amounts of RNA being used in each reaction which may account for the differences observed in copy numbers of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes. Therefore, it was decided to "normalize" the data to a housekeeping gene (*rpoB* gene) to account for the variability in the RNA and cDNA concentrations. Table 3.6 shows the copy numbers of the amplification of the rpo*B* gene with the synthesised cDNA samples taken before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, while Table 3.6 shows the copy numbers of catechol z shows the samples and curve used to calculate the copy numbers of the gene present within each sample.

88



**Figure 3.15:** Amplification curves of synthesised cDNA samples at 100 ng with the *rpoB* gene using real time qPCR of the samples taken at the start of the experiment (baseline) and end of experiment

gDNA as indicated on standard curve (Appendix E)				
Samples	Cp number concentration	Copy numbers		
P1 and P2 Sup In 100 ng	34.93	15.09		
P1 and P2 Deep In 100 ng	37.72	16.71		
P1 and P2 Sup Out 100 ng	39.10	17.51		
P1 and P2 Deep Out 100 ng	32.48	13.67		
PC Sup In 100 ng	UNIVER35.65 Y of the	15.51		
PC Deep In 100 ng	31.93	13.35		
PC Sup Out 100 ng	VESTE 30.86 GAFE	12.73		
PC Deep Out 100 ng	32.65	13.77		
After amendment samples				
P1 Sup In 100 ng	41.47	18.88		
P2 Sup In 100 ng	34.45	14.81		
P1 Deep In 100 ng	36.95	16.26		
P2 Deep In 100 ng	35.87	15.63		
P1 Sup Out 100 ng	33.62	14.33		
P2 Sup Out 100 ng	30.33	12.42		
P1 Deep Out 100 ng	33.66	14.35		
P2 Deep Out 100 ng	29.82	12.13		
PC Sup In 100 ng	37.65	16.67		
PC Deep In 100 ng	38.92	17.40		
PC Sup Out 100 ng	39.77	17.89		
PC Deep Out 100 ng	36.95	16.26		

Table 3.6: Values and copy numbers of the <i>rpoB</i> genes of the samples of 100 ng DNA at the start
and end of the experiment. Copy numbers represented as log values of the <i>rpoB</i> gene of CZA14 <sup>T</sup>
gDNA as indicated on standard curve (Appendix E)

Table 3.7 shows the copy numbers of the C23O and *rpoB* gene used to normalise the gene expression obtained by the qPCR analysis. There are two ways of normalising data, one by normalising the RNA value by using a bio-analyser (the recommended method) or a reference gene. As we did not have access to a BioAnalyser in-house in this study normalisation was to a reference gene. Expression of the *rpoB* gene (reference gene) was normalised to non-targeted C23O gene (target gene) expression levels within each sample and this was done according to Haimes and Kelley (2014). Differences between the target and reference gene resulted in the  $\Delta$ Cq value and this serves to correct the variation in the values. In the case of biological samples, the  $\Delta$ Cq value was exponentially transformed to the  $\Delta$ Cq expression as indicated in Table 3.6. The results presented in Table 3.7, indicates that the higher the  $\Delta$ Cq value, the lower the expression of the target gene. Samples P1 Deep Out and P2 (after amendment) have negative expression values and this could be as a result that the amplification of the *rpoB* gene by qPCR was performed at a later time period than the isolation of the RNA or the RNA sample was degraded by the time the experiment was performed.

For future research, if the same method of quantification is employed using the above equation a second reference gene (eg. 16S rRNA) would be included. The determined  $\Delta$ Cq expression value could then be divided that by the  $\Delta$ Cq value for the 16S rRNA gene and relate this value as a percentage.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

Table 3.7: Copy numbers of theC23O and rpoB genes of the samples of 100 ng DNA at the start and
end of the experiment to normalise the data

Samples	C23O copy number (Cq reference)	Normalise <i>rpoB</i> data (Cq target)	Cq (Target- Ref) (ΔCq)	ΔCq expression (2 <sup>-ΔCq</sup> )		
P1 and P2 Sup In 100						
ng	11.37	15.09	3.72	0.08		
P1 and P2 Deep In						
100 ng	11.44	16.71	5.27	0.03		
P1 and P2 Sup Out						
100 ng	11.51	17.51	6.00	0.02		
P1 and P2 Deep Out						
100 ng	11.53	13.67	2.14	0.23		
PC Sup In 100 ng	11.49	15.51	4.02	0.06		
PC Deep In 100 ng	11.53	13.35	1.82	0.28		
PC Sup Out 100 ng	11.59	12.73	1.14	0.45		
PC Deep Out 100 ng	11.45	13.77	2.32	0.20		
After amendment						
samples						
P1 Sup In 100 ng	12.13	18.88	6.75	0.001		
P2 Sup In 100 ng	11.86	14.81	2.95	0.13		
P1 Deep In 100 ng	10.85	16.26	5.41	0.02		
P2 Deep In 100 ng	16.15	15.63	-0.52	-0.70		
P1 Sup Out 100 ng	13.05	14.33	1.28	0.41		
P2 Sup Out 100 ng	14.31	12.42	-2.18	-0.23		
P1 Deep Out 100 ng	15.97	14.35	-1.62	-0.33		
P2 Deep Out 100 ng	13.96	12.13	-1.83	-0.28		
PC Sup In 100 ng	13.29	16.67	3.33	0.09		
PC Deep In 100 ng	14.21	17.40	3.19	0.11		
PC Sup Out 100 ng	16.76	17.89	1.22	0.43		
PC Deep Out 100 ng	16.68	16.26	-0.06	-0.96		
WESTERN CAPE						

### 3.7 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)

### 3.7.1 Optimization of nested PCR and method of DGGE

While qPCR analysis can be used to determine the abundance of a target gene, one is unable to determine what the "diversity" of the target gene is – in this study "diversity" would reflect how many different organisms are expressing catechol 2,3-dioxgenase. This was to be achieved by sequencing the dominant bands from the DGGE acrylamide gels. Figure 3.16 shows the principle behind DGGE. The DGGE gel uses a DNA denaturant or a linear temperature gradient to allow for the migration through the gel. Each lane on the gel represents a microbial community (Figure 3.16). The technique shows to an extent that microbial communities are different or the same in taxonomic composition. The number of bands at different horizontal positions on the gel can be used to estimate the level of
biodiversity in that sample. In order to know more about phylogenetic affiliation, the bands can be excised and sequenced (Ward *et al.*, 1998; Muyzer, 1999).



# WESTERN CAPE

**Figure 3.16:** The principle of DGGE demonstrating the migration of samples through a DGGE gel and that each and represents different microbial communities.

The sequence data would provide insight into the organisms present expressing catechol 2,3-dioxgenase and this diversity data could be compared to the MICA3 phylogenetic data. Several optimization steps for the nested PCR using the GC-clamped catechol 2,3dioxygenase primer sets was required. This included changing PCR parameters such as annealing temperatures, cycle conditions according to each Tag polymerase that was used, starting concentration of DNA for each sample and the addition of additives (e.g. BSA and DMSO). The positive qPCR products were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis and a band of the expected size was observed on the gel. However, when the qPCR product was used as the template for a nested-PCR there was no amplification of the desired nested product. One possible reason for the failure is low copy number of the catechol 2,3dioxygenase gene. It could also be that a more robust polymerase is required for the amplification of the gene in the nested PCR. It is possible that an inhibitor, such as residual SYBR Green, may be present which inhibited the second PCR reaction or too few amplification cycles in the PCR run or incorrect annealing temperatures were selected. Another possible reason is that the primers selected for the amplification of the specific genes did not bind to the template DNA. When quantifying the amount of RNA prior to synthesising to cDNA, low RNA concentrations were observed and high concentrations for cDNA was observed which could possibly result in an inaccuracy in the amount of copy numbers of the gene. It could also be that the GC clamp could be interfering in the amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene as it would be possibly 3 times more than the reverse primer in amounts of concentration and/number of moles when adjusting the amounts of primer (qPCR- 200 nM and for DGGE-PCR- 0.5 µM). There were very faint bands observed on the agarose gels and therefore it was decided to attempt DGGE, however no bands were observed on the acrylamide gels. For future research the nested PCR would require more optimization steps, possibly a more robust Taq polymerase, increasing the amount of amplification cycles, changing annealing temperatures or purifying the qPCR amplicon prior to the second nested PCR.

# 3.8 Cloning, ligation and transformation of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes from the samples at the deep sediments of the BSFs for phylogenetic analysis

Several optimization steps were performed for DGGE analysis, however these experiments were unsuccessful, therefore it was decided to construct clone libraries. Cloning of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was initially performed using chemical transformation with the CloneJET PCR cloning kit. The qPCR products (which contain SYBR Green) were purified using the Nucleospin Gel and PCR kit and cloned using the blunt-end cloning

protocol. This was followed by chemical transformation and plating. However, the cloning failed as no colonies were observed on the LB-ampicillin plates but a lawn of growth on the LB plates which suggests that the strain of *E.coli* is growing, but without the insert. From these results, more optimization steps were required. This was followed by performing the cloning of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase using the sticky-end cloning protocol, however, the results were the same. The CloneJET PCR kit suggested that if the PCR products were >3kb, the ligation procedure should be prolonged up to 30 minutes and therefore it was decided to extend the ligation to 15 minutes using both the blunt and sticky-end cloning protocol of the C23O gene, however this resulted in no colonies. In addition, a separate experiment with the extended ligation period and doing transformation by electroporation for both the blunt and sticky-end cloning protocol was also attempted, this too was unsuccessful. In addition, two different E. coli strains E. coli BL21 and electrocompetent E. coli Epi 200, were tested without success. The cloning may have been unsuccessful for several reasons including very low transformation efficiency of the competent E. coli cells, presence of proteins or salts in the ligation mixture that was not purified by the Nucleospin Gel and PCR cleanup kit that could have been inhibiting the electroporation and this could have resulted in the low transformation efficiency. The other possibility for the unsuccessful cloning of the C23O gene is that the target sequence of the gene cannot be cloned into E. coli as it is toxic to the host and therefore it was suggested that in the future a more robust E. coli host needs to be chosen.

# UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

#### 3.9 Conclusions

This project started with the isolation of metagenomic DNA from sand samples that were amended with synthetic winery wastewater. Previous studies performed on the same BSFs (Welz *et al.*, 2011; Raymond *et al.*, 2010) showed the presence of diverse bacterial communities contributing to the remediation of winery wastewater in biological sand filters. From the non-metric dimensional scaling plots changes in the bacterial populations were observed when comparing the two experimental systems to the control system after amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater. Changes in the bacterial community structure, one could hypothesise that it is due to seasonal/ temporal shifts or based on the phenomenon known as bacterial succession (Dini-Andreote *et al.*, 2014). Chemical data (a parallel study performed by Dr Pamela Welz) showed differences observed in COD removal efficiencies before the addition of the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate (11 weeks) and adding the synthetic winery wastewater formulation replacing the acetate with the glucose (refer to section 2.2.2). HPLC metabolite profiles (Appendix A) also suggested

complete removal of ethanol by the BSF systems, breakdown of the phenolic compounds (gallic acid and vanillin) and build-up of the toxic compound catechol. The changes in the chemical milieu relate to the changes observed in the bacterial community structure of each BSF.

Similar trends were observed for the fungal populations. Bacterial community structures shifted in the deep and surface samples. Fungal populations were more prominent at the surface of the BSFs and only detected in the deep samples after amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater. These results for the bacterial community structures were confirmed when analysing the phylogenetic profiles of each BSF system. The MICA3 data showed differences in the bacterial community structure from the start of the experiment to after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. Diversity of organisms between **BSFs** included the presence of Clostridium, Alteromonas, Pseudomonas, Pseudoalteromonas and Acinetobacter species. Each of the identified species could play distinct roles in the breakdown or build-up of metabolites. The diversity of species can be linked to spatial changes in the NMDS plots. The phylogenetic analysis showed the diverse bacterial communities present in the sand samples and from the study by Burton et al. (2007) it could be hypothesised that each bacterial species present in these systems could possibly be involved in specific metabolic pathways. By comparing our phylogenetic data to the bacteria identified by Burton et al. (2007) we could hypothesise that these organisms convert simple compounds (aromatic compounds and monosaccharides) into secondary metabolites and this is possibly achieved through several metabolic pathways.

RNA was extracted from sand samples collected before and after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater and the total RNA was converted into cDNA. Attempts to amplify the alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 1,2-dioxygenase genes were unsuccessful. The catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was successfully amplified and the changes in the expression levels of this gene were monitored by qPCR. An increase in the copy numbers of the C23O gene was observed after amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater as compared to the baseline samples, thus showing that with the addition of the synthetic winery wastewater could have increased the amount of C23O genes. Amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater resulted in the selection of microbial communities that would possibly have the ability to degrade catechol and were actively involved in the breakdown of waste. The amendment resulted in an increase in the number of organisms with the ability to produce the functional gene catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes being expressed. Attempts to investigate the diversity of C23O by DGGE analysis and cloning failed.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

This study forms part of a larger WRC funded project that has been assessing the use of BSF for the bioremediation of winery wastewater. Studies by Welz *et al.* (2011) and Ramond *et al.* (2010) have shown that the bacterial communities present in the sand play a pivotal role in the breakdown of the components of the synthetic winery wastewater. This research project is therefore necessary in order to monitor changes in both the bacterial and fungal communities through the use of molecular fingerprinting techniques before and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, as well as to assess the presence of functional genes by qPCR. The isolation of the fungal ITS regions. The PCR products were digested and used for T-RFLP analysis. The T-RFLP profiles were assessed through several bioinformatics based programmes. Non-metric scaling dimension plots were created using Primer 6. These T-RFLP profiles were used for phylogenetic analysis using MICA3. From the sand samples taken, RNA was extracted and synthesised to cDNA and this was used for the amplification of the functional genes of interest using qPCR.

## The key findings in the study included the following:

The T-RFLP profiles for both the bacterial and fungal community structures showed distinct differences in the community profiles before and after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater when comparing the experimental system to the control system (with the control system only receiving basal nutrients). The NMDS plots showed differences at the surface and depths of the BSFs for both the bacterial and fungal community structures. The study by Ramond *et al.*, (2013), showed that through the use of BSFs for the treatment of winery effluent the microbial communities were responsive to the impact of the winery effluent and that as the community structure changed over time the remediation capacity remained high with a COD and phenolic removal rates of >98% throughout the experimental period. The results from this study strongly suggest that there was a selection of functionally redundant microbial communities (Allison and Martiny, 2008).

The T-RFLP profiles of the bacterial community were used for the phylogenetic analysis using the programme MICA3. These phylogenetic profiles of each BSF system showed distinct differences in the microbial community structures between experimental systems and control. Organisms of interest identified by MICA3 included *Clostridum*, *Actinobacterium*, *Streptomyces*, *Acinetobacter*, *Rhodococcus* and *Sarcina* species, which are common sand organisms. The prevalence of these organisms showed that they play a pivotal role in either the degradation or build-up of secondary metabolites through metabolic pathways as has been reported by others (Burton *et al.*, 2007). The study provided insight into which metabolic pathways these organisms identified by MICA3 could possibly be involved in. The degradation of monosaccharides, or aromatic compounds to secondary metabolites by these organisms mentioned above could be possibly deduced from the study. The diversity of organisms detected by the MICA3 phylogenetic data of the experimental BSF and control BSF system confirmed the spatial differences of the points on the NMDS plots between the experimental and control BSF systems.

Assessing the presence of functional genes was performed by extraction of RNA from the sand samples and synthesising it to cDNA. Amplification of the alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 1,2-dioxygenase gene by real time PCR was unsuccessful. Amplification of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was successful. The catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene was amplified by real time PCR for the cDNA from samples before (baseline) and after the amendment of synthetic winery wastewater. Normalisation of the C23O gene to a reference gene (*rpoB*) was performed. Relative quantification analysis revealed that there was an increase in the copy numbers from the start to the end of experiment

The amendment with synthetic winery wastewater indeed had an effect on the bacterial and fungal community profiles of the BSF systems. The spatial differences in the points between the experimental BSF systems and the control BSF system was observed on the MDS plots. The change in microbial community structure was confirmed through the phylogenetic data generated by MICA3. The change in the microbial communities present in the BSFs was shown by the diversity of organisms present when comparing the organisms at the start (baseline) and after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater. These organisms present are involved in the degradation or build-up of the compounds of the synthetic winery wastewater into other secondary compounds. The change in the bacterial community structure was indeed through the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, and the components of the synthetic winery wastewater were degraded by the organisms present in the sand samples. The presence of functional genes, namely C23O gene in these sand samples which was confirmed by qPCR analysis; however, the diversity of the organisms producing the C23O gene could not be confirmed by the DGGE or sequencing data.

Despite the negative result obtained through this project, the key points obtained from this study include: that the T-RFLP analysis results provided insight that both the bacterial and fungal communities play a role in the remediation of the synthetic winery wastewater (metabolite profiles, Appendix A) and that functional genes such as catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes can be detected through qPCR, The increase in the expression of the C23O genes indicted that there was an increase in the microbial communities ability to degrade catechol. Cloning of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene using the CloneJET PCR cloning kit to confirm the diversity of organisms that was expressing the C23O gene by sequencing the positive colonies on the LB-amp plates, was unsuccessful. In future, more optimization would be required.

This research project was necessary to establish the role that bacterial and fungal species play in the degradation or build-up of compounds associated with the synthetic winery wastewater. Two formulations of synthetic winery wastewater was included; both formulations contained ethanol and the phenolics, vanillin and gallic acid, which are all common components of winery effluent. In addition, the first formulation of synthetic winery wastewater contained acetate, and the second formulation contained glucose, which are typically major contributors to the organic fraction of winery wastewater. The changes in the microbial communities can thus be compared to the chemical data of the effluent analysis (Appendix A), to assess whether the organisms present in the sand are involved in the remediation of the synthetic winery wastewater. In order to evaluate the biodegradative metabolic processes taking place in the BSFs, as well as the effect of winery wastewater composition on these processes, the treatment of two formulations of synthetic winery wastewater were compared (section 2.2.2, page 32). It has previously been shown that build-up of VFAs, particularly acetate, takes place in BSFs and other systems treating winery effluent or components of winery effluent (Ganesh et al., 2010; Welz et al., 2011, 2012). When assessing the superficial niches after the amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, both experimental BSFs P1 and BSF P2 group together, showing 60% similarity to one another and 40% similarity to the control (PC), and at had an impact on the bacterial community structure (Figure 3.4) which was greater at the outlet than the inlet. It was hypothesised that these differences observed from the changes in chemical milieu resulting from substrate degradation gradients between the inlet and outlet of the BSFs (Welz et al., 2014). After the amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose, BSF P1 and BSF P2 group together showing 60% similarity to one another and 40% similarity to the control. It is inferred from these results that, unlike amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose had a similar impact on the bacterial community structure in

the superficial niches at the inlet and outlet (Welz *et al.*, 2014). At the deep niches, similar trends were noted in the deep and superficial niches, where each wastewater had an impact on the bacterial community structures, with similar impacts being determined at the inlet and outlet after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose, but a greater impact at the outlet after amendment with synthetic winery wastewater amendment were also noted, as evidenced by shifts in points representing the control BSF PC. The two formulations of synthetic winery wastewater was included on the hypothesis that the treatment of this effluent containing the glucose would be more effective than the treatment of the one containing acetate. However in the deep niches, the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate had more of an effect.

This project dealt with assessing the changes of the bacterial community structures after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater, in addition metabolite profiles (including sugars, alcohols and acids; phenolic compound characterisation) was performed as a parallel study which revealed that during the treatment with synthetic winery wastewater many other factors played a vital role. In a previous study by Welz *et al.*, (2012), it has been shown that phenolic removal in BSFs takes place via adsorption and biodegradation. In the parallel study, at the end of amendment with each wastewater formulation, the total phenolic concentrations in the effluent from BSF1 and BSF2 were  $11.0 \pm 0.0$  and  $5.0 \pm 1.4$  mg GAE/L (week 19) and  $25.1 \pm 0.0$  and  $19.7 \pm 0.4$  mg GAE/L (week 30), respectively. No phenolics were detected in samples from the control (BSFC). The influence of wastewater composition on phenolic removal in different spatial niches was accomplished by analysis of pore water samples taken at the end of amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate and containing glucose (week 20, week 31) (Appendix A).

The parallel study by Welz *et al.*, (2014) showed that the overall organic removal, weekly COD concentration was measured during the course of the 31-week study. However, despite the mode of operation, set up and experimental protocol being exactly the same for each experimental system, during the amendment with the synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, there were notable differences in the results obtained for BSF P1 and BSF P2, differences were also observed in the community structures. This confers that these should be replicated of a biological nature even if a larger study is conducted (Hurlbert, 2013; Morrison and Morris, 2000). As hypothesized, the effluent COD was higher during amendment with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, than with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, then with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, than with synthetic winery wastewater containing acetate, the end of the respective experimental periods (week 20 and 31). This finding strongly suggests that the microbial communities had rapidly adapted (acclimated) to synthetic winery wastewater containing glucose, but not to synthetic winery

99

wastewater containing acetate at this stage (Welz et al., 2012). The COD of the control system (BSFC) was consistently less than 25 mg/L.

The redox status of each BSF system resulted in the selection of the bacterial consortia with different organisms being present at the surface and deep sediments. Figure A.1 and A.2 showed the metabolite profiles and that the accumulation and biodegradation of organic substrates and metabolites also led to the different organisms being present which was strongly influenced by the redox potential of each niche. From the Figure A.1 and A.2, organics such as glucose, ethanol and phenolic were more readily degraded in the deep sediments. However, the accumulation of volatile fatty acids was more prominent in the deep sediments of the BSFs. For future research, it was suggested that the BSFs be configured and operated in a manner that the wastewater be treated under redox conditions in order to obtain complete degradation of compounds. One alternative that was suggested is a polishing aeration step for the wastewater that has been treated in the BSFs. However, trickling filters are a more feasible option and is currently being explored.

The presence of the functional gene (C23O gene) provided a new insight to previous studies by Welz *et al.* (2011) and Ramond *et al.* (2010), as it confirmed that presence of genes that play a role in the build-up or degradation of components of the synthetic winery wastewater. The cumulative findings from these studies provided the necessary information required to design (configuration and operation) a full scale sand bioreactor system to be utilised for the treatment of winery wastewater which has been successfully installed at a winery.

Despite that many of the experiments (i.e. DGGE, conclusive phylogenetic analysis, amplification of ADH gene), the chemical profile for each BSF and T-RFLP analysis, in conjunction with previous studies by Welz *et al.*, (2011) and Ramond *et al.*, (2013) provides the basis for the possible implementation of a full scale BSFs situated at a small winery.

For future studies, according to Cydzik-Kwiatkowska and Zielińska, (2016) one fundamental step to improve wastewater treatment technology an in depth of the microbial ecology is needed. Bacterial metabolism determines the effectiveness and running of the biological treatment of wastewater systems. Hence, it is important to define the relations between the species structure and the performance (operational parameters) of a treatment system. The relationship between microbial succession and operating parameters of the wastewater treatment system needs to be well defined and possibly coupled culture-dependant and PCR based methods could support the implementation of full-scale technologies.

NGS allows for the genomic scale DNA sequencing and data to be generated at a low cost and thus NGS is revolutionising the field of molecular ecology. Few molecular ecologists are yet to familiarise themselves with the use of NGS data, however an increase in the number of statisticians have begun developing models to incorporate NGS characteristics into molecular ecology analysis (Andolfatto *et al.* 2011; Gompert & Buerkle 2011). The excitement of using new NGS platforms has generated momentum among researchers to involve environmental DNA analysis, however optimization and benchmarking is required. Rapid progression of NGS technologies has provided optimism for a bright future for the field of next-generation environmental DNA analysis (Shokralla *et al.*, 2011). In relation to this study, for future research NGS should be considered as a platform for DNA analysis of environmental research.

Even though the study has presented various results, there are some recommendations for future research:

- Optimization of the nested PCR using the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase GC clamped primers set, including changing parameters
- Further optimization for the alcohol dehydrogenase and catechol 1,2-dioxygenase primers sets
- Possibly re-design the functional genes primers according to available sequences on GenBank
  UNIVERSITY of the
- Cloning of the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene but using other E. coli strains as a host
- Normalisation of RNA to another reference gene and expressing this data as a percentage.
- Next generation sequencing (NGS)

#### REFERENCES

Allison, S.D. and Martiny, J.B.H. 2008. Resistance; resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. *PNAS*, 105: 11512–11519.

Anderson, I.C., Campbell, C.D., and Prosser, J.I. 2003. Potential bias of fungal 18S rDNA and internal transcribed spacer polymerase chain reaction primers for estimating fungal biodiversity in soil. *Environmental Microbiology*, 5: 36–47

Anderson, I.C., and Cairney, J.W.G. 2004. Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. *Environmental Microbiology*, 6:769-779

Andolfatto, P., Davison, D., Erezyilmaz, D. 2011. Multiplexedshotgun genotyping for rapid and efficient genetic mapping. *Genome Research*, 21: 610–617.

Andreottola, G., Foladori, P., and Ziglio, G. 2009. Biological treatment of winery wastewater: An overview, Water Science and Technology, 60: 1117–1125.

Andreottola, G., Foladori, P, and Ziglio, G. 2011. Biological treatment of winery wastewater: A review. *Water Science and Technology*. 60: 1117-1125

Arienzo, M., Christen, E.W., Quayle, W.C., 2009. Phytotoxicity testing of winery wastewater for constructed wetland treatment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 169: 94-99

Aslam, M.M. 2007. Treatment performances of compost-based and gravel-based vertical flow wetland operated identically for refinery wastewater treatment in Pakistan. *Ecological Engineering*, 20: 34-42

Austin, D.N. 2009. Energy requirements for nitrification and biological nitrogen removal in engineered wetlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 35: 184-192

Babatunde, A.Z. 2011. Performance evaluation and prediction for a pilot two-stage on-site constructed wetland system employing dewatered alum sludge as main substrate. *Bioresource Technology*, 102: 5645-5652

Barns, S.M., Cain, E.C. Sommerville, L, and Kukse, C.R. 2007. Acidobacteria phylum sequences in uranium-contaminated subsurface sediments greatly expand the known diversity within the phylum, *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 73: 3113-3316

Beltran, F.J., Garcia-Araya, J.F., Alvarez, P.M. 1999. Wine distillery wastewater degradation 2. Improvement of aerobic biodegradation by means of an integrated chemical (ozone)-biological treatment. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 47: 3919-3924

Björnsson, L., Hugenholtz, P., Tyson, G.W, and Blackall, L.L. 2002. Filamentous *Chloroflexi* (green non-sulfur bacteria) are abundant in wastewater treatment processes with biological nutrient removal. *Microbiology*, 148: 2309-2318

Blum, U., Staman, K.L., Flint, L.J., and Shafer, S. 2000. Induction and/or selection of phenolic acid-utilizing bulk-soil and rhizosphere bacteria and their influence on phenolic acid phytotoxicity. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 26: 2059–2078.

Bolzonella, D and Rosso, D. 2013. Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> IWA conference on Viticulture and Winery wastes. Narbonne, France

Brock, T.D., and Freeze, H. 1969. Thermus aquaticus, a non-sporulating extreme thermophile. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 98: 289-297

Broderick, J.B. 1999. Catechol dioxygenases. Essays in Biochemistry, 34:173-189

Bugg, T.D.H. 2003.Dioxygenase enzymes: catalytic mechanisms and chemical models. *Tetrahedron*, 59: 7075-7101

Burton, S., Sheridan, C., Law-Brown, J., Le Roes-Hill, M., Mashaphu, N., Rohr, L. and Cowan, D. 2007. Integrated research for use in constructed wetlands for treatment of winery wastewater. *Water Research Commission report* No.1544/1/07

Burton, S.G., Welz, P.J., Ramond, J.B., Sheridan, C., Schueller A., Rodriguez, A., Pather-Elias, S., Prins, A, and Cowan, D.A. 2011. Health for purpose in constructed wetlands. *Water Research Commission report* No.1936/1/11

Calvo-Bado, L.A., Pettie, J.R., Parsons, N., Petch, G.M., Morgan, J.A.W. and Whipps, J.M. 2003. Spatial and temporal analysis of the microbial communities in slow sand filters used for the treatment of horticultural irrigation water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69: 2116–2125.

Campbell, M.K and Farrell, A.O. 2006. Biochemistry Fifth Edition. United States of America: Thomson Brooks

Carson, J.K., Rooney, D., Gleeson, D.B., Clipson, N. 2007. Altering the mineral composition of soil causes a shift in microbial community structure. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 61: 141-23.

Cloete, T.E. and Muyima, N.Y.O. 1997. Microbial Community Analysis: the key to the design of biological wastewater treatment systems. Scientific and Technical Reports No.5. The International Water Association, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. 25-33

Chambers, P.J, and Pretorius, I.S. 2010. Fermenting knowledge: the history of winemaking, science and yeast research. *EMBO reports*, 11: 914-920

Chapman, J., Correll, R, and Ladd, J. 1995. Removal of soluble organic carbon from winery and distillery wastewaters by application to soil. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research*, 1: 39–47.

Cheng, S.K. 2010. Pre-acclimation of a wastewater inoculum to cellulose in an aqeouscathode MEC improves power generation in air-cathods MFCs. *Bioresource Technology*, 102: 367-371

Cheung, Y.F., Fung, C, Walsh, C. 1975. Stereochemistry of propionyl-coenzyme A and pyruvate carboxylations catalysed by transcarboxylase. *Biochemistry*, 14: 2981.

Chinnawirotpisan, P., Theetagool, G., Limtong, S., Toyama, H., Adachi, O. and Matsushita, K. 2003.Quinoprotein alcohol dehydrogenase is involved in catabolic acetate production, while NAD-dependent alcohol dehydrogenase in ethanol assimilation in *Acetobacterpasteurianus*SKU1108. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 96: 564-571

Christen, E.W., Quayle, W.C., Marcoux, M.A., Arienzo, M., Jayawardane, N.S., 2010. Winery wastewater treatment using the land filter technique. Journal of Environmental Management, 91: 1665-1673

Christopherson, S.H., Anderson, J.L. and Gustafson, D.M. 2005. Evaluation of recirculating sand filter in a cold climate. *Water Science and Technology*,51: 267-272

Chung, A.P., Rainey, F.A., Valente, M., Nobre, M.F, and da Costa, M.S. 2000. Thermus igniterrae sp. nov., and Thermus antranikianii sp. nov., two new species from Iceland. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 50: 209-217

Clarke, K.R. 1993. Non-parametic multivariate analysis of changes in community structure. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 18: 117-143

Clarke, K. R. and Gorley, R.N. 2006. Primer v6: User manual. Plymouth Marine Laboratory: Plymouth, UK

Claus, H. and Decker, H. 2006. Bacterial Tyrosinases. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 29:3-14

Collins, M.D, Cummins, C.S. 1986. Genus *Corynebacterium* in Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, 2: 1266-1276. Baltimore, Williams and Wilkins

Constantinides, A. 1980. Steroid transformation at high substrate concentrations using immobilized *Corynebacterium* simplex cells. *Biotechnology Bioengineering*, 22: 119-136.

Cooper, D.G., Zajic, J.E., and Gracey, D.E. 1979. Analysis of corynomycolic acids and other fatty acids produced by Corynebacterium lepus grown on kerosene. Journal of Bacteriology, 137: 795-801

Cowan, D., Meyer, D., Stafford, W., Muyanga, S., Cameron, R, and Wittwer, P. 2005. Metagenomic gene discovery: past, present and future. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 23: 321-329

Culman, S.W., Bukowski, R., Gauch, H.G., Cadillo-Quiroz, H. and Buckley, D.H. 2009. T-REX: Software for the processing and analysis of T-RFLP data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 10:171

Cydzik-Kwiatkowska, A and Zielin´ska, M. 2016. Bacterial communities in full-scale wastewater treatment systems. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 32: 66

Dagley, S. 1971. Catabolism of aromatic compounds by micro-organsim. *Advances in Microbial Physiology*, 61:1-76

Dagley, S. 1986. Biochemistry of aromatic hydrocarbon degradation in *Pseudomonads*, in: The Bacteria, Academic Press, New York, pp. 527-556

David, M. G. 1999. Phenolic compounds in surface water. Water Research, 33: 3213-3219

De la Vargo, D., Diaz, M.A., Ruiz, I and Soto, M. 2013. Avoiding clogging in constructed wetlands by using anaerobic digesters as pre-treatment, *Ecological Engineering*, 52: 262–269.

Demain, A.L., Newcomb, M, and Wu, J.H.D. 2005. Cellulase, Clostridia and Ethanol. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 1: 124-154

Ding, T., Palmer, M.W, and Melcher, U. 2013. Community terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms reveal insights into the diversity and dynamics of leaf endophytic bacteria. *BioMed Central Microbiology*, 13: 1-11

Dini-Andreote, F., Stegen, J.C., van Elsas, J.D. and Falcão Salles, J. 2014. Disentangling mechanisms that mediate the balance between stochastic and deterministic processes in microbial succession. *PNAS*, 112: 1326-1332

Edberg, S.C and Melson, J.E. 2001. Evaluation of indicator bacteria using molecular fingerprinting. *American Water Works Association*, USA

Eichorst, S.A., Breznak, J.A, Schmidt, T.M. 2007. Isolation and characterization of soil bacteria that define *Terriglobus* gen. nov., in the phylum *Acidobacteria*. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 73: 2708-2717

Embley, T.M. and Stackerbrandt, E. 1994. The molecular phylogeny and systematic of the actinomycetes. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 48:257-289

UNIVERSITY of the

Falkow, S, and Dworkin, M. 2006. *The prokaryotes: a handbook on the biology of bacteria*. Berlin: Springer

Fan, J., Zhang, B., Zhang, J., Ngo, H.H., Guo, W., Liu, F., Guo, Y, Wu, H., 2013. Intermittent aeration strategy to enhance organics and nitrogen removal in subsurface flow constructed wetlands. *Bioresource Technology*, 141, 117-122.

Faulwetter, J.L., Gagnon, V., Sundberg, C., Chazarenc, F., Burr, M.D., Brisson, J., Camper, A.K. and Stein, O.R. 2009. Microbial processes influencing performance of treatment wetlands: a review. *Ecological Engineering*, 35: 987 – 1004.

Fenner, N., Freeman, C, and Reynolds, B. 2005. Hydrological effects on the diversity of phenolic degrading bacteria in a peatland: implications for carbon cycling. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37: 1277-1287

Feris, K., Mackay, D., De Sieyes, N., Chakraborty, I., Einarson, M., Hristova, K. and Scow, K. 2008. Effect of ethanol on microbial community structure and function during natural

attenuation of benzene, toluene, and o-xylene in a sulfate-reducing aquifer. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42: 2289–2294.

Fisher, M.M, and Triplett, E.W. 1999. Automated approach for ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis of microbial diversity and its application to freshwater bacterial communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65:4630-4636

Franklin, R.B, and Mills, A.L. 2003. Multi-scale variation in spatial heterogeneity for microbial community structure in an eastern Virginia agricultural field. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 44:335–346

Frey-Klett, P., Burlinson, P., Deveau, A., Barret, M., Tarkka, M, and Sarniguet, A. 2011. Bacterial-fungal interactions: hyphens between agricultural, clinical, environmental, and food microbiologists. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 75: 583-609

Gadd, G.M. 2010. Metals, minerals and microbes: geomicrobiology and bioremediation. *Microbiology*, 156: 609-43.

Ganesh, R., Rajinikanth, R., Thanikal, J.R., Ramanujam, R.A., Torrijos, M., 2010. Anaerobic treatment of winery wastewater in fixed bed reactors. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, 33: 619-628.

Garcia-Rodríguez, A., Matamoros, V., Fontàs, C, and Salvadó, V. 2014. The ability of biologically based wastewater treatment systems to remove emerging organic contaminantsa review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, DOI 10.1007/s11356-013-2448-5

Gardes, M. and Bruns, T.D. 1993. ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes – application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts, *Molecular Ecology* 2: 113-118

Gauthier, G.; Gauthier, M.; and Christen, R. 1995. Phylogenetic analysis of the genera *Alteromonas, Shewanella*, and *Moritella* using genes coding for small-subunit rRNA Sequences and Division of the genus *Alteromonas* into Two Genera, *Alteromonas* (Emended) and *Pseudoalteromonas* gen. nov., and Proposal of Twelve New Species Combinations. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 45: 755–761

Gerday, C, and Glansdorff, N. 2007. Physiology and biochemistry of extremophiles. Washington, D.C.: American Society for Microbiology Press

Gibson, U.E., Heid, C.A. and Williams, P.M. 1996. A novel method for real time quantitative RT - PCR. *Genetics Research*, 6: 995-1001

Glick, B.R. 2010.Using bacteria to facilitate phytoremediation. *Biotechnology Advances*, 28: 367-374

Girvan, M.S., Bullimore J., Pretty J.N., Osborn M.A., Ball A.S. 2003. Soil type is the primary determinant of the composition of the total and active bacterial communities in arable soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69: 1800-1809

Ghosh, M., Verma, S.C., Mengoni, A. and Tripathi, A.K. 2004. Enrichment and identification of bacteria capable of reducing chemical oxygen demand of anaerobically treated molasses spent wash. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 96: 1278–1286

Gompert, Z, and Buerkle, C.A. 2011. A hierarchical Bayesian model for next-generation population genomics. *Genetics*, 187: 903 – 917.

Gottlieb, D. 1973. General consideration of the implications of the Actinomycetes. In: *Actinomycetales: Characteristics and practical importance*. Ed. G. Sykes and F.A. Skinner. London:Academic Press Inc

Gottschalk, G. 1986. Bacterial Metabolism. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, pp. 162-171

Grismer, M.E., Carr, M.A., Shepherd, H.L. 2003. Evaluation of constructed wetland treatment performance for winery wastewater. Water Environment Research, 75: 412-421.

Grismer, M.E., Shepherd, H.L. 2011. Plants in constructed wetlands help to treat agricultural processing wastewaters. California Agriculture, 65: 73-79.

Groth,I., Vettermann, R., Shuetze, B., Schumann, P. and Saiz-Jimenez, C. 1999. Actinomycetes in Karstic caves northern Spain (Altamira and Tito Bustillo). *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 36:115-122

Guidot, A., Debaud, J.-C., Effosse, A., and Marmeisse, R. 2003. Below-ground distribution and persistence of an ectomycorrhizal fungus. *New Phytologist*, 161: 539-548

Guillot, E, and Mouton, C. 1997. PCR-DNA probe assays for identification and detection of *Prevotella intermedia sensu stricto* and *Prevotella nigrescens*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*; 35: 1876-1882

Haberl, R., Grego, S., Langergraber G., Kadlec, R.H., Cicalini, A.R., Martins Dias, S., Novais, J.M., Aubert, S., Gerth, A., Thomas, H, and Hebner, A. 2003. Constructed wetlands for the treatment of organic pollutants. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 3: 109-124

Haimes, J, and Kelley, M. 2014. Demonstration of a  $\Delta\Delta$ Cq calculation method to compute relative gene expression from qPCR data. Technical Note. GE Healthcare, Lafayette, USA

Hanahan, D., Jessee, J and Bloom, F.R. 1991. Plasmid transformation of *Escherichia coli* and other bacteria. *Methods in Enzymology*, 20: 63-113

Harayama, S. and Timmis, K.N. 1992. Aerobic biodegradation of aromatic hydrocarbons by bacteria. In: Sigel, H. and Sigel, A. (Eds.) Metal ions in biological systems. Vol. 28. Degradation of environmental pollutants by microorganisms and their metalloenzymes. pp.99-165. Marcel Dekker Inc. New York

Hayaishi, O., Katagiri, M., Rothberg, S. 1955. Mechanism of the pyrocatechase reaction *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 77: 5450-5451

Henckel, T., Friedrich, M, and Conrad, R. 1999. Molecular analyses of the methane-oxidizing microbial community in rice field soil by targeting the genes of the 16S rRNA, particulate methane monooxygenase, and methanol dehydrogenase. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 65: 1980-1990

Hill, G.T., Mitkowski, N.A., Aldrich-Wolfe, L., Emele, L.R., Jurkonie, D.D., Ficke, A., Maldonado-Ramirez, S., Lynch, S.T., Nelson, E.B. 2000. Methods for assessing the composition and diversity of soil microbial communities. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 15: 25–36.

Horz, H.P., Rotthauwe, J.H., Lukow, T, and Liesack, W. 2000. Identification of major subgroups of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in environmental samples by T-RFLP analysis of amoA PCR products. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 39:197–204

Horz, H.P., Yimga, M.T, and Liesack, W. 2001. Detection of methanotroph diversity on roots of submerged rice plants by molecular retrieval of pmoA, mmoX, mxaF, and 16S rRNA and ribosomal DNA, including pmoA-based terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism profiling. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67:4177–4185

Hu, H.N. 1997. Analysis of microbial acclimation to refractory chemicals in wastewater using respiratory quinoneproiles. *Water Science and Technology*, 37: 349-362

Hugenholtz, P. and Pace, N.R. 1996. Identifying microbial diversity in the natural environment: a molecular phylogenetic approach. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 14: 190-197

Hugenholtz, P., Goebel, B.M, and Pace, N.R. 1998. Impact of culture-independent studies on the emerging phylogenetic view of bacterial diversity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 180: 4765-4774

Huggert, J., Dheda, K., Bustin, S, and Zumla, A. 2005. Real-time RT-PCR normailization; strategies and considerations. *Genes and Immunity*, 6: 279-284

Hurlbert, S.H. 2013. Pseudofactorialism, response structure and collective responsibility. *Austral Ecology*, 38: 646- 663.

Hunter, P.J., Calvo-Bado, L.A., Parsons, N.R., Pettit, J.R., Petch, G.M., Shaw, E., Morgan, J.A.W, and Whipps, J.M. 2013. Variation in microbial communities colonizing horticultural slow sand filter beds: implications for filter function, *Irrigation Science*. 31: 631–642.

Ioannou, L.A., and Li Puma, G, and Fatta-Kassinos, D. 2015. Treatment of winery wastewater by physiochemical, biological and advance processes: A review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 286: 343-368

Ioannou, L., Michael, C., Kyriakou, S., and Fatta-Kassinos, D. 2014. Solar Fenton: from pilot to industrial scale application for polishing winery wastewater pretreated by MBR. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 89: 1067–1076.

Imfeld, G., Braeckevelt, M., Kuschk, P, and Richnow, H.H. 2009. Monitoring and assessing processes of organic chemicals removal in constructed wetlands. *Chemosphere*, 74: 349-362

Jacobs, A.M., Grainger, J and Ferrand, L. 1995. The incremental priming technique: A method for determining within-condition priming effects. *Perception and Psychophysics*, 57:1101-1110

Jourjon, F., Khaldi., S., Reveiller., M., Thibault., C Poulard, A., Chretien, P., and Bednar, J. 2005. Microbiological characterization of winery effluents: An inventory of the sites for different treatment systems, *Water Science and Technology*, 51:19–26.

Juwarkar, A., Singh, S. and Mudhoo, A. 2012. A comprehensive overview of elements in bioremediation. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology*, 9: 215–288.

Kasuga, I., Nakajima, F, and Furumai, H.2007. Diversity of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase genes of bacteria responding to dissolved organic matter derived from different sources in a eutrophic lake. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 61: 449-458

Keyser, M., Witthuhn, R.C., Ronquest., L.C. and Britz, T.J. 2003. Treatment of winery effluent with upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB)—Granular sludges enriched with *Enterobacter sakazakii. Biotechnology Letters*, 25: 1893–1898.

Keyser, M., Britz, T.J. and Witthuhn, R.C. 2007. Fingerprinting and identification of bacteria in UASB granules used to treat winery, brewery, distillery or peach-lye canning wastewater. South African *Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 28: 69-79

Kirk, J.L., Beaudette, L.A., Hart, M., Moutoglis, P., Klironomos, J.N., Lee, H. and Trevors, J. T. 2004. Methods of studying soil microbial diversity. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 58: 169-188

Kiviasi, A. 2001. The potential for constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment and reuse in developing countries: a review. *Ecological Engineering*, 16: 545-560

Kjeldsen, K. 2008. Optimization of an industrial L-lysine producing Corynebacterium glutamicum strain. Research paper. Center for microbial biotechnology department of systems biology. Technical University of Denmark

Knowles, P.D. 2010. Clogging in subsurface flow treatment wetlands: occurrence and contributing factors. *Ecological Engineering*, 37: 99-112

Koda, N.I. 2002. Response of the ice-nucleating bacterium Pantoea as KUIN-3 during cold acclimation. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 66: 866-523

Koh, S., McCullar, M.V, and Focht, D.D. 1997. Biodegradation of 2,4-dichlorophenol through a distal meta-fission pathway. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63: 2054-2057

Kojima, Y., Itada, N., Hayaishi, O. 1961. Metapyrocatechase: a new catechol-cleaving enzyme. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 236: 2223-2228

Krieg, N.R. Ludwig, W., Whitman, W.B., Hedlund, B.P., Paster, B.J., Staley, J.T., Ward, N., Brown, D., and Parte, A. 2010. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology 4 (second edition). New York: Springer

Kroppenstedt, R.M., Mayilraj, S, and Wink, J.M. 2005. Eight new species of the genus *Micromonospora, Micromonospora citrea* sp, nov.,*Micromonospora echinaurantiaca* sp. nov.,*Micromonospora echinofusca* sp. nov., *Micromonospora fulviviridis* sp. nov., *Micromonospora inyonensis* sp. nov., *Micromonospora peucetia* sp. nov., *Micromonospora sagamiensis* sp. nov., and *Micromonospora viridifaciens* sp. nov. Systematic and Applied *Microbiology*, 28: 329-339

Kunc, F. 1970. Decomposition of vanillin by soil microorganisms. *Folia Microbiology*, 16: 41–50.

Larena, I., Salazar, O., González, V., Julián, M.C., and Rubio, V. 1999. Design of a primer for ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacer with enhanced specificity for ascomycetes. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 75: 187-194

Lasko, D., Schwerdel, C., Bailey, J, and Sauer, U. 1997. Acetate-specific stress response in acetate-resistance bacteria: an analysis of protein patterns. *Biotechnology Progress*, 13: 519-523

Leander, M., Vallaeys, T, and Fulthorpe, R. 1998. Amplification of putative chlorocatechol dioxygenase gene fragments fromalpha- and beta-Proteobacteria. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 44: 482–486

Lee, C.W., Lucas, S, Desomazeaud, M.J. 1985. Phenylalanine and tyrosine catabolism in some cheese coryneform bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Letter*, 26: 201-205

Leisner, J.J.; Laursen, B.G.; Prévost, H.; Drider, D; and Dalgaard, P.2007.Carnobacterium: positive and negative effects in the environment and in foods. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 31:592–613

# UNIVERSITY of the

Life Technologies. 2015. DreamTaq DNA polymerase. https://www.lifetechnologies.com/za/en/home/brands/thermo-scientific/molecular biology/thermo-scientific-molecular-biology-products/dreamtag-dna-polymerase.html

Lillis, L., Clipson, N, and Doyle, E. 2010. Quantification of catechol dioxygenase gene expression in soil during degradation of 2,4-dichlorophenol. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies- Microbiology Ecology*, 73: 363-369

Li, J. W. 2008. Influence of vegetation and substrate on the removal and transformation of dissolved organic matter in horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetlands. *Bioresource Technology*, 99: 4990-4996

Liu, W.T., Marsh, T.L., Cheng, H, and Forney, L.J. 1997. Characterization of microbial diversity by determining terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms of genes encoding 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63:4516-4522

Lofrano, G, and Meric, S. 2016. A comprehensive approach to winery wastewater treatment: a review of the state of the art. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 57: 3011-3028

Lucassen, E.C.H.E.T., Bobbink, R., Smolders, A.J.P., van der Ven, P.J.M., Lamers, L.P.M. and Roelofs, J.G.M. 2002. Interactive effects of low pH and high ammonium levels responsible for the decline of *Cirsium dissectum* (L.) Hill. *Plant Ecology*, 165: 45–52.

Lueders, T, and Friedrich, M.W. 2003. Evaluation of PCR amplification bias by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of small-subunit rRNA and mcrA genes by using defined template mixtures of methanogenic pure cultures and soil DNA extracts. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69:320–326

Madigan M; and Martinko J. 2005. *Brock Biology of Microorganisms* (11th edition). Prentice Hall.

Malandra, L., Wolfaardt, G., Zietsman, A, and Viljoen-Bloom, M. 2003. Microbiology of a biological contactor for winery wastewater treatment. *Water Research*,37: 4125-4134

Manefield, M., Whiteley, A.S., Griffiths, R.I. and Bailey, M.J. 2002. RNA stable isotope probing, a novel means of linking microbial community function to phylogeny. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 68: 5367-5373

Manter, D.K, and Vivanco, J.M. 2007. Use of the ITS primers, ITS1F and ITS4, to characterise fungal abundance and diversity in mixed-template samples by qPCR and length heterogeneity analysis. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 71:7-14

Mardis, E.R. 2008a. Next-generation DNA sequencing methods. *Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics*, 9: 387–402.

Mardis, E.R. 2008b. The impact of next-generation sequencing technology on genetics. *Trends in Genetics*, 24: 133–141.

WESTERN CAPE

Moletta, R. 2005. Winery and Distillery wastewater treatment by anaerobic digestion. *Water Science and Technology*, 51: 137–144.

Montgomery, L., Flesher, B, Stahl, D. 1988. Transfer of *Bacteriodes succinogenes* to *Fibrobacter* gen. nov. as*Fibrobacter succinognes* comb. nov. and description of *Fibrobacter intestinalis* sp. nov. *Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 38: 430-435

Marchesi, J.R., Sato, T., Weightman, A.J., Martin, T.A., Fry, J.C., Hiom, S.J. and Wade W.G. 1998. Design and evaluation of useful bacterial primers that amplify genes coding for bacterial 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*,64: 795-799

Mars, A.E., Kingmam J., Kaschabek, S.R., Reineke, W, and Janssen, D.B. 1999. Conversion of 3-chlorocatechol by various catechol 2,3-dioxygenases and sequence analysis of the chlorocatecholdioxygenase region of *Pseudomonas putida* GJ31. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 181: 1309–1318

Masi, F., Bresciani, R., Bracali, M. 2014. A new concept of multistage treatment wetland for winery wastewater treatment: long-term evaluation of performances. In: Vymazal, J. (Ed.),

The Role of Natural and Constructed Wetlands in Nutrient Cycling and Retention on the Landscape. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/</u> 978-3-319-08177-9\_13.

McLeod, M.P., Warren, R.L., Hsiao, W.W., Araki, N., Myhre, M., Fernandes, C., Miyazawa, D., Wong, W., Lillquist, A.L., Wang, D., Dosanjh, M., Hara, H., Petrescu, A., Morin, R.D., Yang, G., Stott, J.M., Schein, J.E., Shin, H., Smailus, D., Siddiqui, A.S., Marra, M.A., Jones, S.J., Holt, R., Brinkman, F.S., Miyauchi, K., Fukuda, M., Davies, J.E., Mohn, W.W. and Eltis, L.D. 2006. The complete genome of *Rhodococcus* sp. RHA1 provides insights into a catabolic powerhouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103: 15582–15587

Matthew, R., Winsom, M. Scullion, J. 2009. Treatment of landfill leachate using passive aeration trickling filter: effects of leachate characteristics and temperature on rates and process dynamics. Science of the Total Environment, 407: 2557-2564.

Melian, J.R. 2010. Hybrid constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment and re use in the Canary Islands. *Ecological Engineering*, 36: 891-899

Metzler, D.E. 1977. Biochemistry: The chemical reactions of living cells. New York: Academic Press

Milas, L, and Scott, M.T. 1978. Antitumor activity of *Corynebacterium parvum*, *Advances in Cancer Research*, 26: 257-306

Mohanty, S.R., Bodelier, P.L.E., Floris, V, and Conrad, R. 2006. Differential effects of nitrogenous fertilizers on methane-consuming microbes in rice field and forest soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72:1346–1354

Morrison, D.A., Morris, E.C. 2000. Pseudoreplication in experimental designs for the manipulation of seed germination treatments. *Austral Ecology*, 25:292-296.

Morse, R., Collins, M.D., O'Hanlon, K., Wallbanks, S, and Richardson, P.T. 1996. Analysis of the β subunit of DNA-dependent RNA polymerase does not support the hypothesis inferred from 16S RNA analysis that *Oenococcus oeni* (formerly *Leuconostoc oenos*) is a tachytelic (fast evolving) bacterium. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 46: 1004-1009

Mosse, K.P.M., Patti, A.F., Christen, E.W., Cavagnaro, T.R. 2011. Review: winery wastewater quality and treatment options in Australia. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research*,17: 111-122

Moussa, M.S., Sumanasekera, D.U., Ibrahim, S.H., Lubberding, H.J., Hooijmans, C.M., Gijzen, H.J. and van Loosdrecht, M.C.M. 2006. Long term effects of salt on activity, population structure and floc characteristics in enriched bacterial cultures of nitrifiers. *Water Research*, 40: 1377–1388.

Mulidzi, A.R. 2007. Winery wastewater treatment by constructed wetlands and the use of treated wastewater for cash crop production. *Water Science and Technology*, 56: 103-109.

Mulidzi, A.R. 2010 Winery and distillery wastewater treatment by constructed wetlands with shorter retention times, *Water Science and Technology*. 61: 2611–2615.

Mummey, D.L, and Stahl, P.D. 2003. Spatial and temporal variability of bacterial 16S rDNAbased T-RFLP patterns derived from soil of two Wyoming grassland ecosystems. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 46:113–120

Muyzer, G., De Waal, E.C, and Uitterlinden, A.G. 1993.Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59: 695-700

Muyzer, G. 1999. Genetic fingerprinting of microbial communities – present status and future perspectives. In: Bell, C.R., Brylinsky, M. and Johnson-Green, P. (eds) Microbial Biosystems: New Frontiers, Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Microbial Ecology, Atlantic Canada Society for Microbial Ecology

Myers, R. M., Fischer, S. G., Lerman, L. S. and Maniatis, T. 1985. Nearly all single base substitutions in DNA fragments joined to a GC-clamp can be detected by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis, *Nucleic Acids Research*, 13: 3131-3145

Nakajima, Y., Kitpreechavanich, V., Suzuki, K.I, and Kudo, T. 1999. *Microbispora corallina* sp. nov., a new species of the genus *Microbispora* isolated from Thai soil. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 49: 1761-1767

Nakatsu, C.H. and Wyndham, R.C.1993. Cloning and expression of the transposable chlorobenzoate-3,4-dioxygenase genes of *Alcaligenes sp.* strain BR60. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59: 3625-3633

Naquet, J.A. Cortis, W, and Stevenson, T. 1868. Principles of Chemistry, founded on modern theories. London, England, Henry Renshaw

*Nocardiopsis* (n.d.) Miller-Keane Encyclopaedia and Dictionary of Medicine, Nursing and Allied Health., Seventh Edition. 2003

Okuta, A., Ohnishi, K, and Harayama, S. 1998. PCR isolation of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene fragments from environmental samples and their assembly into functional genes. *Gene*, 212: 221-228

Pant, D and Adholeya, A. 2007. Biological approaches for treatment of distillery wastewater: A review. *Biorescource Technology*, 98: 2321-2334

Petruccioli, M., Duarte, J.C, and Federici, F. 2000. High rate aerobic treatment of winery wastewater using bioreactors with free and immobilized deactivated sludge. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 90: 381-386

Petruccioli, M., Duarte, J.C., Eusebio, A., Federici, F. 2002. Aerobic treatment of winery wastewater using a jet-loop activated sludge reactor. *Process Biochemistry*;37: 821-9

Poach, M.H. 2003. Improved nitrogen treatment by constructed wetlands receiving partially nitrified liquid swine manure. *Ecological Engineering*, 20: 183-197

Pontes, P.P., De Lemos Chernicharon, C.A. 2011.Characterization and removal of specific organic constituents in a UASB-trickling filter system treating domestic wastewater. Environmental Technology, 32: 281-287.

Prochaska, C.Z. 2007. Performance of pilot-scale vertical-floe constructed wetlands, as affected by season, substrate, hydraulic load and frequency of application of simulated urban sewage. *Ecological Engineering*, 31: 57-66

Quintero, Y., Poblet, M., Guillamón, J.M, and Mas, A. 2009.Quantification of the expression of reference and alcohol dehydrogenase genes of some acetic acid bacteria in different growth conditions. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 106: 666-674

Ramond, J.-B., Welz, P.J., Cowan, D.A., Burton, S.G. 2010. Microbial community structure, a key parameter in monitoring the development and stability of constructed wetland mesocosms. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 115: 91-101

Ramond, J.B., Welz, P.J., Cowan, D.A., Burton, S.G. 2012. Microbial community structure stability, a key parameter in monitoring the development of constructed mesocosms during start up. *Research in Microbiology*, 163: 28-35

Ramond, J.B., Welz, P.J., Tuffin, M.I., Burton, S.G, and Cowan, D.A. 2013. Assessment of temporal and spatial evolution of bacterial communities in a biological sand filter mesocosm treating winery wastewater. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 115: 91-101

Ramsar Convention Secretariat, 2013. The Ramsar Convention Manual: a guide to the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar, Iran, 1971). 6<sup>th</sup> Ed. Ramsar Convention Secretariat, Gland, Switzerland

Ranjard, L., Lejon, D.P.H., Mougel, C., Scheher, L., Merdinoglu, D., and Chaussod, R. 2003. Sampling strategy in molecular microbial ecology: influence of soil sample size on DNA fingerprinting of fungal and bacterial communities. *Environmental Microbiology*, 5: 1111-1120

Rappe, M.S. and Giovannoni, S.J. 2003. The uncultured microbial majority. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 57: 369-394

Reneike, W, and Knackmuss, H.J. 1988. Microbial degradation of haloaromatics. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 42: 395-402

Reysenbach, A.L. and Pace, N.R. 1995. In Archaea: A Laboratory Manual – Thermophiles. Robb, F.T. & Place, A.R (Eds). Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press, New York, pp 101-107

Rochard, J., Ferrier, V.M., Salomon, N. 2002. The application of constructed wetlands in the viticultural sector: experimentation on a winery effluent treatment device. In: Proceedings of

#### 114

the 8th International Conference on Wetland Systems for Water Pollution Control, 16-19 September 2002. IWA Publishing and University of Dar El Salaam, Tanzania, pp. 495-503.

Rodrigues, D.F, and Tiedje, J.M. 2007. Multi-locus real-time PCR for quantitation of bacteria in the environment reveals *Exiguobacterium* to be prevalent in permafrost. *FEMS Microbiology Ecological*. 59: 489-499.

Rodriguez Caballaro, A., Ramond, J.B., Welz, P.J., Cowan, D.A., Odlare, M, and Burton, S.G. 2012. Treatment of high ethanol concentration wastewater in biological sand filters: enhanced COD removal and bacterial community dynamics. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 109: 54-60

Rokhbakhsh-Zamin, F.; Sachdev, D.P.; Kazemi-Pour, N.; Engineer, A.; Zinjarde, S.S.; Dhakephalkar, P.K.; Chopade, B.A. 2012. Characterization of plant growth promoting traits of Acinetobacter species isolated from rhizosphere of *Pennisetum glaucum*. *Journal of Microbiology Biotechnology*, 21: 556–566.

Rösch, C, and Bothe, H. 2004. Improved assessment of denitrifying, N2-fixing, and totalcommunity bacteria by terminal restrictionfragment length polymorphism analysis using multiple restrictionenzymes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71:2026–2035

Ross, P., Mayer, R, and Benziman, M.1991. Cellulose biosynthesis and function in bacteria. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 55: 35-58

Saadi, I., Laor, Y., Raviv, M., Medina, S. 2007. Land spreading of olive mill wastewater: effect on soil microbial activity and potential phytotoxicity. *Chemosphere*, 66: 75-83

Sayler G.S. 1997. Challenges and opportunities in the area of environmental of environmental biotechnology, In: *Biotechnology in the sustainable environment*, Chapter 1: challenges and opportunities in the area of environmental biotechnology, Sayler, G.S., Sanseveriono, J. and Davis, K.L. (eds) pp. 6, Plenum Press, New York

Satyawali, Y, and Balakrishnan, M. 2008. Wastewater treatment in molasses-based alcohol distilleries for COD and color removal: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 86: 481–497.

Science Primer.com. 2015. Copy number calculator for realtime PCR. <u>http://scienceprimer.com/copy-number-calculator-for-realtime-pcr</u>

Sei, K., Asano, K.I., Tateishi, N., Mori, K., Ike, M, and Fujita, M. 1999. Design of PCR primers and gene probes for the generaldetection of bacterial populations capable of degradingaromatic compounds via catechol cleavage pathways. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 88: 542–550

Semple, K., Doick, K., Wick, L and Harms, H. 2007. Microbial interactions with organic contaminants in soil: definitions, processes and measurement. *Environmental Pollution*, 150: 166–176.

Serrano, L., De la Varga, D., Ruiz, I., Soto, M. 2011. Winery wastewater treatment in a hybrid constructed wetland. *Ecological Eng*ineering, 37: 744-753.

Sharkey, F.H., Banat, I.M, and Marchant, R. 2004. Detection and quantification of gene expression in environmental bacteriology. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70: 3795-3806

Sheffield, V.C., Cox, D.R., Lerman, L.S. and Myers, R.M. 1989. Attachmentof a 40-base pair G+C-rich sequence (GC-clamp) to genomic DNA fragmentsby the polymerase chain reaction results in improved detection of single-basechanges, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the UnitedStates of America* 86: 232-236

Shendure, J, and Ji, H. 2008. Next-generation DNA sequencing. *Nature Biotechnology*, 26: 1135–1145.

Shepherd, H.L., Grismer, M.E., Tchobanoglous, G. 2001. Treatment of high-strength winery wastewater using a subsurface-flow constructed wetland. *Water Environment Research*, 394-403.

Sheridan, C.M., 2007. Constructed wetlands for the primary treatment of winery effluent.University of Cape Town Doctoral Thesis

Sheridan, C.M., Glasser, D., Hildebrandt, D., Petersen, J., Rohwer, J. 2011. An annual and seasonal characterization of winery effluent in South Africa. *South African Society for Enology and Viticulture*, 32: 1-8

Sheridan, C.M., Glasser, D., Hildebrandt, D. 2014. Estimating rate constants of contaminant removal in constructed wetlands treating winery effluent: a comparison of three different methods. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 92: 903-916.

Shokralla, S., Spall, J.L., Gibson, J.F. and Hajibabaei, M. 2012. Next generation sequencing technologies for environmental DNA research. *Molecular Ecology*, 21: 1794-1805

Shütte, U.M.E., Abdo, Z., Bent, S.J., Shyu, C., Williams, C.J., Pierson, J.D., and Forney, L.R. 2008. Advances in the use of terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP) analysis of 16S rRNA genes to characterize microbial communities. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 80:365–380

Shyu, C., Soule, T., Bent, S.J., Foster, J.A., Forney, L.J. 2007. MICA: A web-based tool for the analysis of microbial communities based on terminal-restriction fragment length polymorphisms of 16S and 18S rRNA genes. *Journal of Microbial Ecology*, 53: 562-570

Singh, B.K., Munro, S., Reid, E., Ord, B., Potts, J.M., Paterson, E. and Millard, P. 2004. Investigating microbial community structure in soil by physiological, biochemical and molecular fingerprinting methods. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 57: 72-82

Singh, B.K., Nazaries, L., Munro, S., Anderson, I.C. and Campbell, C.D. 2006. Use of multiplex terminal restriction length polymorphism for rapid and simultaneous analysis of

different components of the soil microbial community. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72: 7278-7285

Slinkard, K., Singleton, V.L. 1977. Total phenol analysis: automation and comparison with manual methods. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 28: 49–55.

Smith, C.J. and Osborn, A.M. 2008. Advantages and limitations of quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)-based approaches in microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbial Ecology*. 67: 6-20

South Africa National Water Act 26. 1998. Department of Water Affairs Documents

Stottmeister, U., Wießner, A., Kuschk, P., Kappelmeyer, U., Kästner Bederski, B., Müller, R.A. and Moorman, H. 2003. Effects of plants and microorganisms in constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment. *Biotechnology Advance*, 22: 93–117.

Strong, P.J. and Burgess, J.E. 2008. Treatment methods for wine-related and distillery wastewaters: a review. *Bioremediation Journal*, 12: 70–87.

Sutcliffe, I.C. 2010. A phylum level perspective on bacterial cell envelope architecture. *Trends in Microbiology*, 18: 464-470

Tan, Z., Hurek, T, and Reinhold-Hurek, B. 2003. Effect of N-fertilization, plant genotype and environmental conditions on nifH gene poolsin roots of rice. *Environmental Microbiology*, 5:1009–1015

The non affiliated soil analysis working committee. 1990. *Handbook of standard soil methods for advisory purposes*. Soil Science Society of South Africa, Pretoria.

Tietz, A., Langerbraber, G., Watzinger, A., Haberl, R., Kirschner, A. 2008. Bacterial carbon utilization in vertical subsurface flow constructed wetlands. *Water Research*, 42: 1622-1634

Torrens, A.M. 2009. Impact of design and operation variables on the performance of verticalflow constructed wetlands and intermittent sand filters treating pond effluent. *Water Research*, 43: 1851-1858

Torsvik, V and Ovreas, L. 2002. Microbial diversity and function in soil: from genes to ecosystems. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 5: 240-245

Toscano, A.L. 2009. Modelling pollutant removal in pilot-scale two-stage subsurface flow constructed wetlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 35: 1851-1858

Treadway, S.L., K.S. Yanagimachi, E. Lankenau, P.A. Lessard, G. Stephanopoulos and A.J. Sinskey. 1999. Isolation and characterization of indene bioconversion genes from *Rhodococcus* strain I24. *Applied Microbiology Biotechnology*, 51: 786–793

Truu, M., Johanson, J., and Truu, J., 2009. Microbial biomass, activity and community composition in constructed wetlands. *Science of the Total Environment*,407: 3958-3971

Turenne, C.Y., Sanche, S.E., Hoban, D.J., Karlowsky, J.A., and Kabani, A.M. 1999. Rapid identification of fungi by using the ITS2 genetic region and an automated fluorescent capillary electrophoresis system. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 37: 1846–1851

Vancov, T, and Keen, B. 2009. Amplification of soil fungal community DNA using the ITS86F and ITS4 primers. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 296: 91-96

van der Geize, R. and L. Dijkhuizen. 2004. Harnessing the catabolic diversity of rhodococci for environmental and biotechnological applications *.Microbiology*, 7: 255–261

Van Schoor, L.H. 2004. A prototype ISO 14001 Environmental Management System for wine cellars. PhD dissertation. University of Stellenbosch, South Africa

Vaughan, D., Sparling, G.P., and Ord, B.G. 1983. Amelioration of the phytotoxicity of phenolic acids by some soil microbes. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 15: 613–614.

Voet, D., Voet, J.D. and Pratt, C.W. 2008. *Fundamentals of Biochemistry: 3rd Edition*. Hoboken: Wiley & Sons, Inc.

von der Weid, I., Marques, J.M., Cunha, C.D., Lippi, R.K., Dos Santos, S.C.C., Rosado, A.S, and Lins, U. 2007. Identification and biodegradation potential of a novel strain of *Dietzia cinnamea* isolated from a petroleum-contaminated tropical soil. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 30: 331-339

Vos, M., Quince, C., Pijl, A.S., de Hollander, M, and Kowalchuk, G.A. 2012. A comparison of *rpoB* and 16S rRNA as markers in pyrosequencing studies of bacterial diversity. PlosOne, 7: e30600. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030600

Vrhošek, D., Kukanja, V, and Bulc, T., 1996.Constructed wetlands (CW) for industrial waste water treatment. *Water Research*, 30: 2287-2292

Vymazal, J. 2005. Constructed wetlands for wastewater: editorial. *Ecological Engineering*, 25: 475-477

Vymazal, J. 2007. Removal of nutrients in various types of constructed wetlands. *Science of the Total Environment,* 380: 48-65

Vymazal, J. and Kröpfelova, L. 2009. Removal of organics in constructed wetlands with horizontal sub-surface flow: A review of the field experience. *Science of the Total Environment*, 407: 3911-3922

Ward, D.M., Weller, R, and Bateson, M.M. 1990. 16S rRNA sequences reveal numerous uncultured microorganisms in a natural community. *Nature*, 345: 63-65

Ward, D.M., Ferris; M.J., Nold; S.C., and Bateson, M.M. 1998. A natural view of microbial biodiversity within hot spring cyanobacterial mat communities. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 62: 1353–1370.

Wang, Y., Zhang, Z. and Ruan, J. 1996. A proposal to transfer *Microbispora bispora* (Lechevalier 1965) to anew genus, *Thermobispora* gen. nov., as *Thermobispora bispora* comb. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, 46: 933-938

Weber, K.P., and Legge, R.L., 2011. Dynamics in the bacterial community-level physiological profiles and hydrological characteristics of constructed wetland mesocosms during start-up. *Ecological Engineering*, 37: 666-677

Wells, C.L, and Wilkins, T.D. 1996a.Botulism *and Clostridium botulinum* in: *Baron's Medical Microbiology* (4th edition). University of Texas Medical Branch

Wells, C.L, and Wilkins, T.D. 1996b.Other pathogenic *Clostridia* food poisoning *and Clostridium perfringens* in: *Baron's Medical Microbiology*(4th edition). University of Texas Medical Branch

Welz, P.J. 2010. Water Research Report, Unpublished report

Welz, P.J., Ramond, J.B., Cowan, D.A., Prins, A. and Burton, S.G. 2011. Ethanol degradation and the benefits of incremental priming in pilot-scale constructed wetlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 37: 1453-1459

Welz, P.J., Ramond, J.B., Cowan, D.A., Burton, S.G., Le Roes-Hill, M. 2014. Minor differences in sand physicochemistry lead to major differences in microbial community structure and function after exposure to acid mine drainage, *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 19: 211–2220.

Welz, P.J., Ramond, J.B., Cowan, D.A., Smith, I., Palmer, Z., Haldenwang, R., Burton, S.G., Le Roes-Hill, M. (2015) Treatment of winery wastewater in unplanted constructed wetlands. WRC report no 2104/1/14 ISBN 978-1-4312-0647-6.

Welz, P.J., Palmer, Z., Isaacs, S., Kirby, B., Le Roes-Hill, M. 2014. Analysis of substrate degradation, metabolite formation and microbial community responses in sand bioreactors: a comparative study. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 145:147-156.

Welz, P.J., Holtman, G., Haldenwang, R and Le Roes-Hill, M. 2016. Characterisation of winery wastewater from continuous-flow settling basins and waste stabilisation ponds over the course of one year: implications for biological wastewater and land application. Water Science and Technology, In Press

Weng L., Rubin, E.M, and Bristow, J. 2006. Application of sequence-based methods in human microbial ecology. *Genome Research*, 16:316-322

White, T.J., Bruns, T., Lee, S. and Taylor, J.W. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: Innis, M.A., Gelfand, D.H. Sninsky, J.J and White, T.J. (eds.) PCR Protocols, A Guide to Methods and Applications, pp. 315-322, Academic Press, Inc., New York

White, J.R., Belmont, M.A, and Metcalfe, C.D.2006. Pharmaceutical compounds in wastewater: wetland treatment as a potential solution. *Scientific World Journal*, 6: 1731-1736

Wieser, M., Eberspacher J., Vogler, B, and Lingens, F. 1994. Metabolism of 4-chlorophenol by Azotobacter sp. GP1: structure of the meta cleavage product of 4-chlorocatechol. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 116: 73–78

Williams, P.A, and Sayers, J.R. 1994. The evolution of pathways for aromatic hydrocarbon oxidation is Pseudomonads. Biodegradation, 5: 195-217

Willey, J.M., Sherwood, L.M. and Woolverton, C.J. 2008. Microbiology (7th edition). New York: The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.

Wilhelm, J. and Pingoud, A. 2003.Real-time polymerase chain reaction. ChemBioChem, 4: 1120-1128

Wohl, D.L., Arora, S., and Gladstone, R. 2004. Functional redundancy supports biodiversity and ecosystem function in a closed and constant environment. Ecology, 85: 1534-1540

Wolfe, A.J. 2005. The acetate switch. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Review*, 69:12-48.

Wu, S., Wallace, S., Brix, H., Kuschk, P., Kirui, W.K., Masi, F, and Dong, R. 2015. Treatment of industrial effluents in constructed wetlands: Challenges, operational strategies and overall performance. Environmental Pollution, 401: 107-120

Xia, Z., He, Y., Dai, W., White, S. Boyd, G, and Matthews, F. 1999. Detailed active site configuration of a new crystal form of methanol dehydrogenase from MethylophilusW3A1 at 1.9 A resolution. Biochemistry, 38: 1214-1220.

111

Yagi, J.M., Neuhauser, E.F., Ripp, J.A., Mauro, D.M. and Madsen, E.L. 2010. Subsurface ecosystem resilience: long-term attenuation of subsurface contaminants supports a dynamic microbial community. ISME Journal, 4: 131-143.

WESTERN CAPE

Zaida, B.I.1996. Accelerated biodegradation of high and low concentrations of p-nitrophenol (PNP) by bacterial inoculation in industrial wastewater: the role of inoculum size on acclimation period. Current Microbiology, 33: 292-296

Zhang, X.Z. 2007. Differentiate performance of eight filer media in vertical flow constructed wetlands: Removal of organic matter nitrogen and phosphorus. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin, 16: 1468-1483

Zhang, J., Wei, Y., Xiao, W., Zhou, Z, and Yan, X. 2011. Performance and spatial community succession of an anaerobic baffled reactor treating acetone-butanol-ethanol fermentation wastewater, *Bioresource Technology*, 102: 7407-7414

# APPENDIX A: METABOLITE PROFILES OF BSFs



http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

Figure A.1 and Figure A.2 shows the chemical analysis performed by HPLC of each metabolite profile of the BSFs. This analysis was performed by Dr Pamela Welz, during the course of her PhD candidacy. The total phenolics of each BSF was determined using the Folin-Ciocalteau micro method for total phenolics in wine, based on the method described by Slinkard and Singleton, (1997). Gallic acid monohydrate standards were prepared at the BTB laboratory and the results were expressed as mg/L in gallic acid equivalents (GAE) determined from a standard curve. Individual phenolics, sugars, acids and alcohols in the effluent samples were identified and quantified using reverse phase HPLC (described by Welz et al., 2012).





Figure A.1: The chemical oxygen demand/ metabolite profiles of the sugars, acids and alcohols of pore water samples taken from the superficial inlet (A) deep inlet (B), superficial outlet (C) and the deep outlet (D) of BSF P1 and P2 after the amendment with synthetic winery wastewater over the 31-week study period.





**Figure A.2**: The Ttemporal changes in the average concentration of total phenolics in the superficial (A) and deep (B) niches during amendment with synthetic winery with an influent phenolic concentration of 62.5 mg GAE/L (weeks 26-28), and 250.0 mg GAE/L (weeks 29-31).

# APPENDIX B: THEORETICAL COD CALCULATIONS



125

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

#### 100 mg/ L Vanillin (C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>8</sub>O<sub>3</sub>):

$COD_{t} = \frac{8(4x+y-2z)}{(12x+y+16z)} mg COD/mg C_{x}H_{y}O_{z}$
$COD_t = \frac{8[4(8)+8-2(3)]}{[12(8)+(8)+16(3)]} = \frac{272}{152} = 1.79 \text{ mg COD/ mg}$
100 mg/L X $\frac{1}{1.79 \text{ mg COD/mg}}$ = 55 mg/L
55 mg $\rightarrow$ 1 L
$X \rightarrow 22 L$
X = 1210 mg

X = 1210 mg ÷1000 = 1.21 g vanillin

# 100 mg/L Gallic acid (C7H6O5):



X = 1964.16 ÷ 1000 = 1.96 g gallic acid

# 800 mg/L Glucose (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>6</sub>):

$COD_t = \frac{8(4x+y-2z)}{(12x+y+16z)} mg COI$	D/ mg C <sub>x</sub> H <sub>y</sub> O <sub>z</sub>
$COD_t = \frac{8[4(6)+12-2(6)]}{[12(6)+(12)+16(6)]} =$	$\frac{192}{180}$ = 1.07 mg COD/ mg
100 mg/L X $\frac{1}{1.07 \text{ mg COD/mg}}$ =	· 747.66 mg/L
747.66 mg $\rightarrow$ 1 L	
$X \rightarrow 22 L$	
X = 16448.52 mg	

 $X = 16448.52 \text{ mg} \div 1000 = 16.45 \text{ g}$  glucose

### 1000 mg/L Ethanol (C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>O):



$$v = \frac{m}{\rho} = \frac{10.44 \, g}{0.790 \, g/ml} = 13.22 \, \text{ml}$$
 ethanol

127
## APPENDIX C: AMPLICATION AND MELTING CURVES

STANDARD CURVE AND qPCR Cp VALUES AND COPY NUMBERS FOR C230 GENE



128

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/





**Figure C.1:** Melting curve analysis (A) and Amplification curves (B) of CZA14<sup>T</sup>gDNA, synthesised cDNA samples with the catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene using real time qPCR of the samples taken at the start of the experiment (baseline).



**Figure C.2:** Standard curve of CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA at different concentrations using the online calculator (copy number calculator for real time PCR – Science Primer, 2015) for the C23O gene.



Baseline Sample	Cp number concentration	Copy numbers
CZA14 <sup>⊤</sup> 10 ng	27.64	
CZA14 <sup>⊤</sup> 50 ng	27.47	
CZA14 <sup>⊤</sup> 100 ng	27.61	
P1 and P2 Sup In 10 ng	27.64	11.40
P1 and P2 Sup In 50 ng	INTVER27.56 V of the	11.36
P1 and P2 Sup In 100 ng	27.58	11.37
P1 and P2 Deep In 10 ng	WESTEL27.53 CAPE	11.34
P1 and P2 Deep In 50 ng	27.60	11.38
P1 and P2 Deep In 100 ng	27.72	11.44
P1 and P2 Sup Out 10 ng	27.97	11.56
P1 and P2 Sup Out 50 ng	27.94	11.55
P1 and P2 Sup Out 100 ng	27.87	11.51
P1 and P2 Deep Out 10 ng	27.53	11.34
P1 and P2 Deep Out 50 ng	27.30	11.23
P1 and P2 Deep Out 100 ng	27.90	11.53
PC Sup In 10 ng	28.01	11.58
PC Sup In 50 ng	28.02	11.59
PC Sup In 100 ng	27.82	11.49
PC Deep In 10 ng	27.86	11.51
PC Deep In 50 ng	27.86	11.51
PC Deep In 100 ng	27.91	11.53
PC Sup Out 10 ng	27.92	11.54
PC Sup Out 50 ng	27.77	11.46
PC Sup Out 100 ng	28.03	11.59
PC Deep Out 10 ng	27.99	11.57
PC Deep Out 50 ng	27.27	11.21
PC Deep Out 100 ng	27.74	11.45
After amendment samples		
CZA14 <sup>⊤</sup> 10 ng	25.78	

Table C.1: Copy numbers of the C23O genes at the start and end of the experiment

CZA14 <sup>T</sup> 50 ng	26.31	
CZA14 <sup>⊤</sup> 100 ng	28.03	
P1 Sup In 10 ng	27.68	11.43
P1 Sup In 50 ng	28.80	11.98
P1 Sup In 100 ng	29.10	12.13
P1 Deep In 10 ng	27.43	11.29
P1 Deep In 50 ng	26.70	10.92
P1 Deep In 100 ng	26.56	10.85
P1 Sup Out 10 ng	36.38	15.80
P1 Sup Out 50 ng	33.99	14.60
P1 Sup Out 100 ng	30.92	13.05
P1 Deep Out 10 ng	30.95	13.06
P1 Deep Out 50 ng	32.24	13.71
P1 Deep Out 100 ng	36.72	15.97
P2 Sup In 10 ng	29.29	12.23
P2 Sup In 50 ng	26.99	11.07
P2 Sup In 100 ng	28.56	11.86
P2 Deep In 10 ng	39.56	17.40
P2 Deep In 50 ng	37.73	16.48
P2 Deep In 100 ng	37.08	16.15
P2 Sup Out 10 ng	30.78	12.98
P2 Sup Out 50 ng	34.90	15.05
P2 Sup Out 100 ng	33.42	14.31
P2 Deep Out 10 ng	30.40	12.79
P2 Deep Out 50 ng	31.66	13.42
P2 Deep Out 100 ng	32.72	13.96
PC Sup In 10 ng	31.39	13.29
PC Sup In 50 ng	31.46	13.32
PC Sup In 100 ng	31.40	13.29
PC Deep In 10 ng	32.13	13.66
PC Deep In 50 ng	33.02	14.11
PC Deep In 100 ng	33.23	14.21
PC Sup Out 10 ng	INTUED 37.41 Value	16.32
PC Sup Out 50 ng	38.12 1 0 me	16.68
PC Sup Out 100 ng	38.28	16.76
PC Deep Out 10 ng	37.07 CALE	16.15
PC Deep Out 50 ng	37.41	16.32
PC Deep Out 100 ng	38.12	16.68

## APPENDIX D: STANDARD CURVE FOR rpoB GENE



132

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/



**Figure D.1:** Standard curve of CZA14<sup>T</sup> gDNA at different concentrations using the online calculator (copy number calculator for real time PCR – Science Primer, 2015) for the *rpoB* gene.

